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“We passionately execute and monitor each of our strategic initiatives.”

“Our comprehensive suite of claims management solutions is unmatched.”

“Clients know we will accomplish what we set out to do.”

the Crawford Difference
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For the years ended December 31,		  2008		  2007	 % Change

dollars in millions, except per share amounts

Revenues before Reimbursements		 $1,048.6 		  $975.1		  8%

Net Income	 	 $32.3 		  $16.1 		 100%

Cash Provided by Operating Activities	 	 $71.0 		  $23.3 		 205%

Earnings Per Share – Basic	 	 $0.64 		  $0.32 		 100%

Earnings Per Share – Diluted	 	 $0.62 		  $0.32 		  94%

Return on Average Shareholders’ Investment		  15.0%		  6.9%		 8.1%

Financial Highlights

Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company (www.crawfordandcompany.com) is the world’s largest 
independent provider of claims management and related solutions to the risk management and insurance 
industry as well as self-insured entities, with a global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries. 
Major service lines include property and casualty claims management; warranty inspections; integrated 
claims and medical management for workers’ compensation; legal settlement administration, including 
class action and bankruptcy claims administration; and risk management information services. The  
Company’s shares are traded on the NYSE under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.
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on the cover, left to right:

Tran Thi Phuong Binh, Director, Property Division, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Simon Neil-Jones, U.K. Manager, repairNet, Croydon, England

Shandarese Garr, Vice President/Managing Director – Strategic Initiatives, Melville, New York

Michael Behan, Director, Business Development, Willis, Texas

Jaqueline Roy, Vice President, Administration, Toronto, Ontario

Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Inquiries
Individuals seeking financial  
data should contact: 

Investor Relations  
W. Bruce Swain, Jr.  
Chief Financial Officer 
404.300.1051

Form 10-K
A copy of the Company’s annual report 
on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission is available 
without charge upon request to:

Corporate Secretary 
Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1021

Our Form 10-K is also available  
online at either www.sec.gov or 
in the Investor Relations section  
at www.crawfordandcompany.com

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of shareholders will 
be held at 2:00 p.m. on May 5, 2009, at 
the corporate headquarters of

Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services, LLC 
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3078 
1.800.568.3476

	 Years Ending December 31,

Company/Index (in dollars) 	 2003	 2004	 2005	 2006	 2007	 2008

Crawford & Company (Class B)	 100.00	 110.99	 88.15	 114.91	 65.32	 228.87

S&P 500 Index	 100.00	 110.88	 116.33	 134.70	 142.10	 89.53

S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index	 100.00	 110.42	 127.11	 143.47	 123.44	 87.13

This total shareholders’ return model assumes reinvested dividends and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2002.  
We caution you not to draw any conclusions from the data in this performance graph, as past results do not necessarily indicate  
future performance.

The foregoing graph is not, and shall not be deemed to be, filed as part of the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K. Such a graph does not 
constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities 
Act of 1933, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference therein by the Company. 

Comparison of Cumulative 
Five-Year Total Return
The adjacent line graph compares the 
cumulative return on the Company’s Class B 
Common Stock against the cumulative 
total return on (i) the Standard & Poor’s 
Composite 500 Stock Index and (ii) the 
Standard & Poor’s Insurance – Property & 
Casualty Index for the five-year period 
commencing January 1, 2003 and ended 
December 31, 2008.
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Trading Information
Crawford & Company lists its common 
shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.

Internet Address
www.crawfordandcompany.com

Certifications
In 2008, Crawford & Company’s chief 
executive officer (CEO) provided to the 
New York Stock Exchange the annual 
CEO certification regarding Crawford’s 
compliance with the New York Stock 
Exchange’s corporate governance listing 
standards. In addition, Crawford’s CEO 
and chief financial officer filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
all required certifications regarding the 
quality of Crawford’s public disclosures 
in its fiscal 2008 reports.



The Excellence Bell is rung to mark Company 
achievements. It is a symbol for our offices 

around the world and highlights our successes 
through the year. Find the bell to learn more.

At Crawford & Company, we have a common 
understanding of the strategy and direction 

of our corporation as we focus on driving solid business 

performance while building our long-term growth potential.  

The Crawford Difference sets us apart and can be seen around the world. It lives in our 

expansive global footprint; our innovative technological solutions; our new service delivery 

model; the expertise of our employees; and our razor-sharp focus on consistently delivering 

industry-leading results to our clients. It is the result of more than 9,000 employees working together every day  

and in every way to build, the Crawford Difference. 
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working together: the Crawford Difference

TORONTO, ONtario

SEATTLE, WAshington

➡

➡
CORTNEY YOUNG
PROJECT MANAGER

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

DALLAS, TeXas
➡

MATT WILKINSON
MANAGING DIRECTOR 

U.S. Property &  

Casualty Services

JEFF HELLMAN
EXECUTIVE  

GENERAL ADJUSTER

U.S. Property  

& Casualty Services

london, england
➡

michelle lucas
client accounts manager

International operations

Maintaining Our Global Footprint

sÃo paulo, Brazil ➡

➡

Jacksonville, FLorida
Larry thomas
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

U.S. Property & Casualty Services

“�Crawford’s System of Claims Solutions 
combines the expertise of professionals 
networking with various industry 
experts through innovative technology 
to provide a powerful solution that 
makes a difference on a local, regional, 
and global basis.”Carlos Henrique pinto

country manager

International operations

“�We from Crawford Brazil have 
been experiencing the Strength 
of Working Together. Besides 
our own resources, we have 
received plenty of support 
from our global network. This  
is what, really, makes the 
Crawford difference!”

➡
johannesburg, south africa
terry ward
Chairman/Senior Adjuster, Mining

International Operations

“�By ‘Working Together,’ the members 
of our Large and Complex Claim 
Team add great value to our service 
offering to clients.”

As the world gets smaller and our clients continue to expand, 
their decision on a third-party claims service provider will be 
made based on people and talent, technical capabilities, and 
extensive local market knowledge. These are all Crawford 
strengths and areas in which we excel. 

To succeed, Crawford has developed a wide portfolio of 
products and services, which allows us to support our clients 
both at a tactical and a strategic level. One example is Global 
Technical Services (GTS), where Crawford handles many of the 
largest insurance claims around the world day in and day out. 
With many of the Fortune 1000 as current Crawford clients, 
any headline-grabbing fire, flood, or catastrophe around the 

world will probably involve our people in an important way. 
No other claims solution company has the bench strength 
to respond to such high-profile incidents as Crawford. The 
reputation of our GTS teams is quite literally world-leading 
based on their qualifications and expertise.

In addition to depth of talent, clients want suppliers who 
work at a strategic level and mitigate risk in increasingly 
regulated global economies, which supports a shift towards 
strategic partnerships with global corporations. This, in turn, 
feeds a growing global appetite for data, which has been 
an emphasis at Crawford through our increased investment 
in technology. 

2 crawford & company



hong kong, china

➡

david woo
director

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

➡

Antwerp, Belgium
NIEls de Kock
Client services director

International Operations

“�The Crawford Difference is 
achieving client satisfaction 
by working together across 
borders to deliver innovative 
high-quality claims services.”

➡Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
PhilLip Fong
director, global markets –  

asia pacific

international operations

“�Amongst our strengths, is our  
associates working closely together 
in the true Crawford spirit.” ➡Victoria, australia

Elizabeth west
catastrophe manager, Australia

international operations

Early in 2008, we implemented a new global management 
team with a dynamic blend of experience together with a 
commitment to a fresh and energetic management approach. 
We also created a Global Markets group, which coordinates 
the cross-business unit selling proposition for Crawford, 
Broadspire, and The Garden City Group, leading brands in 
their industries. Our ability to develop a global claims solution 
organization within the claims, Third-Party Administration (TPA), 
or class action process is an evolutionary differentiator for us.

Currently we have more  
than 700 locations in 63 countries.  

Our global footprint touches 
six continents.

32008 annual report



working together: the Crawford Difference

Improving Efficiency with Technology
While service is our business, information is the product 
we provide to our clients. The depth and analysis of data 
is crucial to reducing our clients’ cost of risk and increasing 
their productivity. At Crawford, our global Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) leadership is realizing global 
economies of scale from cost savings through retiring legacy 
systems and implementing new, innovative, and uncompli-
cated solutions. 

In 2008, we completed the initial phase of Crawford’s Global 
Technology Strategy, paving the way for future enhancements 
to the products and services we offer our customers. We are 
guided by a global governance process that aligns goals and 
prioritizes IT projects across regional and country operations.

In our Broadspire business, we have invested heavily in 
the claim system area with systems like eTriage®, an online 
decision support tool that assists in disability evaluations, 
and a consolidated medical bill review system, PowerTrak.

In November, we began the implementation of RiskTechTM, 
our new proprietary casualty claims system that improves 
business efficiency and functionality while providing our clients 
with better workflow automation and the ability to capture 
client-specific data while exchanging information between 
reporting systems.

We are realizing process improvements and operational 
efficiencies from the rollout of our global property and casualty 
claims management system, CMS2, to about 3,000 internal 

RiskTech offers a number of benefits to clients including improved 
workflow automation and increased adjuster efficiencies. RiskTech s 
flexibility provides users the ability to capture client-specific data 
and exchange information between intake, claim, billing, and client 
reporting systems. It is adaptable and configurable to meet the 
specific needs of our clients. 

RISKTECh TEAM
➡

Dipti Bajaj, Project Manager, Lake Zurich, IL

Thomas Weber, Asst. Service Manager/Claim Business Lead,  
Lake Zurich, IL

Carrie Funk, Senior Business Analyst, Lake Zurich, IL

Tara Webb, Administrative Supervisor, Atlanta, GA

Mary Ann Shaw, Project Manager, Atlanta, GA

Mary Ann Severinson, Senior Business Analyst, Atlanta, GA

Joy Goolsby, Product Analyst, Technology, Atlanta, GA

Steve Fox, Senior Program Director, U.S. Property & Casualty, 
Atlanta, GA

Developed by Crawford’s Canadian employees, CMS2 
is our global property and casualty claims management 
system that streamlines process improvements and 
produces operational efficiencies.

cms2 TEAM (U.S. property & casualty)

➡

4 crawford & company



users across the U.S. We have integrated Xactware – an industry-
leading property estimating solution – into CMS2 as well as 
Salesforce.com, our customer relationship manager.

In the U.K., Holland, and Australia, Delta, our new mobile applica-
tion comprised of hand-held tablet computers with sophisticated 
software and databases, is used on-site to significantly speed 
up the claims process.

In 2008, we created a command center for our U.S. Property & 
Casualty segment that will greatly enhance the way business is 
handled, and we also began development of a global intranet 
that will provide communications connectivity and shared tools 
to increase employee engagement and productivity.

In 2008, improvements 
in technology enabled the 

U.S. Catastrophe Services unit 
to complete almost all claims 
relating to hurricanes in the 
United States by year-end.

DELTA TEAM
➡

Rachel Goh, Test and Implementation Manager, London, England

Alan Morris, Business Systems Analyst, London, England

Delta is a unique, flexible, and powerful mobile application 
capable of supporting any type of claim field visit. Delta’s 
architecture is fully modular and supports modules covering 
many aspects of property claims including data capture, health 
and safety, supply chain instructions from site, and production 
of estimates using a graphical drawing interface.

Paul Brandon, U.K. Software Development Manager,  
London, England

Sam Friend, EMEA IT Director, London, England

 Compass is technology for optimizing the future appointments 
for visits for an adjusting field force. Compass understands 
the diaries, skills, workload, and travel times of adjusters and 
is able to provide the operator making an appointment with 
accurate achievable appointment options while maximizing 
the number of appointments possible in a day. Compass is 
currently being enhanced to allow clients to use the tool to 
book Crawford adjusters during the first notification of loss.

Compass ➡

The Performance Dashboard is an enterprise dashboard solution 
with maps, charts, and reports that allows for monitoring 
performance throughout Crawford. The initial phase is targeted 
to U.S. Property & Casualty operations specifically leveraging 
the CMS2 claims application. 

Performance Dashboard➡

JoSEPH Brosnan, Senior Architect, Atlanta, GA

Narayan Rajan, Lead Software Engineer, Atlanta, GA

52008 annual report



working together: the Crawford Difference

Providing World-Class Claims Solutions
As an outcome of our strategic planning process, the decision 
was made to organize our services based on our client 
engagements. We have revised our service model, which 
brings the Crawford experience and expertise to every client 
in exactly the ideal configuration for their business needs. 

In 2009, we expect to launch The Crawford System of Claims 
Solutions. The System was designed to dramatize our competi-
tive advantage, reinforce our industry leadership, and clarify 
our portfolio of businesses. 

Over the past year, we have focused intently on being the 
pre-eminent global resource for claims management. Crawford 
has strategic assets in every aspect of claims management, and 
we are committed to delivering the ideal suite of solutions to 
each client. To that end, we have organized our service offering 
into three primary areas: Claim Services, Business Process 
Outsourcing (BPO), and Consultation. 

• �We are an acknowledged leader in claims administration. 
Claim Services delivers every type of task and tactical claims 
solution, from accident and health to large-scale complex 
property and liability losses. 

• �Crawford offers the most comprehensive outsource solution 
in the industry. We can deliver Business Process Outsourcing 
solutions for all aspects of claims management from man-
aged property repair to healthcare management to legal 
settlement. Over the past two decades companies have 
experienced the effectiveness of outsourcing key service 
functions such as IT and purchasing. Crawford’s BPO 
leverages the recent investment we’ve made in technology, 
creating performance centers to bring clients a seamless, 
end-to-end claims solution.

• �With the intensity and pace of change in the insurance 
industry, the need for experience and intellectual capital to 
assess and analyze the claims function is more necessary 
than ever. Clients can engage Crawford on a Consulting basis 
to provide high-level analysis and value-added insights. 

Brit Insurance Holdings PLC chose Crawford & Company to 
partner with them as part of Brit Insurance’s Global Claims hubs 
initiative. The companies will be working together in claims hubs 
outside the U.K., including a new U.S. hub, located in Atlanta.

These new hubs provide a comprehensive suite of local claims services to brokers,  

policyholders, and customers. Services, which can be tailored to different accounts,  

include claims notification, desktop handling, and loss adjusting services.  

Brit Insurance and Crawford employees will be present in the claims hubs 

to assist in the management and ensure that key decisions can  

be made quickly and effectively, ultimately resulting in a better  

experience for our clients and their claimants.
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THE CRAWFORD SYSTEM OF CLAIMS SOLUTIONS
is a comprehensive global, integrated solution for all  

corporate, insurer, and re-insurer claims administration.

THE
CRAWFORD 
SYSTEM OF

CLAIMs
SOLUTIONS

•

72008 annual report

CLAIM SERVICES

ACCIDENT & HEALTH
FINANCIAL RISK
LIABILITY
MARINE & AVIATION
MOTOR/AUTO
PROPERTY
RECOVERY
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION/  
	E MPLOYERS’ LIABILITY

ABSENCE MANAGEMENT
AUDIT
COUNTER FRAUD SERVICES
DATA SERVICES
EDUCATIONAL SERVICES
GLOBAL PROGRAMS
PRE- & POST-LOSS SERVICES

CONSULTATION

CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION
MEDICAL MANAGEMENT
LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION
THIRD-PARTY ADMINISTRATION
MANAGED PROPERTY REPAIR
PRODUCT WARRANTY

BUSINESS PROCESS OUTSOURCING



working together: the Crawford Difference

Driving Industry Leadership
Crawford Educational Services is the only independent provider  
of a full range of training and educational services for the loss- 
adjusting industry. Our unique National Training Center opened 
in mid-2007 in Crawford’s Atlanta headquarters. Enrollment and 
volumes grew substantially in 2008 as we educated more than 
400 students in a classroom setting and provided more than 
2,300 continuing education and career path programs remotely 
from our U.S.-based training center. In addition, more than 
2,000 students were trained in our other training centers in 
Canada, the United Kingdom, and our Asia-Pacific region.

Crawford has expanded its already extensive range of training and 
educational services for the loss adjusting industry into a new 

online learning management system called KMC On Demandsm. 
KMC On Demand is a unique platform that marries cutting-edge 
knowledge management technology with customized insurance 
courses, performance support information, and an Adjuster’s 
Desk with online forms and other tools to help adjusters provide 
high-quality claims administration. Increased knowledge, efficiency, 
improved competency levels, faster learning, and cost savings for 
participants are among the many benefits of KMC On Demand.

Our Expert Forum allows adjusters within an organization to 
submit questions online and stores an organization’s specific 
questions and answers in a database for online searching. KMC 
On Demand includes a custom learning management system that 

Colm Keenan
Vice President, Knowledge Management

Madison, Wisconsin

Crawford & Company

Peter Shaw
Director, International Property

Nottingham, England

international operations

AWARD:
Received the British Insurance Times 
Award in the Major Loss category for 
claims handled during the summer 
floods in the U.K.

8 crawford & company



offers courses adjusters are required to complete and a content 
editor that enables clients to customize any of the 150 auto, 
liability, property, casualty, transportation, earthquake, and 
workers’ compensation modules to meet their specific needs.

In addition, many of our employees have been asked to 
either speak or participate in panels to discuss topics that are 
shaping and redefining our industries. Coupled with thought 
leadership initiatives, such as white paper development, 
Crawford associates are truly leaders in their industries.

Crawford & Company U.K. won the 
‘Training Program of the Year’ category  
at the Insurance Times 2008 Awards  

for a unique career development  
program called the Crawford Masters  

of Business Administration. 

Dr. Jake Lazarovic
Senior Vice President,  

Chief Medical Officer

Plantation, Florida

broadspire

David Marshall
Branch Manager

Sault St. Marie, Ontario, Canada

international operations

Christine Millar
U.K. People Development Manager

Birmingham, England 

international operations

AWARD:
Won the Insurance Times Award  
for the Training Program of the  
Year for the unique Crawford MBA  
program for our Emerging Leaders 
and Training Specialists.
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working together: the Crawford Difference

Supporting Brand and Reputation  
Through Industry-Leading Quality
Crawford & Company understands that when we adjudicate 
a claim, our clients expect quality on all levels. Crawford’s 
Quality Program is designed to ensure that we meet the 
highest standards of claims adjudication and reporting in 
every branch. By monitoring and actively promoting the 
application of our clients’ and our own standards, we empower 
Crawford claims professionals to produce consistent industry-
leading results.

Each claim we adjust is backed up by thorough, proactive 
investigation that promotes loss control. Our reports use 
consistent terminology, have uniform organization and 
appearance, and include all of the vital information about 
the claim. The result is a quality product that makes a 
positive impact on the claim’s indemnity costs.

Industry-leading service takes commitment, planning and 
execution, and accountability. Crawford’s corporate structure 
is designed to promote quality in multiple, self-reinforcing 

ROBERT CORMICAN
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT  

COMPLIANCE QUALITY  

AND TRAINING

“�I firmly believe that consistent 
quality is one of our key differ-
entiators in the market place.”

10 crawford & company



JAMES CAMPBELL
director – Quality Program

“�Our team is comprised of 
leading industry professionals 
who take pride in partnering 
with the business unit to drive 
consistent quality.”

ways but primarily quality is a priority that filters through 
our entire organization. The three groups that make up our 
quality organization – Compliance, Quality, and Training – 
maintain distinct responsibilities, and also work collaboratively 
to share information and help each other set priorities (for 
example, the issues identified by Compliance help the Quality 
department define what is measured to remain compliant). 
Through investments in our training program, Crawford 
Educational Services, we have demonstrated our commitment 

to being the industry leader in the training of claims profes-
sionals. Within Crawford, our emphasis on training is yielding 
positive results in improved consistency and technical skills. 

By implementing a comprehensive quality-assurance program, 
we are raising quality scores as we create a virtual cycle of 
education and reinforcement of quality initiatives.

112008 annual report



Dear Shareholder,
Amidst the current financial turmoil affecting most companies 
globally and particularly the financial industry, insurance remains 
a vital part of business activity, in essence a part of the DNA 
of global commerce. Over the past year, Crawford & Company 
has demonstrated that providing an independent, quality-driven, 
local, regional, and global claims service is crucial to our clients’ 
business proposition.

Crawford is focused on driving solid business performance while 
building future growth potential. Over the longer term, and par-
ticularly in view of what we believe will be a challenging insurance 
market in fiscal 2009, we are hard at work on improving and 
increasing our corporate marketing and selling efforts across all 
of our business segments to emphasize key account management.

The Crawford Way, our strategic plan that stresses the strength 
of working together, continues to help Crawford’s employees derive 
a common understanding of the strategy and direction of our 
corporation based on Crawford’s vision, mission, and values. Our 
global executive management team is demonstrating the ability 
to adapt quickly to rapidly changing market conditions both 
locally and globally.

Crawford has continued to build leading brands, including 
Broadspire and The Garden City Group (GCG). Crawford has rebuilt 
the foundation of its historic success – Crawford quality. While 
dealing with extremely challenging industry conditions driven 
by low claims rates in the U.S., Crawford has steadily grown 
revenues. A year ago, we said that our focus in 2008 would be 
on bringing margins and profitability into line with those revenue 
opportunities. We believe the financial results of the year bear 
out the initial success of these efforts.

2008 Financial Results

Throughout the year and despite the global economic situation, 
we continued to work hard to execute the plans outlined at the 
beginning of the year. Our management team and our global 
employees produced significant positive operational results in 2008. 

For the full year, Crawford & Company surpassed the billion dollar 
revenue mark (before reimbursements) for the first time in its 
history, with revenue growth of 8 percent. Earnings per share of 
62 cents for the year reflected a 100 percent increase in net income 
to $32.3 million, which is equal to our strongest performance 
since 1999. 

An overview of Crawford’s business segments results in 2008 
shows consistently improved performance. Operating margins 
improved across all segments, with strong top line growth in 
International Operations and U.S. Property & Casualty results 
over the prior year. But the past year was about more than sales 
and earnings. It was about delivering on a strategy to improve 
our balance sheet and cash flow through working capital manage-
ment and debt reduction. An improvement of $48 million in our 
operating cash flow demonstrated progress on that goal.

In the latter half of the year, we benefitted from increased 
catastrophe-related revenue tied to three storms in the U.S., 
hurricanes Dolly, Gustav, and Ike. It is important to note that 
our improved technology systems assisted us in processing by 
year-end almost all of the claims resulting from these hurricanes.

Observers also noticed Crawford’s improved operating performance 
as the Class B shares were listed in The Wall Street Journal as the 
#2 Biggest Stock Gainer for Small and Midcap Stocks for all Public 
Companies in 2008.

In November, our Company celebrated its 40th year as a publicly 
traded business, by ringing the Closing Bell® at the New York 
Stock Exchange. All Crawford employees are the beneficiaries of 
a great business history and tradition. I’m proud to be a part of 
that legacy. 

All of these accomplishments would not be possible without the 
hard work, dedication, and determination of our employees around 
the world. Our teams were focused on several key areas and I am 
extremely appreciative and thankful for all of their extra efforts.

Looking forward, we have seen the greatest impact of the 
recent global economic downturn in our U.S. and U.K. businesses 
with less initial impact in our Canadian and overseas markets. 
Globally, the economic downturn has placed many corporations 

jeffrey t. bowman 
President and Chief Executive Officer
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in a challenging financial position. This results in a greater need 
for us to manage accounts receivable and customer creditworthi-
ness very closely. In our Broadspire segment, a significant portion 
of the Third-Party Administration (TPA) business is tied to 
workers’ compensation claims administration, which, in turn, 
is tied to U.S. employment levels, which have taken a steep 
downturn. This is being monitored closely.

We expect to see continued progress by our four segments in 
the coming year, driven by modest revenue growth and improved 
leverage of volume gains against fixed expenses. Our expecta-
tions for 2009 also reflect two very significant items resulting 
from the current world economy. First, at current exchange rate 
levels, the strengthening of the dollar will likely negatively affect 
our international revenue in 2009 as compared to 2008. Second, 
the negative performance of the financial markets has had an 
effect on the assets of our defined benefit pension plans in the 
U.S. and U.K., which will increase our pension expense in the 
coming year. The expected impact of these two items is more 
than the organic growth and earnings gains we expect from 
our operations in 2009. 

Nonetheless, we are gaining momentum with our strategy for 
growth. Our goal always is to drive our operations to deliver 
quality to our clients by investing in training and maintaining 
very strong client relationships at all levels. This objective as 
outlined in our strategic plan positions Crawford & Company as 
a target-driven corporation that achieves its financial and quality 
goals and meets its commitments to our clients, employees, 
and shareholders. 

I continue to be positive that, beyond the current economic 
environment, insurance is a global business. To be successful 
in this environment means building on strong client relationships 
by providing an independent, local, regional, or global claims 
service that can deliver both quality and innovative, value-added 
services to the loss adjusting and claims management processes. 
In short, it is a simpler, faster, more efficient process to assist 
our clients as we are committed to winning new accounts and, 
importantly, retaining the accounts we currently serve.

Let me conclude by stating that our global executive manage- 
ment team will continue to build on these operational 
improvements as we move through 2009. Our priorities will 
remain twofold: one, a disciplined approach to expense manage-
ment and working capital to help navigate these difficult economic 
times, and two, focusing on improving operational efficiency and 
delivering excellent results to our clients. We trust our shareholders 
are pleased with our progress in 2008 and we look forward to 
successfully managing the challenges we face in 2009.

Sincerely,

Jeffrey T. Bowman 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Retiring Directors

On behalf of our entire organization, I would like to 

thank Larry L. Prince and Robert T. Johnson, who have 

chosen not to stand for re-election, for their 22 and five 

years of service, respectively, on our Board of Directors. 

Your guidance and friendship will be missed.

Welcome Charles H. Ogburn 

Charles H. Ogburn, an executive director at international 

investment firm Arcapita Inc., has been elected to our 

Board of Directors. Arcapita is a leading international 

investment firm with locations in Bahrain, London, 

Singapore, and Atlanta. With his background in interna-

tional business, his expertise and perspective will be 

invaluable as we continue to expand our services 

around the world. 

“�Observers also noticed Crawford’s improved operating performance as the 
Class B shares were listed in The Wall Street Journal as the #2 Biggest Stock 
Gainer for Small and Midcap Stocks for all Public Companies in 2008.”
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FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: 

a., b. London, England
c. São Paulo, Brazil
d. Stockport, England

a.

Crawford & Company  
offers global coverage and  
capability through a single 

point of contact.

As multinational insurance companies expand in the European, 
Asia-Pacific, and Latin American markets, Crawford is increasing  
its role as the leading international services provider, offering 
claims administration services and solutions globally, regionally, 
and on the local level.

international operations: 

International Operations has been a growth driver for Crawford for 
the past four years and had another record year in 2008 both by 
growing its client base and developing its global service offering. 
For 2008, International Operations represented 42 percent of 
the Company’s total revenue (before reimbursements), compared 
to 39 percent in the previous year. While Crawford remains 
the global leader, with overall market share of approximately 
20 percent, there are still significant growth opportunities both 
in mature and emerging markets around the world. 

In order to be a winner in this environment, you need the best 
of both worlds – the capability to service clients in both local 
markets and multinational markets. Crawford is number one or 

two in the markets we serve – that’s local strength. We have 
great opportunities to grow Crawford’s international market 
share by expanding with existing large clients and, in a chal-
lenging global economy, by winning additional business on 
the regional level – that’s global strength.

It’s the existing relationships that Crawford has at all levels – 
local and global clients across both mature and emerging 
markets – that provide the foundation for continued growth. 
Going forward, our priority focus is on large strategic clients 
where significant opportunity exists to further expand global 
relationships and offer additional products and services to 
our existing client base.
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working together:  With more than 600 locations across 62 countries 
outside the U.S., Crawford is 50 percent larger with more 
capabilities than our nearest global property and casualty 
competitor in coverage of key regional markets.

General Insurance Volume  
Markets
➡	P roperty
➡	� Casualty
	� – Public Liability
	� – Employers’ Liability
➡	�P rofessional Indemnity
➡	�P roduct Recall
➡	� Catastrophe Response

Global Technical Services
➡	M ajor/complex property losses
➡	� Agriculture & Food
➡	�B anking & Finance
➡	�B usiness Interruption
➡	� Construction & Builders Risk
➡	�E ngineering
➡	�M arine & Transportation
➡	�M edia & Entertainment
➡	�M ining
➡	�P ower & Energy
➡	�P harmaceutical

➡	�R etail
➡	�S pecialty Line
➡	�T echnology
➡	�IT  & Telecommunications
Specialty Markets
➡	� Counter Fraud Solutions
➡	�L loyd’s & London Market
➡	�S upply Chain Management
➡	�M anaged Repair Networks
➡	�P rocurement Services
➡	� Catastrophe Services
➡	� Corporate Market

Third-Party Administration
➡	�M otor
➡	�H ealthcare
➡	�T ravel
➡	�W arranty
➡	� Claims Management Services

international operations services:

Number of Cases Received
in thousands
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d.c.b.
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working together:  Broadspire Management Services, Inc. is one of the  
largest third-party administrators serving the commercial property 
and casualty market in the United States. Over two-thirds of  
revenue comes from workers’ compensation claim services.

Today’s Broadspire was formed when Crawford & Company 
purchased Broadspire in October 2006 and merged it with 
Crawford Integrated Services. 

Two things make us different from all the rest – service breadth 
and people. Broadspire directly provides all of the key services 
our customers are looking for in a workers’ compensation (WC) 
claims administrator. Recognizing that the number one issue in 
WC today is rising medical costs and the related complexity of 
disability cases, we are able to offer a fully-integrated solution, 
whereas our competitors usually turn to outside vendors. The 
drivers behind this change have been the required investments 
in technology and compliance requirements that carriers, 
states, and the federal government have put in place. 

Broadspire has an approximately 10 percent share of the 
overall third-party administrator (TPA) market. The market has 
consolidated over the last decade from around 1,400 TPAs to 
approximately 400 today. 

Broadspire is a service provider with deep relationships 
with our customers that span many years and this allows us 
to maintain a 90 percent retention rate through some very 
difficult times in the insurance industry. When we survey our 
customers to ask them why they stay with us, they tell us it is 
because of the talent and experience of our staff – they trust 
our people to handle their claims.

In 2008, we continued to see a healthy flow of new business 
opportunities and our sales pipeline remained strong. We have 
expanded our Medical Management Services from the tradi-
tional WC market into the Health and Productivity market and 
we are seeing more opportunities to utilize our Nurse Case 
Management, Return To Work, and Physician Review Services 
with a broader customer base that includes self-administered 
customers, disability and health insurers as well as wellness 
service providers.

broadspire:

Indicates the percentage 
of employees who return 
to work when their 
workers’ compensation 
absences are supervised 
via telephone by case
managers. In 96 percent  
of the cases received 
and closed in 2008, 
employees who received 
telephonic case manage-
ment services were 
released for return 
to work.

Indicates the gross 
amount an employer 
saves, on average, 
when Broadspire 
reviews medical bills. 
In 2008, companies 
saved 61.6 percent of 
every $100 in medical 
charges for which they 
were originally billed. 

Medical Bill Review Savings
in percentages
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Broadspire is dedicated to improving its overall operating models,  
which are designed to positively impact financial results and customer services.  
This is illustrated in the delivery of a single bill review platform (PowerTrak);  

a new claims processing system (RiskTech); and Risk Sciences Group’s  
conversion to Oracle to offer greater client analytics. 

Workers’ compensation and  
liability claim management
➡	�W orkers’ compensation claim 

management
➡	� Auto liability claim management
➡	�G eneral liability claim 

management
➡	�R isk management information 

services
➡	�L itigation management
➡	�M edicare Set-Aside
➡	�S econd injury trust fund
➡	�S tructured settlements
➡	� Central Index Bureau

➡	�S pecial investigations
➡	�S ubrogation services
➡	�R isk and safety services

Medical management
➡	�M edical bill review
➡	�P referred provider network
➡	�P harmacy management
➡	�U tilization management
➡	�P hysician review
➡	�S enior nurse reviewer
➡	�T elephonic case management
➡	�F ield case management

Specialty services
➡	� Crawford Works
➡	�PS  Care (behavioral health 

services)
➡	�M edical consulting services
➡	�I ndependent medical evaluation
➡	�V ocational rehabilitation
➡	�R ehabilitative ergonomics
➡	� Catastrophic care management
➡	� Critical incident stress 

management
➡	�L ife care planning
➡	�T ransitional duty program
➡	�T ime and motion studies

➡	�DOT  exams
➡	�D isability cost analysis
➡	�F unctional capacities exams

Long-term care services
➡	� Crawford Care Management

Disability services
➡	�I ntegrated disability management

Broadspire services:

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: 

a. Fairfield, New Jersey
b. Lake Zurich, Illinois 
c. Plantation, Florida
d. Uniondale, New York

a.

d.

b. c.
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Crawford’s U.S. Property & Casualty segment performed 
well in 2008, reporting strong top line growth, double-digit 
operating margins for the year, and increasing total claims. 
Revenues grew over 12 percent and operating earnings nearly 
tripled to $22.6 million from $7.6 million. 

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: 

a., b., d. Atlanta, Georgia 
c. Orlando, Florida

u.s. property & casualty:

98.7 percent of surveyed customers  
indicated they would reuse the Crawford  
Contractor Connection network in 2008.

Number of cases received (excluding dispositions) 
in thousands
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a.

We achieved these results with enhanced technological systems 
and a diverse portfolio of products that we deliver to the U.S. 
insurance carrier and corporate markets as a system of claims 
solutions. Our products range from adjusting general insurance 
claims to handling the largest commercial losses, from a direct 
managed repair product to the management of manufacturers’ 
and retailers’ warranty claims.

With our restructured sales force, we’re better positioned to 
develop new clients and grow existing relationships. Looking 
ahead, our primary focus is on growing our market share. Crawford 
has aligned these operations to take a bigger share of the claims 
market both as our clients consolidate independent adjusters 
and as we begin to see significant new outsourcing opportuni-
ties in the volume claims business. As the leading independent 

firm with an unmatched national footprint, we believe we are 
well-positioned to win a larger share of that business. 

To further this direction, Crawford has begun implementation 
of a major transformation of its U.S. Property & Casualty 
business model. The three main components are 1) a substan-
tial restructuring of field operations from 55 branch offices 
to 36 service centers and over 308 locations throughout the 
U.S.; 2) the introduction of a Command Center in Atlanta that 
provides effective central oversight of claims to offer clients 
a single point of contact for claims intake, assignment to desk 
or field adjusters, quality control, and resolution; and 3) the 
development of an enhanced service model that is designed 
to enable the delivery of more comprehensive end-to-end 
claims processing for our insurance carrier clients.
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working together:  Our sales force is now in four distinct groups: new national 
and large regional sales; account management and deeper penetration 
of key accounts; regional sales to help our field managers to compete for 
locally-generated business; and an inside sales team focused on a large 
number of clients who give us a smaller amount of business. 

U.S. Property & Casualty services:

Property Claims Management
➡	�P ersonal and commercial lines
	 – Full adjustment
	 – Appraisal
➡	�G lobal markets
➡	� Cause and origin investigation  

and analysis
Auto Appraisals and Inspections
➡	�D amage appraisals
➡	�H eavy equipment appraisals
➡	�V ehicle condition inspection
Casualty Claims Management
➡	 Auto and general liability
➡	�P ublic and employers’ liability

➡	�P rofessional indemnity
➡	�P roduct recall
➡	�M otor
➡	� Complete claims resolutions from 

investigation to settlement
➡	�D iscreet, thorough surveillance 

for suspicious claims
➡	�S ubrogation capabilities
Global Technical Services
➡	�M ajor/complex property losses
➡	� Agriculture & Food
➡	�B anking & Finance
➡	�B usiness Interruption
➡	� Construction & Builders Risk
➡	�E ngineering

➡	�M arine & Transportation
➡	�M edia & Entertainment
➡	�M ining
➡	�P ower & Energy
➡	�P harmaceutical
➡	�R etail
➡	�S pecialty Line
➡	�T echnology
➡	�T elecommunications
Centralized Claims  
Administration
➡	� Content services unit
➡	�D edicated property operations
Managed Repair Network
➡	� Contractor Connection

Catastrophe Management  
Services
➡	�N atural and man-made
➡ 	�S atellite communication 

capabilities
➡	�P re-event consultation
➡	�T ailored program response
Strategic Warranty Services (SWS)
➡	�I nspects and evaluates building 

products class action and 
warranty claims

➡	�P rovides inspection and audit 
services through desk reviews 
for claims program compliance

➡	� Quality Assurance Center 
devoted solely to this unit

revenues before reimbursements
in millions of dollars 
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working together:  GCG has been selected to administer five of the 
ten largest securities class action settlements since the passage of 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (PSLRA) in 1995.

The Garden City Group, Inc. makes up Crawford & Company’s 
Legal Settlement Administration segment and provides class action 
and bankruptcy claims administration, and other legal settlements.

The Garden City Group (GCG) provides these core services: 

• �GCG Class Action Services offering technology-intensive 
administrative services for plaintiff and defense counsel and 
corporate defendants to expedite high-volume class action 
settlements. GCG Class Action Services has administered a 
diverse portfolio of litigation settlements, including sensitive 
and high-profile consumer, employee-related, human rights, 
mass tort, antitrust, product, and securities cases. 

• �GCG Bankruptcy Services offers cost-effective, end-to-end 
solutions for managing the administration of bankruptcy 
under Chapter 11. 

• �GCG Communications specializes in legal notice programs for 
successful case administration. We offer a range of complemen-
tary services for developing and implementing effective legal 
notice programs worldwide. 

GCG is the largest securities class action administrator in the 
U.S., with nearly 25 years experience in both securities and 
consumer cases. Its senior executives are former class action 
litigation attorneys, Chapter 11 business reorganization special-
ists, and general counsels for large corporations. GCG offers 
top-tier technology for communications, digital processing, 
and data management, including a state-of-the-art contact 
center with interactive, automated, and live service staffed 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week. 

GCG has experienced a decline in revenue due in part to the  
cyclical nature of its business and the slowdown in class action 
settlements, especially mega cases since the technology bubble 
of early 2000. However, GCG has several long-term growth 
opportunities in the areas of bankruptcy administration and our 
diversification of services. We are capitalizing on our reputation 
for quality in a consolidating market and a strong, deep manage-
ment team who have unmatched experience in the core services 
we provide.

legal settlement administration:

With employees in 11 offices coast-to-coast,  
GCG has the people, experience, and resources you need to handle any case, 

large, small, straight-forward, or complex. We can target or broaden  
our efforts, as needed, to suit any situation.
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FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: 

a., b., d. Regional offices 
c. Seattle, Washington 

the garden city group (gcg)
➡	�D esigns and executes innovative 

legal notice programs
➡	� Administers all phases of the legal 

settlement, from noticing through 
distribution

➡	�M anages practical Chapter11 
claims administrations

➡	�E xecutes complete document 
management services

➡	�P rovides, or arranges for, expert 
consultation services

➡	�F eatures a state-of-the-art contact 
center with interactive, automated, 
and live service staffed 24 hours a 
day, 7 days a week

Legal settlement services:

d.

b.a.

c.
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Since Crawford & Company’s founding in 1941, we have taken 
pride in our strong commitment to supporting the communi-
ties in which we do business. At the corporate level, the local 
level, and in Crawford’s offices around the world, we support 
communities through corporate giving and by encouraging 
associate giving and volunteerism. At the local level, employee 
donations and community involvement flow directly from the 
many connections our employees have with their communities.

Our employees do amazing community-related activities every 
day somewhere around the world. Among the most notable is 
John Kidd, branch manager of Crawford’s United Arab Emirates 
location in Dubai. He scaled Mount Kilimanjaro in Tanzania 
with his sons to raise money for The Angel Appeal, which 
provides offshore support services to seafarers who, by the 
nature of their work, are separated from their families. Every 
year more than 10,000 vessels with some 200,000 crew of all 
nationalities and faiths drop anchor at the Fujairah Anchorage 
in the Arabian Sea, awaiting orders, carrying out repairs, or 
replenishing supplies.

Another notable achievement was the bicycle ride by Peter 
Shaw across the southern part of the United States. Pete, 
a director with our Global Technical Services unit, pedaled 
more than 3,000 miles in 25 days from Costa Mesa, California, 
to Savannah, Georgia, raising pledges for the Rainbows 
Children’s Hospice and the Matt Hampson Trust. Matt is in 
need of constant care after sustaining a spinal injury that 
occurred during a rugby match.

Mike Campbell-Pitt, managing director, Crawford Hong Kong, 
joined competitors from 29 countries in what was termed, 
“The Race of No Return,” to raise money for the earthquake 
victims in the Sichuan Province in China. The Gobi March 
2008 is a seven-day race across 155 miles of the toughest 
terrain and most brutal climate on Earth, in an area in 
Kyrgyzstan rarely before seen by tourists. Then there was 
Rochelle Gaul, support unit coordinator with Crawford 
ClaimsAlert. She braved a cold 8 a.m. start of the Atlanta 
American Heart Association Heart Walk after her night shift 
ended at 4 a.m.

Crawford Canada marked a significant milestone in charitable 
donations in 2008. They reached the $250,000 mark for the 
Women in Insurance Cancer Crusade (WICC), their designated 
recipient of employee contributions since 2003.

Through local causes such as bake sales, food bank donations, 
children’s and church-related activities, walks for heart health, 
diabetes, and cancer research, Crawford employees truly make 
a difference in their communities around the world.

We also believe that it is our social responsibility to sup-
port organizations that benefit society and contribute to 
environmental sustainability. We recognize that being an 
environmentally friendly organization is vital to sustaining 
the conditions for continued prosperity. Our Company seeks 
solutions to environmental problems by adopting sound 
principles and best practices for sustainable development.

Crawford contracted with Iron Mountain, Inc., to support our 
environmental stewardship efforts, securely shredding and 
recycling office materials and assessing the environmental 
impact on our conservation efforts. Their recent report stated 
the following savings in the U.S.: 4,010 trees saved; 1,651,153 
gallons of water saved; 471,758 pounds of recycled paper 
created; and 967,104 KW-hours of electricity saved.

In addition to extensive recycling programs, Crawford’s 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) department 
has significantly reduced the amount of power consumed by 
server hardware running and power consumption. ICT is also 
formalizing plans and policies around the controlling of the 
power consumed in the field where idle personal computers 
can be shut down after hours thereby further reducing the 
power consumption of PCs in field locations.

Video conferencing equipment has been deployed in a 
number of locations around the globe, which not only lowers 
our travel costs, but also helps lower the overall impact that 
car- and flight-based travel has on our ecosystem. 

Community Involvement and  
Environmentally Sustainable Practices

crawford cares:
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Environmental Laws

(Excerpt taken from Crawford &  
Company Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics)

As a responsible corporate citizen, 

the Company requires that associates 

adhere to all applicable environmental 

laws and regulations. Associates who 

have responsibilities which might affect 

compliance with environmental laws 

should become familiar with important 

requirements of those laws and 

regulations. No representative of the 

Company has the authority to pursue 

or condone the pursuit of a course of 

conduct that would lead to a violation 

of environmental law.

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: 

a. Crawford employees and their families 
gather after the 2008 Heart Walk in Atlanta.  
b. Peter Shaw (right), director with our Global 
Technical Services unit, taking a break from 
pedaling more than 3,000 miles in 25 days 
from Costa Mesa, California, to Savannah, 
Georgia. He received pledges for the Rainbows 
Children’s Hospice and the Matt Hampson 
Trust.  c. John Kidd (center), branch manager 
of Crawford’s United Arab Emirates location in 
Dubai, scaling Mount Kilimanjaro in Tanzania 
with his sons to raise money for The Angel 
Appeal.  d. Crawford Canada donated $50,000 
to the Women in Insurance Cancer Crusade 
(WICC), their designated recipient of employee 
contributions since 2003.

In addition, Crawford donated a portion of the Crawford/
Broadspire exhibit booth to the San Diego chapter of Habitat 
for Humanity following the 2008 Risk and Insurance Management 
Society, Inc. (RIMS), conference. The donation provided Habitat 
for Humanity with elements that can be reused in the construc-
tion of a home or in the local Habitat stores. 

At the local level, energy-efficient lighting has been installed, 
bottled water has been eliminated, paperless faxing has been 
implemented, and even individual creamers and sugars from the 
kitchens and break rooms have made a difference – financially 
and environmentally. 

Crawford & Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
addresses the environmental policies in the side bar on the 
right. While this summary is only an overview of the deep 
commitment Crawford has at the corporate and local levels, 
we believe that taking no action is itself a decision and one 
none of us can afford to make.

b.

c. d.

a.
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To celebrate 40 years as a publicly-traded 
company, Crawford executives rang the bell 
on November 21. Left to right: Michael F. 
Reeves; Allen W. Nelson; W. Bruce Swain, 
Jr.; Michael J. Sherin, Chairman Emeritus, 
the Garden City Group; Jeffrey T. Bowman; 
Thomas Veit, NYSE senior vice president; 
Thomas W. Crawford; Kevin B. Frawley; 
Jesse C. Crawford; Brian S. Flynn; Kenneth F. 
Martino; Glenn T. Gibson; Ian V. Muress

directors and global executive officers

Directors

Thomas W. Crawford
Chairman of the Board,  
Crawford & Company

Jeffrey T. Bowman
President and Chief  
Executive Officer,  
Crawford & Company

Jesse C. Crawford
Chairman of the Executive  
Committee of the Board 
President, Crawford  
Communications, Inc.

P. George Benson
President, College of  
Charleston

James D. Edwards
Retired Partner of  
Arthur Andersen LLP

Robert T. Johnson
Retired Partner of  
Arthur Andersen LLP

J. Hicks Lanier
Chairman of the Board and  
Chief Executive Officer, 
Oxford Industries, Inc.

Charles H. Ogburn
Executive Director, 
Arcapita Inc.

Larry L. Prince
Chairman of the  
Executive Committee, 
Genuine Parts Company

Clarence H. Ridley
Chairman of the Board, 
Haverty Furniture Companies, Inc.

E. Jenner Wood, III
Chairman, President, and  
Chief Executive Officer, 
SunTrust Bank Central Group

Global Executive Management Team

Jeffrey T. Bowman
President and Chief  
Executive Officer

W. Bruce Swain, Jr.
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer 

Allen W. Nelson
Executive Vice President
General Counsel, Corporate  
Secretary & Chief  
Administrative Officer

Kevin B. Frawley
Executive Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer,
Property & Casualty – Americas

David A. Isaac
Executive Vice President, 
Chief Executive Officer,
The Garden City Group, Inc. 

Kenneth F. Martino
Executive Vice President,  
Chief Executive Officer, 
Broadspire 

Ian V. Muress 
Executive Vice President,
Chief Executive Officer,
Property & Casualty –  
EMEA & Asia Pacific

Glenn T. Gibson
Executive Vice President  
Chief Strategy Officer

Michael F. Reeves
Executive Vice President, 
Global Markets

Brian S. Flynn
Senior Vice President
Global Chief Information Officer

ringing the nyse closing bell®
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

26 crawford & company

Accordingly, the volume of claim referrals to us is a key driver 
of our revenues. Industry-wide claims volume in general will 
vary depending upon the insurance underwriting cycle. 

In the insurance industry, the underwriting cycle is often said to 
be in either a “soft” or “hard” market. A soft market generally 
results when insurance companies focus more on increasing 
their premium income and focus less on controlling underwriting 
risks. A soft market often occurs in conjunction with strong 
financial markets. Insurance companies can derive a significant 
portion of their earnings from their investment portfolios, and 
when financial markets are strong, their focus may turn to col-
lecting more premium income to invest under the assumption 
that increased investment income and gains will offset higher 
claim costs that usually result from relaxed underwriting stan-
dards. Due to competition in the industry during a soft market, 
insurance companies usually concentrate on growing their 
premium base by increasing the number of policies in-force 
instead of raising individual policy premiums. When the insur-
ance underwriting market is soft, insurance companies are 
generally more aggressive in the risks they underwrite, and 
insurance premiums and policy deductibles typically decline. 
This usually results in an increase in industry-wide claim refer-
rals which generally will increase claim referrals to us provided 
that we are able to maintain our existing market share. 

A transition from a soft to a hard market is usually caused by 
one or two key factors, or sometimes a combination of both: 
weak financial markets or unacceptable losses from policy hold-
ers. When investments held by insurance companies begin to 
perform poorly, insurance companies typically turn their focus 
to managing their “bottom line” by better controlling underwrit-
ing risks and claim costs. However, even if financial markets 
perform well, the relaxed underwriting standards in a soft mar-
ket can lead to unacceptable increases in the frequency and 
cost of claims, especially in geographic areas that are prone to 
frequent weather-related catastrophes. Either of these factors 
will usually lead the insurance industry to transition to a hard 
market. During a hard insurance underwriting market, insurance 
companies generally become more selective in the risks they 
underwrite and insurance premiums and policy deductibles typi-
cally increase, sometimes quite dramatically. This usually results 
in a reduction in industry-wide claim volumes, which generally 
reduces claim referrals to us unless we are able to offset the 
decline in claim referrals with growth in our market share. The 
global insurance industry is currently transitioning from the soft 
market conditions of the past few years to a harder market.

We are also impacted by decisions insurance companies may 
make to change the level of claims outsourced to independent 
claim service firms as opposed to those handled by their own 
in-house claims adjusters. Our ability to grow our market share 

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company is the world’s 
largest independent provider of claims management solutions 
to insurance companies and self-insured entities, with a global 
network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries. Our major 
service lines include property and casualty claims management, 
integrated claims and medical management for workers’ com-
pensation, legal settlement administration including class 
action and bankruptcy claims administration, warranty inspec-
tions, and risk management information services. We have 
two classes of common stock traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange, Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock, 
which trade under the symbols CRDA and CRDB, respectively.

Insurance companies, which represent the major source of 
our global revenues, customarily manage their own claims 
administration function but often rely on third parties for 
certain services which we provide, primarily field investigation 
and the evaluation of property and casualty insurance claims. 
We also conduct inspections of building component products 
related to warranty and product performance claims.

Self-insured entities typically rely on us for a broader range 
of services. In addition to field investigation and evaluation 
of their claims, we may also provide initial loss reporting 
services for their claimants, loss mitigation services such as 
medical case management and vocational rehabilitation, risk 
management information services, and administration of trust 
funds established to pay their claims. 

We also perform legal settlement administration services 
related to securities, product liability, and other class action 
settlements and bankruptcies, including identifying and qualify-
ing class members, determining and dispensing settlement 
payments, and administering the settlement funds. Such ser-
vices are generally referred to by us as class action services. 

The claims management services market, both in the U.S. 
and internationally, is highly competitive and comprised of a 
large number of companies of varying size and offering a varied 
scope of services. The demand from insurance companies and 
self-insured entities for services provided by independent claims 
service firms like us is largely dependent on industry-wide 
claims volumes, which are affected by, among other things, the 
insurance underwriting cycle, weather-related events, general 
economic activity, overall employment levels, and associated 
workplace injury rates. Accordingly, we are limited in our ability 
to predict case volumes that may be referred to us at any time.

We generally earn our revenues on an individual fee-per-claim 
basis for claims management services we provide to property 
and casualty insurance companies and self-insured entities. 
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process efficiencies linked to our implementation of the CMS2 
technology system, which is our claims management platform in 
this segment. We have positioned our U.S. Property & Casualty 
segment to capture a larger share of the claims market as some 
of our clients consolidate their use of independent adjusters, 
and we see additional outsourcing opportunities from new and 
existing clients.

In our Broadspire segment, the number of workers’ compensation 
claims we received in 2008 declined by 9% compared to 2007. 
This decline in 2008 reflected overall declines during the last 
several years in the workers’ compensation market in general, 
and the recent impact of sharply lower U.S. employment levels. 
However, our client retention rate in our Broadspire segment 
on existing business remains high at approximately 90%. We 
remain confident in the long-term opportunities for Broadspire 
and we are continuing to manage our expenses closely and are 
making staffing models more responsive to the variable intake 
of new claims. In 2008, we also improved our inventory man-
agement programs to address the existing inventory of claims 
to ensure that it provides us more staffing flexibility. During 
2008, Broadspire added additional resources to its marketing 
team to better sell services in the claims and medical manage-
ment marketplace and develop more innovative customer 
solutions. We began a broader rollout of our RiskTech system, 
our consolidated claims platform for this segment, in November 
2008 and this is resulting in process improvements. As more 
clients are transitioned onto the RiskTech system, we should see 
reduced legacy information technology costs.

In our Legal Settlement Administration segment, we encoun-
tered pricing pressures from our clients and competitors in 
2008. We expect this to continue in 2009. Unfavorable macro-
economic events have slowed the pace of overall activity in the 
class action services market. Recently, there has been a consol-
idation of providers in the marketplace, which may benefit us 
going forward by reducing the number of competitors in the 
market. Revenues in our Legal Settlement Administration seg-
ment are generally project-based and can vary significantly 
based on the number, type, and size of class action settle-
ments or bankruptcies.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Consolidated net income was $32.3 million in 2008 compared 
to $16.1 million in 2007 and $15.0 million in 2006. 

Consolidated net income in 2008 included a non-taxable gain 
of $2.5 million related to the sale of a Netherlands subsidiary 
and a $3.3 million charge, or $2.4 million after tax, for certain 
internal restructuring activities in our U.S. Property & Casualty 
and International Operations segments. 

in a highly fragmented and competitive market is primarily 
dependent on the delivery of superior quality service and 
effective sales efforts. 

The legal settlement administration market is also highly 
competitive but comprised of a smaller number of specialized 
entities. The demand for legal settlement administration 
services is generally not directly tied to or affected by the 
insurance underwriting cycle. The demand for these services 
is largely dependent on the volume of securities and product 
liability class action settlements, the volume of Chapter 11 
bankruptcy filings and the resulting settlements, and general 
economic conditions. Our revenues for legal settlement admin-
istration services are generally project-based and we earn these 
revenues as we perform individual tasks and deliver the out-
puts as outlined in each project.

Summary Overview of 2008 Results  
of Operations
Consolidated net income improved to $32.3 million in 2008 
from $16.1 million in 2007. We also continued our focus in 
2008 on improving our receivables management and our cash 
flow from operations improved by $47.7 million compared to 
2007 despite significantly higher contributions in 2008 to our 
defined benefit pension plans.

2008 had nonrecurring items that impacted our consolidated 
net income: a non-taxable gain of $2.5 million related to the 
November 2008 sale of a subsidiary in the Netherlands, and 
a pre-tax charge of $3.3 million, or $2.4 million after tax, 
from restructuring activities in our U.S. Property & Casualty 
and International Operations segments.

As discussed in more detail in subsequent sections of our 
MD&A, we have four operating segments: U.S. Property & 
Casualty, International Operations, Broadspire, and Legal 
Settlement Administration. Strong revenue before reimburse-
ments (“revenue”) growth in our International Operations and 
U.S. Property & Casualty segments more than offset revenue 
declines in our Broadspire and Legal Settlement Administration 
segments, resulting in a net 7.5% increase in 2008 in consoli-
dated revenues before reimbursements. Operating earnings (a 
non-GAAP measure that is defined and discussed in more detail 
in subsequent sections of our MD&A) for all of our segments 
increased in 2008 compared to 2007. Compared to 2007, oper-
ating margins also improved in all four of our operating 
segments during 2008. 

Our U.S. Property & Casualty segment had revenue and oper-
ating earnings growth in 2008. As a result of investments we 
made in previous years in employees, training, and quality, 
we believe we are now delivering a market-leading product. 
We are benefiting financially and operationally from increased 
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not allocated to our operating segments. None of these costs 
relate directly to the performance of our services or operating 
activities and, therefore, are excluded from segment operating 
earnings in order to better assess the results of each segment’s 
operating activities on a consistent basis. 

Certain other gains and expenses arise from events (such as 
gains on sales of businesses and real estate and expenses 
related to restructurings) that are not considered part of our 
segment operating earnings since they historically have not 
regularly impacted our performance and are not expected to 
impact our future performance on a regular basis. 

Unallocated corporate and shared costs represent expenses 
and credits related to our CEO and Board of Directors, certain 
provisions for bad debt allowances or subsequent recoveries 
such as those related to bankrupt clients, defined benefit pen-
sion costs or credits for our frozen U.S. pension plan, certain 
software, and certain self-insurance costs and recoveries that 
are not allocated to our individual operating segments.

Income Taxes
Taxes on income totaled $11.6 million, $5.4 million, and  
$9.1 million for 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Our consoli-
dated effective income tax rate for financial reporting purposes 
may change periodically due to changes in enacted tax rates, 
fluctuations in the mix of income earned from our various 
domestic and international operations which may be subject 
to differing tax rates, our ability to utilize net operating loss 
carryforwards in certain of our subsidiaries, amounts related to 
uncertain income tax positions, and the implementation of tax 
planning strategies. Our effective tax rate, including discrete 
items and adjustments related to FIN 48, for financial reporting 
purposes was 26.4%, 25.1%, and 37.6% for 2008, 2007, and 
2006, respectively. Compared to 2006, our effective tax rate 
was lower in 2008 and 2007. The lower rate in 2008 was 
primarily due to the recognition of previously unrecognized 
tax credits, the recognition of research and development tax 
credits as a result of legislation passed by the U.S. Congress 
during October 2008, and the nontaxable gain on the 2008 
sale of a Netherlands subsidiary. Compared to 2006, the lower 
rate in 2007 was due primarily to changes in uncertain tax 
positions and fluctuations in the mix of income earned from 
our international operations, which generally have lower tax 
rates than our U.S. operations. 

Net Corporate Interest Expense
Net corporate interest expense is comprised of interest expense 
that we incur on our short- and long-term borrowings, partially 
offset by interest income we earn on available cash balances 
and short-term investments. These amounts vary based 
on interest rates, borrowings outstanding, and the amounts 
of invested cash and investments. Interest expense is also 
impacted by our interest rate swap agreement that we entered 

Consolidated net income in 2007 included a gain of $3.1 mil-
lion, net of related income taxes, from the 2006 sale of our 
former corporate headquarters. This gain was initially deferred 
pending the expiration of a leaseback arrangement related to 
that facility, which expired during the second quarter of 2007. 
Consolidated net income for 2007 also included a gain of  
$2.5 million, net of related income taxes, from the sale of our 
former U.S. subrogation services business in February 2007, 
and the recognition of a previously unrecognized tax benefit 
of $2.0 million. 

Consolidated net income in 2006 included an expense of  
$1.9 million, net of related income taxes, as a result of certain 
restructuring activities undertaken in connection with our acqui-
sition of Broadspire Management Services, Inc. (“BMSI”) and 
the related refinancing of our outstanding debt. Consolidated 
net income in 2006 also included a gain of $1.9 million, net of 
related income taxes, on the disposal of our former investiga-
tive services business. 

Operating earnings is our segment measure of profit required 
to be disclosed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 131, “Disclosure about Segments of Enterprises 
and Related Information,” as discussed in Note 10 to the accom-
panying audited consolidated financial statements included in 
this Annual Report. Operating earnings is the primary financial 
performance measure used by our senior management and 
chief operating decision maker to evaluate the financial per-
formance of our four operating segments and make resource 
allocation decisions. We believe this measure is useful to 
investors in that it allows them to evaluate segment operating 
performance using the same criteria that our management 
uses. Operating earnings will differ from net income computed 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States (“GAAP”) since operating earnings excludes 
income tax expense, net corporate interest expense, amortiza-
tion of customer-relationship intangible assets, stock option 
expense, certain other gains and expenses, and certain unallo-
cated corporate and shared costs. 

Income tax expense, net corporate interest expense, amortization  
of customer-relationship intangible assets, and stock option 
expense are recurring components of our net income, but they 
are not considered part of our segment operating earnings 
because they are managed on a corporate-wide basis. Income 
tax expense is based on statutory rates in effect in each of the 
jurisdictions where we provide services, and vary throughout 
the world. Net corporate interest expense results from company-
level capital structure decisions made by management. 
Amortization expense relates to non-cash amortization expense 
of customer-relationship intangible assets resulting from busi-
ness combinations. Stock option expense is the non-cash cost 
generally related to historically granted stock options which is 
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segments. If changes are made to our allocation methodology, 
prior period allocations are revised to conform to our then-cur-
rent allocation methodology. Unallocated corporate and shared 
costs were a net cost of $6.7 million and $8.9 million in 2008 
and 2007, respectively, and a net credit of $116,000 in 2006.

Other Gains and Expenses 
During 2008, our Netherlands subsidiary sold the capital 
stock of one of its subsidiaries. The $5.3 million sale price 
was paid to us in cash, and the net cash we received on the 
transaction was $4.3 million after subtracting the cash belong-
ing to the sold entity. The gain recognized on this disposition 
was $2.5 million, including a cumulative currency translation 
adjustment of $344,000. The transaction was not taxable. 
In connection with this disposition, we derecognized goodwill 
of $1.4 million from our International Operations segment. The 
revenues and expenses of this subsidiary were not material 
to our consolidated financial statements or to the operating 
results of our International Operations segment, and accord-
ingly we do not report the historical results of this disposed 
business as discontinued operations. 

Also in 2008, we recorded a pretax restructuring charge of 
$3.3 million. The charge consisted of $1.8 million for severance 
and other costs in our International Operations segment, 
$300,000 for severance costs in our U.S. Property and Casualty 
segment, and $1.2 million for professional fees incurred in con-
nection with a restructuring of certain of our legal entities in 
the U.S. and internationally. In connection with the restructur-
ing, we expect to incur an additional $1.5 million of 
professional fees in 2009.

Effective February 28, 2007, we completed a strategic alliance 
with Trover Solutions, Inc. (“Trover”). As part of this transac-
tion, we sold the operating assets of our former subrogation 
services business to Trover for $5.0 million in cash, plus a 
potential future earnout. This business was part of our U.S. 
Property & Casualty segment. We recognized a pre-tax gain of 
$4.0 million from this transaction and derecognized $571,000 
of associated goodwill. Concurrent with the sale, we also 
entered into a services agreement with Trover. Under the terms 
of this agreement, Trover agreed to provide subrogation and 
recovery services to certain of our clients for which we would 
receive an administrative fee generated from these revenues 
earned by Trover. Due to the significance of this agreement in 
relationship to the sold business, we do not report the sold 
business as a discontinued operation for financial reporting 
purposes. The earnout measurement period has ended, and 
the amounts we received under the earnout were not material. 
Revenues before reimbursements from our former subrogation 
services business in 2007 and 2006 were $375,000 and 
$2.3 million, respectively.

into in May 2007. Corporate interest expense totaled $19.6 mil-
lion, $19.2 million, and $8.1 million for 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
respectively. The increases in interest expense in 2008 and 
2007 compared to 2006 were due primarily to higher levels of 
outstanding borrowings as a result of our acquisition of BMSI. 
Corporate interest income totaled $2.0 million, $1.9 million, and 
$2.4 million in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Corporate 
interest income decreased in 2008 and 2007 compared to 2006 
primarily due to the overall declines in interest rates during 
2008 and 2007. Also during 2006, we received and recognized 
additional interest income of $288,000 related to a tax refund 
claim originally settled with the IRS in June 2004. 

Amortization of Customer-Relationship  
Intangible Assets
Amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets 
represents the non-cash amortization expense of customer- 
relationship intangible assets arising from our 2006 
acquisitions of BMSI and Specialty Liability Services, Ltd. 
(“SLS”). Amortization expense associated with these intangible 
assets totaled $6.0 million, $6.0 million, and $1.1 million 
in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. This amortization is 
included in Selling, General, and Administrative expenses 
in our Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Stock Option Expense
Stock option expense, a component of stock-based compensa-
tion expense, is comprised of non-cash expenses related 
to stock options granted under our various stock option and 
employee stock purchase plans. Many of our stock option 
grants that are subject to expense recognition under SFAS 
No. 123R, “Share-based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), were 
granted prior to 2005. Stock option expense of $861,000, 
$1.2 million, and $1.2 million was recognized during 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively, under the provisions of SFAS 123R. We 
adopted SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006. Other stock-based 
compensation expense related to our Executive Stock Bonus 
Plan (performance shares and restricted shares) is charged to 
our four operating segments and included in the determina-
tion of segment operating earnings. 

Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs
Certain unallocated costs and credits are excluded from the 
determination of segment operating earnings. These unallocated 
corporate and shared costs primarily represent pension costs or 
credits related to our frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan, 
expenses for our CEO and our Board of Directors, relocation costs 
associated with the 2007 move of our corporate headquarters, 
certain adjustments to our self-insured liabilities, software, and 
certain adjustments to our allowances for doubtful accounts 
receivable. From time to time, we evaluate which corporate costs 
and credits are appropriately allocated to our four operating 
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SEGMENT OPERATING RESULTS
As previously discussed, we evaluate our four operating seg-
ments primarily by use of a non-GAAP financial measurement 
referred to by us as segment operating earnings. Segment 
operating earnings differ from net income computed in accor-
dance with GAAP since segment operating earnings exclude 
income tax expense, net corporate interest expense, amortiza-
tion of customer-relationship intangible assets, stock option 
expense, certain other gains and expenses, and certain 
unallocated corporate and shared costs. 

Our four operating segments, U.S. Property & Casualty, 
International Operations, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement 
Administration, represent components of our company 
for which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by our chief operating decision maker in 
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing operating 
performance. U.S. Property & Casualty serves the U.S. prop-
erty and casualty insurance company market, including the 
product warranties and inspections marketplace. International 
Operations serves the property and casualty insurance com-
pany markets outside of the U.S. Broadspire serves the U.S. 
self-insurance marketplace. Legal Settlement Administration 
serves the securities, bankruptcy, and other legal settlements 
markets primarily in the U.S. 

In the normal course of our business, we sometimes pay for 
certain out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursed by our clients. 
Under GAAP, these out-of-pocket expenses and associated 
reimbursements are reported as revenues and expenses in our 
Consolidated Statement of Income. In some of the discussion 
and analysis that follows, we do not believe it is informative 
to include the GAAP-required gross up of our revenues and 
expenses for these pass-through reimbursed expenses. The 
amounts of reimbursed expenses and related revenues offset 
each other in our Consolidated Statement of Income with no 
impact to our net income. Unless noted in the following discus-
sion and analysis, revenue amounts exclude reimbursements 
for out-of-pocket expenses and expense amounts exclude 
reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses, income taxes, net corporate 
interest expense, amortization expense for customer-relationship 
intangible assets, stock option expense, certain other gains and 
expenses, and unallocated corporate and shared costs.

Our discussion and analysis of the operating expenses included 
in our segment operating earnings is comprised of two compo-
nents. “Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits” includes 
all compensation, payroll taxes, and benefits provided to our 
employees, which as a service company, represents our most 
significant and variable expense. “Expenses Other Than Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits” includes outsourced ser-

On June 30, 2006, we sold the land and building utilized as 
our former corporate headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. These 
assets had a net carrying amount of $2.8 million. The base sale 
price of $8.0 million was received in cash at closing. Also on 
June 30, 2006, we entered into a 12-month leaseback agree-
ment for these same facilities. In accordance with the provisions 
of SFAS No. 98, “Accounting for Leases,” we initially deferred 
recognition of the gain related to this sale until the leaseback 
agreement expired on June 30, 2007. During the second quar-
ter of 2007, we relocated our corporate headquarters to another 
facility. Net of transaction costs, a pre-tax gain of $4.8 million 
was recognized in June 2007 upon expiration of the leaseback 
agreement. Under the sale agreement, the $8.0 million base 
sale price is subject to potential upward revision depending 
upon the buyer’s ability to subsequently redevelop the prop-
erty. The pre-tax gain of $4.8 million was based on the base 
sale price and did not include any amount for the potential 
upward revision of the sales price. Should such revision 
subsequently occur, we could ultimately realize a larger gain. 

During September 2006, we sold the operating assets of our 
former investigations services business to MJM Investigations, 
Inc. (“MJM”), resulting in a pre-tax gain of $3.1 million. This 
business was part of our U.S. Property & Casualty operating 
segment. We also entered into a long-term agreement with 
MJM to refer certain of our clients to MJM for surveillance and 
investigative services. Under this agreement, we are entitled to 
receive an administrative fee from MJM for these referrals. The 
operating results of our former investigations services business 
are included in our consolidated financial statements through 
the date of sale and, due to the significance of the agreement 
with MJM in relationship to this disposed business, we do not 
report the historical results of this disposed business as dis-
continued operations. After reflecting income taxes, this gain 
increased our 2006 net income by $1.9 million. Revenues 
before reimbursements from our former investigations services 
business in 2006 were approximately $6.5 million. 

On October 31, 2006, we completed the acquisition of BMSI 
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 18, 
2006, and entered into a new secured credit agreement with 
a syndication of lenders. As a result of these transactions, we 
recorded a pretax charge of $3.1 million related to restructuring 
activities in the combined Broadspire operating segment, pri-
marily for staff reductions and the consolidation of existing 
leased locations, and also a loss on the early retirement of 
our former credit facility. After reflecting income taxes, these 
expenses reduced 2006 net income by $1.9 million.
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Operating results for our U.S. Property & Casualty, International Operations, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement Administration 
segments reconciled to consolidated net income, were as follows:

(in thousands)				    % Change From Prior Year

Year Ended December 31,		  2008		  2007		  2006		  2008		  2007

Revenues Before Reimbursements:

	 U.S. Property & Casualty	 $	 216,753	 $	 192,966	 $	225,337	  	 12.3%		   (14.4%)

	 International Operations		  445,056		  376,639		   303,697		   18.2%		   24.0%

	 Broadspire		  311,841		  321,331		   174,917		  (3.0%)		  83.7%

	 Legal Settlement Administration		  74,932		  84,207	  	  115,571		   (11.0%)		   (27.1%)

		  Total, before reimbursements	 	 1,048,582		  975,143		  819,522		  7.5%		  19.0%

	 Reimbursements	 	 87,334		  76,135		   80,858	  	 14.7%	  	  (5.8%)

		  Total Revenues	 $	1,135,916	 $	1,051,278	 $	900,380		   8.1%		   16.8%

Direct Compensation & Fringe Benefits:					   

	 U.S. Property & Casualty	 $	 133,933	 $	 126,146	 $	142,191		   6.2%	  	  (11.3%)

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  61.8%		  65.4%		   63.1%		

	 International Operations	 	 303,197		  260,041	  	 212,522		   16.6%	  	 22.4%

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  68.1%		  69.1%		   70.0%		

	 Broadspire		  175,412		  183,481		  115,015		  (4.4%)		  59.5%

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  56.3%		  57.1%		  65.8%

	 Legal Settlement Administration		  35,359		  39,500		  42,861		  (10.5%)		  (7.8%)

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  47.2%		  46.9%		  37.1%

		  Total	 $	 647,901	 $	 609,168	 $	512,589		   6.4%	  	  18.8%

		  % of Revenues before reimbursements		  61.8%		  62.5%	  	 62.5%

Expenses Other than Direct Compensation & Fringe Benefits:					   

	 U.S. Property & Casualty	 $	 60,206	 $	 59,199	 $	 64,970		  1.7%		  (8.9%)

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements	  	 27.8%		   30.7%		   28.8%		

	 International Operations	  	 102,966 	  	  91,938		   76,724		   12.0%	  	 19.8%

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		   23.2%	  	 24.4%	  	 25.2%

	 Broadspire		  132,903		  134,709		  81,505		  (1.3%)		  65.3%

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  42.6%		  41.9%		  46.6%

	 Legal Settlement Administration		  28,759		  33,980		  51,655		  (15.4%)		  (34.2%)

	 % of related revenues before reimbursements		  38.4%		  40.4%		  44.7%

		  Total, before reimbursements		   324,834	  	 319,826		   274,854		   1.6%	  	 16.4%

		  % of Revenues before reimbursements		  31.0%	  	  32.8%	  	  33.5%

	 Reimbursements		  87,334	  	 76,135	  	  80,858		   14.7%		  (5.8%)

		  Total 	 $	 412,168	 $	 395,961	  $	355,712		   4.1%		   11.3%

		  % of Revenues	  	  36.3%		   37.7%	  	  39.5%		

Table continued on page 32.

vices, office rent and occupancy costs, other office operating 
expenses, cost of risk, amortization and depreciation expense 
other than amortization of customer-relationship intangible 
assets, and allocated corporate and shared costs. 

Allocated corporate and shared costs are allocated to our 
four operating segments based primarily on usage. These 
allocated costs are included in the determination of segment 
operating earnings. If we change our allocation methods 
or change the types of costs that are allocated to our four 
operating segments, prior periods are adjusted to reflect 
the current allocation process.

As disclosed in Note 1 of our accompanying consolidated 
financial statements, the financial statements of our 
International Operations segment, other than Canada and 
the Caribbean, are included in our consolidated financial 
statements on a two-month delayed basis under the provi-
sions of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated 
Financial Statements,” in order to provide sufficient time 
for accumulation of their results. 

The following discussion and analysis should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and 
the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report to Shareholders.
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U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before reimbursements 
increased to $216.8 million in 2008 compared to $193.0 mil-
lion in 2007. This 2008 increase was due primarily to increased 
property and catastrophic claims activity in 2008. Revenues 
generated by our catastrophe adjusters totaled $22.9 million 
in 2008 compared to $8.3 million in 2007. 

U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before reimbursements 
increased a net of 12.3% from 2007 to 2008 due to the follow-
ing factors. In 2008, revenues declined 0.2% due to the 2007 
sale of our former subrogation services business. Revenues 
increased 10.7% from 2007 due to changes in the mix of ser-
vices provided and in the rates charged for those services. 
Segment unit volume, measured principally by cases received, 
increased 1.8% from 2007 to 2008. The increase in revenue 
produced by our catastrophe adjusters and the increase in 
property claims from our U.S. insurance company clients 
increased our average revenue per claim in 2008. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in 
total revenues for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment were 
$11.2 million in 2008, increasing from $10.8 million in 2007. 
The increase in 2008 was due primarily to higher vehicle fuel 
costs and mileage reimbursements.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year Ended 
December 31, 2007
U.S. PROPERTY & CASUALTY SEGMENT
As of January 1, 2008, our Strategic Warranty Services unit was 
transferred to our U.S. Property & Casualty segment from our 
Legal Settlement Administration segment. Segment results for 
prior periods have been restated to reflect this transfer. 

In the first quarter of 2007, we sold our subrogation services 
business. See “Results of Consolidated Operations – Other 
Gains and Expenses” above.

Operating Earnings
Operating earnings for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment 
increased from $7.6 million in 2007 to $22.6 million in 2008, 
representing an operating margin of 10.4% in 2008 compared 
to 3.9% in 2007. These increases in 2008 were primarily due 
to increased catastrophe-related property claims as discussed 
below, and also due to technology-driven operating efficien-
cies resulting from our ongoing technology investments in 
this segment. 

Revenues before Reimbursements
U.S. Property & Casualty revenues are primarily generated 
from the property and casualty insurance company markets, 
with additional revenues generated from the warranties and 
inspections marketplace.

(in thousands)				    % Change From Prior Year

Year Ended December 31,		  2008		  2007		  2006		  2008		  2007

Operating Segment Earnings (Loss):

	 U.S. Property & Casualty	 $	 22,614	 $	 7,621	 $	 18,176		  196.7%		  (58.1%)

		  % of related revenues before reimbursements	  	 10.4%	  	 3.9%	  	 8.1%

	 International Operations		  38,893		  24,660		  14,451		  57.7%		  70.6%

		  % of related revenues before reimbursements		  8.7%		  6.5%		  4.8%

	 Broadspire		   3,526		   3,141		  (21,603)		  12.3%		   114.5%

		  % of related revenues before reimbursements		   1.1%		   1.0%		  (12.4%)

	 Legal Settlement Administration		  10,814		  10,727		  21,055		  0.8%		  (49.1%)

		  % of related revenues before reimbursements		  14.4%		  12.7%		  18.2%

Add/(deduct): 

	 Unallocated corporate credits and shared costs, net		   (6,728)		   (8,919)		   116	  	 (24.6%)		   

	 Net corporate interest expense		   (17,622)		   (17,326)	  	 (5,753)		   1.7%	  	 201.2%

	 Stock option expense		  (861)		   (1,191)		  (1,220)		  (27.7%)		  (2.4%)

	 Amortization of customer-relationship intangible assets		   (6,025)	  	 (6,025)		  (1,124)		  –		  436.0%

	 Other gains and expenses, net		  (788)		  8,824		  (27)		  (108.9%)		

	 Income taxes		   (11,564)	  	 (5,396)		   (9,060)		  114.3%		   (40.4%)

Net income	  $	 32,259	  $	 16,116	  $	 15,011		  100.2%		  7.4%

nm = not meaningful 

nm

nm

(21,603)
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accounts receivable. Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for U.S. 
Property & Casualty totaled $22.4 million in 2008, decreasing 
2.2% from 2007 expenses of $22.9 million. The decrease in 
2008 compared to 2007 was due primarily to the reduction in 
the number of average full-time equivalent employees in 2008 
in this segment. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements, Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits
U.S. Property & Casualty expenses other than reimbursements, 
direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefits 
decreased as a percent of U.S. Property & Casualty revenues 
before reimbursements to 27.8% in 2008 from 30.7% in 2007. 
The decrease in the amount as a percentage of segment rev-
enues before reimbursements in 2008 was primarily due to 
higher revenues in 2008. The dollar amount of these expenses 
increased slightly in 2008 due mainly to the increased number 
of catastrophe adjusters. 

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT

Operating Earnings
International Operations’ operating earnings increased to 
$38.9 million in 2008, an increase of 57.7% from 2007 operating 
earnings of $24.7 million for the reasons described below. This 
improvement reflected an increase in the operating margin 
from 6.5% in 2007 to 8.7% in 2008. 

Revenues before Reimbursements
Substantially all International Operations segment revenues 
are earned from the property and casualty insurance company 
market outside of the U.S. 

Revenues before reimbursements from our International 
Operations segment totaled $445.1 million in 2008, an 18.2% 
increase from the $376.6 million in 2007. This 2008 revenue 
increase was due to the net impact of changes in case volumes, 
currency exchange rates, and changes in the mix of services 
provided and in the rates charged for those services. Compared 
to 2007, the U.S. dollar was weaker in 2008 against most major 
foreign currencies, resulting in a net exchange rate benefit in 
2008 of 2.8%. Excluding the benefit of exchange rate fluctua-
tions, International Operations revenues would have been 
$434.5 million in 2008 reflecting growth in revenues on a 
constant dollar basis of 15.4%. Excluding the disposition of a 
Netherlands subsidiary in 2008, International Operations unit 
volume, measured principally by cases received, declined 3.3% 
in 2008 compared to 2007. This decline primarily reflected 
decreased case referrals during 2008 in the United Kingdom 
and Continental Europe, Middle East, & Africa (“CEMEA”) 
regions of our International Operations segment, as discussed 
below. Revenues before reimbursements increased 18.9% from 

Case Volume Analysis
Excluding the disposition of our subrogation services business 
in 2007, U.S. Property & Casualty unit volumes by major service 
line, as measured by cases received, for 2008 and 2007 were 
as follows:

(whole numbers)	 2008	  2007	 Variance

Property			   212,555		 166,679		  27.5%

Vehicle				    76,668		 110,436	  	 (30.6%)

Casualty			   70,181		  86,088		  (18.5%)

Warranty Services		  57,687		  55,406		  4.1%

Catastrophe Services		  24,499	  	 12,012		  104.0%

Workers’ Compensation and Other		  17,225		  20,220		  (14.8%)

	 Total U.S. Property &  
		  Casualty Cases Received		  458,815		 450,841		  1.8%

The 2008 increases in property and catastrophe services 
claims were due primarily to severe weather in 2008 from 
Hurricanes Dolly, Gustav, and Ike, and also due to storm activ-
ity in portions of Florida, Louisiana, Texas, Missouri, Ohio, and 
Pennsylvania. Hurricanes Dolly, Gustav, and Ike generated over 
24,000 claims in 2008. The 2008 decline in vehicle claims was 
due primarily to the decision of a large client to insource the 
handling of claims that were previously outsourced to us. 
The 2008 decrease in casualty claims was primarily due to 
reductions in claims referred from our existing clients. The 
2008 increase in warranty services claims was primarily due 
to increased claims from our existing and new clients. The 
2008 decrease in workers’ compensation claims was due 
primarily to lower referrals for outside investigations from 
insurance carriers and our Broadspire segment.

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
U.S. Property & Casualty direct compensation and fringe 
benefits expense, as a percent of segment revenues before 
reimbursements, decreased to 61.8% in 2008 compared to 
65.4% in 2007. This percentage decrease in 2008 was due 
primarily to higher revenues and increased operating efficien-
cies obtained from the Company’s ongoing technology 
investments in this segment. There was an average of 1,676 
full-time equivalent employees (including 132 catastrophe 
adjusters) in 2008 compared to an average of 1,746 (including 
62 catastrophe adjusters) in 2007. During the 2008 hurricane 
season, we deployed over 300 catastrophe adjusters to the  
Gulf Coast region of the U.S. in response to hurricanes. 

U.S. Property & Casualty salaries and wages increased 8.0%, 
to $111.6 million in 2008 from $103.3 million in 2007. The 
increase in 2008 compared to 2007 was due primarily to higher 
incentive compensation costs in 2008 related to the increase 
in operating earnings and revenues. Incentive compensation is 
variable and is tied to growth in revenues and operating earn-
ings and to reductions in a days-sales-outstanding measure for 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

34 crawford & company

Salaries and wages of International Operations segment per-
sonnel increased 17.4% to $259.5 million in 2008 compared 
to $221.0 million in 2007, decreasing as a percent of revenues 
before reimbursements from 58.7% in 2007 to 58.3% in 2008. 
The dollar amount increase in these expenses in 2008 was pri-
marily related to the increase in employees necessary to service 
the increased revenues and a weaker U.S. dollar during 2008. 
Payroll taxes and fringe benefits increased 12.1% to $43.7 mil-
lion in 2008 compared to $39.0 million in 2007, decreasing as 
a percent of revenues before reimbursements from 10.4% in 
2007 to 9.8% in 2008. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements, Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Expenses other than reimbursements, direct compensation and 
related payroll taxes and fringe benefits decreased as a percent 
of segment revenues before reimbursements from 24.4% in 
2007 to 23.2% in 2008. This percentage decrease in 2008 was 
due primarily to increased operational efficiencies which allowed 
us to service additional revenue without adding an equivalent 
amount of costs.

BROADSPIRE SEGMENT

Operating Earnings
Our Broadspire segment recorded operating earnings of  
$3.5 million, or 1.1% of segment revenues before reimburse-
ments in 2008, compared to $3.1 million, or 1.0% of segment 
revenues before reimbursements in 2007. 

Revenues before Reimbursements
Broadspire segment revenues are primarily derived from workers’ 
compensation and liability claims management, medical man-
agement for workers’ compensation, vocational rehabilitation, 
and risk management information services provided to the U.S. 
self-insured marketplace. 

Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements decreased 
3.0% to $311.8 million in 2008 compared to $321.3 million 
in 2007. Unit volumes for the Broadspire segment, measured 
principally by cases received, decreased 11.1% from 2007 to 
2008. Revenues increased by 8.1% from changes in the mix of 
services provided and in the rates charged for those services, 
resulting in a net 3.0% decrease in Broadspire segment reve-
nues before reimbursements from 2007 to 2008.

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for our Broadspire segment were $5.3 million in 2008, 
decreasing from $6.2 million in 2007. This 2008 decrease was 
primarily attributable to the declines in case volumes.

changes in the mix of services provided and in the rates 
charged for those services. An overall decrease in high-frequency, 
low severity claims increased our average revenue per claim 
in 2008. The disposition of the Netherlands subsidiary in 2008 
decreased revenues by $576,000, or 0.2%, in 2008 compared 
to 2007. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for our International Operations segment increased to 
$42.1 million in 2008 from $38.7 million in 2007. This 
increase in 2008 was due primarily to higher out-of-pocket 
reimbursable expenses related to a major Canadian service 
agreement and also due to a weaker U.S. dollar in 2008.

Case Volume Analysis
Excluding the impact of the 2008 disposition of our Netherlands 
subsidiary, International Operations unit volumes by region for 
2008 and 2007 were as follows:

(whole numbers)	 2008	 2007	 Variance

United Kingdom	  162,380	  196,658	  (17.4%)

Americas			  228,396	  	201,795	  	 13.2%

CEMEA 			   132,485	  148,003	  (10.5%)

Asia/Pacific	 	 95,490		  93,216		  2.4%

	 Total International Operations 
		  Cases Received	  618,751	  639,672		  (3.3%)

The 2008 decrease in the United Kingdom case volumes was 
due primarily to higher flood claims in the prior year. The 
2008 increase in the Americas case volumes was primarily due 
to higher claims volume in Canada from storm-related activity 
during 2008 and higher claims volume from new and existing 
clients, partially offset by a decrease in high frequency, low 
severity claims activity in Brazil. The decrease in CEMEA case 
volume was due primarily to a reduction of storm-related claims 
in the current year in France, Holland, and Germany, and a 
decrease in high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in Spain. 
The 2008 increase in Asia-Pacific case volumes was primarily 
due to high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in China and 
Singapore and an increase in weather-related activity in Australia.

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
As a percent of segment revenues before reimbursements, 
direct compensation expense including related payroll taxes 
and fringe benefits, decreased to 68.1% in 2008 from 69.1% 
in 2007. This percentage decrease in 2008 was primarily due 
to higher revenues in Canada and the U.K. and the manage-
ment of related expenses. There was an average of 4,229 
International Operations full-time equivalent employees in 
2008, up from 3,702 in 2007. 
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Operating Earnings
Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 
2008 operating earnings of $10.8 million, increasing slightly 
from $10.7 million in 2007 with the related operating margin 
increasing from 12.7% in 2007 to 14.4% in 2008 for the 
reasons discussed below.

Revenues before Reimbursements
Legal Settlement Administration revenues are primarily derived 
from securities, product liability and other legal settlements, 
and bankruptcy administration. 

Legal Settlement Administration revenues before reimburse-
ments declined 11.0% to $74.9 million in 2008, compared to 
$84.2 million in 2007. Legal Settlement Administration revenues 
are project-based and can fluctuate significantly due primarily 
to the timing of securities class action and bankruptcy settle-
ments. During 2008, we were awarded 182 new settlement 
administration assignments compared to 192 in 2007. At 
December 31, 2008 we had a backlog of awarded projects total-
ing approximately $41.9 million, compared to $45.0 million at 
December 31, 2007. Of the $41.9 million backlog at December 
31, 2008, an estimated $34.2 million is expected to be earned 
and included in revenues within the next twelve months. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for Legal Settlement Administration were $28.7 mil-
lion in 2008, increasing from $20.5 million in 2007. The increase 
in 2008 was due primarily to large noticing projects in 2008 
that required significant amounts of out-of-pocket reimburs-
able expenses. The nature and volume of work performed in 
our Legal Settlement Administration segment typically require 
more reimbursable out-of pocket expenditures than our other 
operating segments.

Transaction Volume
Legal Settlement Administration services are generally project-
based and not denominated by individual claims. Depending 
upon the nature of projects and their respective stages of com-
pletion, the volume of transactions or tasks performed in this 
segment can vary, sometimes significantly.

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Legal Settlement Administration’s direct compensation expense, 
including related payroll taxes and fringe benefits, as a percent 
of segment revenues before reimbursements, increased to 47.2% 
in 2008 compared to 46.9% in 2007. The 2008 percentage 
increase was primarily due to declines in revenues. The 2008 
decrease in the dollar amount of these expenses was due pri-
marily to the reduced number of full-time equivalent employees 
in 2008 and reduced incentive compensation expenses in 2008. 

Case Volume Analysis
Broadspire unit volumes by major service line, as measured by 
cases received, for 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

(whole numbers)	 2008	 2007	 Variance

Workers’ Compensation		  162,548		 178,782		  (9.1%)

Casualty			   73,236		  87,417		  (16.2%)

Other				    14,637		  15,645		  (6.4%)

	 Total Broadspire  
		  Cases Received		  250,421	  	281,844	  	 (11.1%)

The 2008 decline in workers’ compensation claims reflected 
a continuing decline in reported workplace injuries in the U.S. 
This decline has been a decade-long trend and has resulted 
in a loss in revenue from our existing customer base. The 
sharp increase in U.S. unemployment levels in the 2008 fourth 
quarter also negatively impacted workers’ compensation claim 
referrals. The 2008 decline in casualty claims was primarily 
due to reductions in claims from certain of our existing clients, 
partially offset by net new business gains. 

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Broadspire’s direct compensation and fringe benefits expense, 
as a percent of the related revenues before reimbursements, 
decreased to 56.3% in 2008 compared to 57.1% in 2007. The 
decrease in 2008 was primarily due to fewer full-time equiva-
lent employees in 2008 as a result of reduced case volumes. 
Average full-time equivalent employees totaled 2,362 in 2008, 
down from 2,506 in 2007. 

Broadspire segment salaries and wages decreased 4.3%, to 
$144.8 million in 2008 from $151.3 million in 2007. Payroll 
taxes and fringe benefits for our Broadspire segment totaled 
$30.6 million in 2008, decreasing 5.0% from 2007 expenses 
of $32.2 million. These 2008 decreases were primarily the 
result of the reduction in the number of full-time equivalent 
employees in 2008.

Expenses Other than Reimbursements,  
Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements, 
direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe  
benefits increased as a percent of segment revenues before 
reimbursements to 42.6% in 2008 from 41.9% in 2007. This 
percentage increase was primarily due to lower revenue, as the 
actual 2008 expenses were down year-over-year due primarily 
to lower provisions for doubtful accounts receivable and office 
operating expenses in 2008.

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION SEGMENT
As of January 1, 2008, our Strategic Warranty Services unit was 
transferred to our U.S. Property & Casualty segment from our 
Legal Settlement Administration segment. Segment results for 
prior periods have been restated to reflect this transfer. 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

36 crawford & company

claims in the northeastern and midwestern sections of the U.S. 
and completing carryover claims resulting from 2005 hurricanes 
Katrina, Rita and Wilma. There were no major hurricanes 
impacting the U.S. in 2007 or 2006, and thus 2007 revenues 
were not impacted by 2007 catastrophe-related claims or 
carryover claims from 2006 catastrophes. U.S. Property & 
Casualty revenues in 2006 included $6.5 million produced by 
our former investigation services business. Our former investi-
gation services business was sold in the 2006 third quarter. 
Revenues in 2006 also included $2.3 million produced by our 
former subrogation services business. The assets and opera-
tions of the subrogation services business were sold in the 
2007 first quarter. 

U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before reimbursements 
declined a net of 14.4% from 2006 to 2007 due to the following 
factors. In 2007, U.S. Property & Casualty segment revenues 
declined 3.4% from 2006 due to the sale of our former sub-
rogation services and investigation services businesses and 
declined 14.3% from changes in the mix of services provided 
and in the rates charged for those services. Segment unit 
volume, measured principally by cases received and exclud-
ing claims associated with the sold investigations service 
and subrogation businesses, increased 3.3% from 2006 to 
2007. The 2007 decrease in revenue produced by our catastro-
phe adjusters and the increase in referrals of high-frequency, 
low-severity vehicle claims from our U.S. insurance company 
clients decreased our average revenue per claim in 2007 
compared to 2006. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment were 
$10.8 million in 2007, decreasing slightly from $10.9 million  
in 2006. 

Case Volume Analysis
Excluding dispositions, U.S. Property & Casualty unit volumes 
by major service line, as measured by cases received, for 2007 
and 2006 were as follows:

(whole numbers)	  2007	 2006	 Variance

Property		   168,847		  164,300		  2.8%

Vehicle			    110,436		  101,836		   8.4%

Casualty			    95,478		  103,988		   (8.2%)

Warranty Services		  55,406		  46,536		  19.1%

Catastrophe Services		   12,012		   23,208		  (48.2%)

Workers’ Compensation		  21,296		  17,827		  19.5%

Other				     9,431	  	 39		   nm

	 Total U.S. Property & Casualty  
		  Cases Received	  	472,906		  457,734		   3.3%

nm= not meaningful

There was an average of 336 full-time equivalent employees in 
2008, compared to an average of 412 in 2007. 

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages, includ-
ing incentive compensation, decreased 10.1% to $31.0 million 
in 2008 from $34.5 million in 2007. This 2008 decrease was 
the result of lower incentive compensation cost as a result 
of lower revenues and the decrease in the number of full-time 
equivalent employees. Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for 
Legal Settlement Administration totaled $4.4 million in 
2008, decreasing 12.0% from 2007 expenses of $5.0 million. 
This 2008 decrease was primarily the result of the decrease 
in the number of full-time equivalent employees in 2008. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements, Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Legal Settlement Administration expenses other than reim-
bursements, direct compensation and related payroll taxes 
and fringe benefits decreased as a percent of related segment 
revenues before reimbursements to 38.4% in 2008 from 40.4% 
in 2007. The 2008 decrease was primarily due to changes in 
the utilization of outsourced service providers.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended 
December 31, 2006
U.S. PROPERTY & CASUALTY SEGMENT
In the third quarter of 2006, we sold our investigation services 
business. See “Results of Consolidated Operations – Other 
Gains and Expenses” above.

Operating Earnings
Operating earnings for our U.S. Property & Casualty segment 
decreased from $18.2 million in 2006 to $7.6 million in 2007, 
which represented an operating margin of 3.9% in 2007 com-
pared to 8.1% in 2006. These declines in 2007 were primarily 
due to the decreases in revenues and incremental profits pro-
duced by our catastrophe adjusters and lower casualty claim 
frequency, as discussed below.

Revenues before Reimbursements
U.S. Property & Casualty revenues before reimbursements 
decreased $193.0 million in 2007 compared to $225.3 mil-
lion in 2006. This decline in 2007 was due primarily to lower 
casualty and catastrophic claims activity, the sale of our former 
subrogation services business in the first quarter of 2007, and 
the sale of our former investigation services business in the 
third quarter of 2006. The gains on the sales of these two 
businesses were not included in U.S. Property & Casualty’s 
operating earnings. Revenues generated by our catastrophe 
adjusters totaled $8.3 million in 2007 compared to $24.3 mil-
lion in 2006. In 2006, we were responding to catastrophic 
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INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT

Operating Earnings
International Operations’ operating earnings increased to 
$24.7 million in 2007, an increase of 70.6% from 2006 operat-
ing earnings of $14.5 million. This improvement reflected an 
increase in the operating margin from 4.8% in 2006 to 6.5% 
in 2007. 

Revenues before Reimbursements
Revenues before reimbursements from our International 
Operations segment totaled $376.6 million in 2007, a 24.0% 
increase from the $303.7 million in 2006. Compared to 2006, 
the U.S. dollar was weaker in 2007 against most major foreign 
currencies, resulting in a net exchange rate benefit in 2007 
of 9.0%. Excluding the benefit of exchange rate fluctuations, 
International Operations revenues would have been $349.4 mil-
lion in 2007, reflecting growth in revenues on a constant dollar 
basis of 15.0%. Excluding acquisitions, International Operations 
unit volume, measured principally by cases received, increased 
28.3% in 2007 compared to 2006. This growth primarily 
reflected increased case referrals in each geographic region 
of our International Operations segment in 2007. Revenues 
before reimbursements decreased 15.7% from changes in the 
mix of services provided and in the rates charged for those 
services. An increase in high-frequency, low-severity claims 
decreased our average revenue per claim in 2007. The acqui-
sition of SLS during the 2006 fourth quarter increased revenues 
by 2.4% or $7.3 million in 2007 as compared to 2006.

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for our International Operations segment increased 
to $38.7 million in 2007 from $29.6 million in 2006. This 
increase was due primarily to higher revenues and claims vol-
ume in the U.K. and Canada and also due to a weaker U.S. 
dollar during 2007.

Case Volume Analysis
Excluding the impact of acquisitions and dispositions, Inter-
national Operations case volumes by region for 2007 and 2006 
were as follows:

(whole numbers)	 2007	 2006	 Variance

United Kingdom		  192,535		 161,285		  19.4%

Americas 			   201,795		 148,111		  36.2%

CEMEA 	 			   149,569		 112,673		  32.7%

Asia/Pacific		  88,567		  71,071		  24.6%

	 Total International Operations 
		  Cases Received		  632,466	  	493,140	  	 28.3%

The 2007 increase in property claims was due to increases in 
high-frequency, low-severity claims. The 2007 increase in vehicle 
claims was primarily due to additional claims referred to us 
under an outsourcing contract entered into during 2006. The 
2007 decline in casualty claims was due primarily to a reduc-
tion in claims from our existing clients. The 2007 increase in 
warranty services claims was due to an increase in claims from 
existing and new clients. The 2007 decline in catastrophe ser-
vices claims was due to an overall lack of catastrophic events  
in 2007 in the U.S. compared to 2006, which included cata-
strophic claims in the northeastern and southeastern sections 
of the U.S. and carryover claims resulting from the 2005 hurri-
canes. Workers’ compensation claims increased in 2007 due 
to increased referrals for outside investigations from our 
Broadspire segment.

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
U.S. Property & Casualty direct compensation and fringe  
benefits expense, as a percent of the related revenues before 
reimbursements, increased to 65.4% in 2007 compared to 
63.1% in 2006. This percentage increase primarily reflected 
lower staff utilization in this segment during 2007. There was 
an average of 1,746 full-time equivalent employees (including 
62 catastrophe adjusters) in 2007 compared to an average of 
2,074 (including 147 catastrophe adjusters) in 2006. The num-
ber of employees for the 2006 period included 84 employees 
in our former investigation services business and 26 employ-
ees in our former subrogation services business. The assets 
and operations of the investigation services business were 
sold in 2006 and the assets and operations of the subrogation 
services business were sold in 2007.

U.S. Property & Casualty salaries and wages decreased 11.3%, 
to $103.3 million in 2007 from $116.5 million in 2006. This 
2007 decrease was the result of the reduced staffing levels in 
response to lower revenues and administrative efficiencies 
generated from a new claims management system (CMS2) 
introduced during 2007. Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for 
U.S. Property & Casualty totaled $22.9 million in 2007, 
decreasing 10.9% from 2006 costs of $25.7 million. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements, Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits
U.S. Property & Casualty expenses other than reimbursements, 
direct compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe 
benefits increased as a percent of U.S. Property & Casualty rev-
enues before reimbursements to 30.7% in 2007 from 28.8% in 
2006. This percentage increase was primarily due to a decrease 
in revenue in 2007, even though the actual dollar amounts of 
these expenses decreased in 2007. The decline in the actual 
dollar amount of these expenses in 2007 reflected our efforts 
to reduce costs in light of reduced revenues and was also due 
to lower office operating expenses resulting from the reduced 
number of employees in 2007. 
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BROADSPIRE SEGMENT

Operating Earnings
Our Broadspire segment recorded operating earnings of $3.1 mil-
lion, or 1.0% of segment revenues before reimbursements in 
2007, compared to an operating loss of $21.6 million or 12.4% 
of segment revenues before reimbursements in 2006. Operating 
results for our Broadspire segment only include BMSI results 
after the date which we acquired them, October 31, 2006. The 
2007 improvements reflected incremental operating earnings 
generated by the acquired BMSI business and cost reduction 
initiatives started in November 2006 and continued into 2007. 
We took significant steps to reduce operating expenses in the 
combined Broadspire operations, primarily through staff reduc-
tions and consolidating existing leased office facilities.

Revenues before Reimbursements
Broadspire segment revenues before reimbursements increased 
83.7% to $321.3 million in 2007 compared to $174.9 million in 
2006. The acquisition of BMSI contributed $192.1 million and 
$33.1 million in revenues in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our 
acquisition of BMSI increased Broadspire segment revenues by 
109.8% in 2007. Excluding the impact of the BMSI acquisition 
on 2007 cases received, unit volumes for the Broadspire seg-
ment, measured principally by cases received, decreased 
15.4% from 2006 to 2007. Revenues decreased by 10.7% 
from changes in the mix of services provided by our former 
Crawford Integrated Services business (now part of the com-
bined Broadspire segment) and in the rates charged for those 
services, resulting in a total 83.7% increase in Broadspire seg-
ment revenues before reimbursements from 2006 to 2007.

Case Volume Analysis
Excluding the impact of the BMSI acquisition, Broadspire unit 
volumes by major service line, as measured by cases received, 
for 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

(whole numbers)	 2007	 2006	 Variance

Workers’ Compensation		  76,807		  91,936		  (16.5%)

Casualty			   67,493		  74,942		  (9.9%)

Other				    15,645		  22,266		  (29.7%)

	 Total Broadspire  
		  Cases Received		  159,945		 189,144		  (15.4%)

The decline in workers’ compensation and casualty claims in 
2007 was primarily due to reductions in claims from our existing 
clients, only partially offset by net new business gains, and 
reflected a continuing decline in reported workplace injuries 
in the U.S. The acquisition of BMSI resulted in 121,899 claims 
referred to us in 2007 which are not included in the above 
table. The decline in other claims in 2007 was primarily due 
to a decline in utilization review cases which is typically con-
gruent with workers’ compensation case trends.

The increase in case volume in the U.K. during 2007 was due to 
an increase in claims from new client agreements entered into 
during 2006 and 2007 and significant claims volume generated 
by the U.K. flooding events in June and July 2007. The increase 
in the Americas case volume was primarily due to increased 
business in Canada from new and existing clients, and an 
increase in high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in Brazil 
and Peru. The increase in CEMEA case volume was primarily 
due to weather-related claims in the Netherlands and increased 
volume from existing clients in Belgium, Germany, Norway, and 
Sweden. The Asia/Pacific increase in case volume was primarily 
due to high-frequency, low-severity claims activity in Singapore 
and an increase in weather-related activity, primarily in 
Australia and Malaysia. 

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
As a percent of segment revenues before reimbursements, 
direct compensation expense, including related payroll taxes 
and fringe benefits, decreased slightly to 69.1% in 2007 from 
70.0% in 2006. This percentage decrease was primarily due to 
increased utilization of staff as a result of the increases in the 
number of cases received. There was an average of 3,702 full-
time equivalent employees in 2007, up from 3,439 in 2006. 

Salaries and wages of International Operations segment  
personnel increased 24.9% to $221.0 million in 2007 com-
pared to $177.0 million in 2006, increasing as a percent 
of revenues before reimbursements from 58.3% in 2006 to 
58.7% in 2007. This increase was primarily related to the 
increase in employees necessary to service the increased 
revenues resulting from new service agreements and due 
to a weaker U.S. dollar during 2007. Payroll taxes and fringe 
benefits increased 9.9% to $39.0 million in 2007 compared 
to $35.5 million in 2006, decreasing as a percent of revenues 
before reimbursements from 11.7% in 2006 to 10.4% in 2007. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements,  
Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Expenses other than reimbursements, direct compensation and 
related payroll taxes and fringe benefits decreased as a percent 
of segment revenues before reimbursements from 25.2% in 
2006 to 24.4% in 2007. This percentage decrease in 2007 
was due primarily to increased revenues without correspond-
ing increases in expenses as a result of operating efficiencies 
which allowed us to service additional revenue without adding 
an equivalent amount of costs. 



392008 annual report

revenues are project-based and can fluctuate significantly 
period-to-period. During 2007, we were awarded 192 new set-
tlement administration assignments compared to 200 in 2006. 
At December 31, 2007 we had a backlog of projects awarded 
totaling approximately $45.0 million, compared to $34.1 million 
at December 31, 2006. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for Legal Settlement Administration were $20.5 mil-
lion in 2007, decreasing from $36.7 million in 2006. This 2007 
decrease was primarily attributable to lower Legal Settlement 
Administration revenues in 2007 and higher out-of-pocket 
costs in 2006 related to certain securities class action settle-
ments that we were administering. The nature and volume of 
work performed in our Legal Settlement Administration seg-
ment typically requires more reimbursable out-of-pocket 
expenditures than our other operating segments.

Transaction Volume
Legal Settlement Administration services are generally project-
based and not denominated by individual claims. Depending 
upon the nature of projects and their respective stages of com-
pletion, the volume of transactions or tasks performed in this 
segment can vary, sometimes significantly.

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Legal Settlement Administration’s direct compensation expense, 
including related payroll taxes and fringe benefits, as a per-
cent of segment revenues before reimbursements, increased to 
46.9% in 2007 compared to 37.1% in 2006. The 2007 percent-
age increase was primarily due to an increase in operating 
capacity during 2007 caused by lower class action settlement 
activity. Also in 2007, we utilized internal staff resources to per-
form more tasks related to our service delivery and did not use 
outsourced service providers to the extent that we had in prior 
periods. There was an average of 412 full-time equivalent 
employees in this segment in 2007, compared to an average 
of 474 in 2006. 

Legal Settlement Administration salaries and wages, including 
incentive compensation, decreased 10.0%, to $34.5 million in 
2007 from $38.3 million in 2006. This decrease was primarily 
the result of lower incentive compensation expense as the 
result of lower revenues and operating earnings. Payroll taxes 
and fringe benefits for Legal Settlement Administration totaled 
$5.0 million in 2007, increasing 11.1% from 2006 expenses of 
$4.5 million. The increase in 2007 was due primarily to higher 
costs for employee benefits. 

Reimbursed Expenses Included in Total Revenues
Reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses included in total 
revenues for the Broadspire segment were $6.2 million in 2007, 
increasing from $3.6 million in 2006. This increase was primar-
ily attributable to increased reimbursements related to the 
acquired business of BMSI. 

Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Broadspire’s direct compensation and fringe benefits expense, 
as a percent of the related revenues before reimbursements, 
decreased to 57.1% in 2007 compared to 65.8% in 2006. This 
percentage decrease primarily reflected the synergies created 
by the integration associated with the acquisition of BMSI. 
These synergies reduced overall expenses by approximately 
$30.4 million in 2007, with no negative impact on revenues. 
Average full-time equivalent employees, including the acquired 
BMSI, totaled 2,506 in 2007, down from 2,781 in 2006. 

Broadspire segment salaries and wages increased 58.6%, 
to $151.3 million in 2007 from $95.4 million in 2006. This 
increase was primarily the result of additional compensation 
expense of $76.1 million in 2007 associated with the acquired 
BMSI business. Payroll taxes and fringe benefits for the 
Broadspire segment totaled $32.2 million in 2007, increasing 
64.3% from 2006 costs of $19.6 million, due primarily to the 
full-year impact of the BMSI acquisition, which added $17.5 mil-
lion in payroll taxes and fringe benefits during 2007. 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements,  
Direct Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Broadspire segment expenses other than reimbursements, direct 
compensation and related payroll taxes and fringe benefits 
decreased as a percent of segment revenues before reimburse-
ments to 41.9% in 2007 from 46.6% in 2006. This percentage 
decrease was primarily due to the cost reduction initiatives 
undertaken in connection with the acquisition of BMSI. As part 
of those cost reduction initiatives, through December 31, 2007 
we had closed and consolidated approximately 26 leased 
offices throughout the U.S.

LEGAL SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATION SEGMENT

Operating Earnings
Our Legal Settlement Administration segment reported 2007 
operating earnings of $10.7 million, decreasing from $21.1 million 
in 2006 for the reasons discussed below, with the related operat-
ing margin declining from 18.2% in 2006 to 12.7% in 2007.

Revenues before Reimbursements
Legal Settlement Administration revenues before reimburse-
ments declined 27.1% to $84.2 million in 2007 compared 
to $115.6 million in 2006. Legal Settlement Administration 
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We continue the ongoing monitoring of our customers’ ability 
to pay us for the services that we render to them. However, 
we have not experienced recent increases in bad-debt-related 
charge-offs of our accounts receivable. Based on historical 
results, we currently believe there is a low likelihood that 
writeoffs of our accounts receivable will have a material 
impact on our financial results. However, if one or more 
of our key customers files bankruptcy or otherwise becomes 
unable to make required payments to us, or if overall eco-
nomic conditions continue to deteriorate, we may need to 
make material provisions in the future to increase our allow-
ance for accounts receivable.

Our International Operations segment exposes us to foreign 
currency exchange rate changes that can impact translations of 
foreign-denominated assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and 
future earnings and cash flows from transactions denominated 
in different currencies. Changes in the relative values of non-U.S. 
currencies to the U.S. dollar affect our financial results. Based 
on recent increases in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to 
the other major currencies in the locations in which we do busi-
ness, we expect currency translations to have a negative impact 
on our revenues and operating earnings in 2009 compared to 
other recent years. 

At December 31, 2008, our working capital balance (current 
assets less current liabilities) was approximately $69.7 million, 
a decrease of $21.5 million from the working capital balance 
at December 31, 2007. The primary driver of this decrease at 
December 31, 2008 was a net reduction of $58.6 million of 
accounts receivable and unbilled revenues, offset partially 
by an increase of $22.2 million in cash and cash equivalents. 
During 2008, $24.6 million of cash was used to fund our 
defined benefit pension plans. The liabilities on our consoli-
dated balance sheet for the underfunded portions of these 
pension plans are reported as noncurrent liabilities, thus any 
cash contributions to these pension plans will reduce current 
assets with no corresponding reduction in current liabilities. 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2008 totaled $73.1 mil-
lion, increasing $22.2 million from $50.9 million at the end 
of 2007. 

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities increased by $47.7 mil-
lion in 2008, from $23.3 million in 2007 to $71.0 million in 
2008. This increase was due primarily to higher net income 
and improved receivables management, offset partially by 
increased cash contributions to our underfunded defined 
benefit pension plans. In 2008, we reduced the average 
days-sales-outstanding in billed and unbilled accounts receiv-
able by 19 days. The 2008 improvement in cash flow from 
operations was net of $17.4 million in additional contributions 
to our frozen U.S. defined benefit plan. In 2009, we plan 

Expenses Other than Reimbursements, Direct 
Compensation and Fringe Benefits
Legal Settlement Administration expenses other than reim-
bursements, direct compensation and related payroll taxes 
and fringe benefits decreased as a percent of related segment 
revenues before reimbursements to 40.4% in 2007 from 44.7% 
in 2006. This decrease was due to the lower class action activ-
ity during 2007 and our decision to utilize more internal staff 
resources for certain tasks as opposed to using more out-
sourced service providers. 

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES,  
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
We continue to review current economic conditions and their 
potential implications for us, including, among other things, 
estimating fair value of our financial instruments, asset impair-
ments, liquidity, compliance with our debt covenants, and 
relationships with our customers. 

Currently, we believe that all of our material financial assets 
subject to fair value accounting have readily observable market 
prices. Most all of our liquid assets are invested in cash and 
cash equivalents consisting of payable-on-demand bank deposit 
accounts and short-term money market funds. However, the 
recent financial crisis affecting the banking system and financial 
markets and the going-concern threat to banks and other finan-
cial institutions have resulted in significant market volatility. As 
a result, we intend to continue to monitor these assets for any 
changes in marketability. While we are not aware of any losses, 
or expected losses, related to these bank deposits or money 
market funds, in the U.S. or abroad, we cannot provide any 
assurances that further market events will not materially 
adversely impact the values of such assets. 

We are not aware of any additional restrictions placed on 
us, or being considered to be placed on us, related to our 
ability to access capital, such as borrowing against the revolv-
ing credit portion of our Credit Agreement. We do not rely on 
repurchase agreements or the commercial paper market to 
meet our short-term or long-term funding needs. 

In May 2007, we entered into a three-year interest rate swap 
agreement that effectively converts the LIBOR-based portion of 
the interest rate under our Credit Agreement (defined below) on 
an initial notional amount of $175.0 million of our floating-rate 
debt to a fixed rate of 5.25%. We are exposed to counterparty 
credit risk for nonperformance and, in the event of nonperfor-
mance by the counterparty, to market risk for changes in 
interest rates. This counterparty was recently acquired by 
another entity. We have evaluated the credit worthiness of the 
acquirer and we do not anticipate that such transaction will 
negatively impact the credit worthiness of the counterparty.
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services business. Sources of cash from investing activities in 
2006 also included the receipt of an $8.0 million deposit from 
the sale of our former corporate headquarters and $3.0 million 
from the sale of our former investigations services business.

Cash Used in Financing Activities
Cash used in financing activities was $12.2 million in 2008. In 
2008, we repaid a net of $14.2 million of short-term and long-
term borrowings. 

Cash used in financing activities was $17.2 million in 2007. In 
2007, we repaid a net of $17.0 million of short-term and long-
term borrowings. 

Cash provided by financing activities was $135.8 million in 
2006, due primarily to the debt restructuring activities related 
to the financing of the BMSI acquisition of $152.6 million and 
partially offset by the payment of $8.9 million in cash dividends 
to shareholders in 2006. In 2008 and 2007, no dividends were 
paid. As a percentage of net income, cash dividends totaled 
59.1% in 2006.

On October 31, 2006, in connection with the BMSI acquisition, 
we terminated our former credit agreements and replaced them 
with a new secured credit agreement, as amended, that con-
tains a $210.0 million term loan and a $100.0 million revolving 
credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”). For the year ended 
December 31, 2006, total short-term and long-term borrowings, 
net of repayments, increased by $147.4 million. Cash dividends 
to shareholders in 2006 approximated $8.9 million. 

In February 2009, we amended the Credit Agreement. The 
amendment was undertaken to allow us to enhance certain 
operational and financial aspects of our business, including, 
among other things, undertaking an internal corporate realign-
ment of certain of our operating subsidiaries and assets. A 
substantial portion of this realignment has been completed. 
This corporate realignment did not impact the composition of 
our four operating segments. In addition, the amendment pro-
vides us with the ability to repurchase and retire, from time to 
time through December 2010, up to $25.0 million of our out-
standing term debt under the Credit Agreement. The amendment 
did not change the base interest rate, interest rate spreads, 
covenants, or other key terms in the Credit Agreement.

During 2008, 2007, and 2006, we did not repurchase 
any shares of our Class A or Class B Common Stock. As of 
December 31, 2008, 705,863 shares remain to be repurchased 
under the discretionary 1999 share repurchase program autho-
rized by our Board of Directors. We believe it is unlikely that 
we will repurchase shares under this program in the foreseeable 
future due to the underfunded status of our U.S. and U.K. 
defined benefit pension plans and due to the covenants and 
restrictions associated with our Credit Agreement. 

to make contributions of $9.0 million to our U.S. defined 
contribution retirement plans, $10.3 million to our U.S. defined 
benefit pension plan, and $4.8 million to our U.K. defined 
benefit pension plans. Interest payments on our debt were 
$19.0 million in 2008, and tax payments, net of refunds, were 
$8.0 million in 2008. 

Cash provided by operating activities decreased by $29.4 million 
in 2007, from $52.7 million in 2006 to $23.3 million in 2007. 
This decrease in cash from operations in 2007 compared 
to 2006 was primarily due to costs to service the growth in 
unbilled revenues, costs to service the net decrease in deferred 
revenues, and an increase in interest paid on our debt. The 
2007 growth in unbilled revenues was primarily in the U.K. 
and was related to the significant increase in claims from the 
June and July 2007 flood events. The 2007 decrease in deferred 
revenues was primarily due to the ongoing completion of 
open claims assumed in the 2006 BMSI acquisition, net of 
additional deferred revenues generated by new claims referred 
to us subsequent to the date of the BMSI acquisition. Interest 
payments on our debt were $21.2 million in 2007 compared to 
$6.3 million in 2006. Income tax payments, net of refunds, in 
2007 were $2.3 million compared to payments of $10.9 million 
in 2006. During 2007, we made cash contributions of $7.3 mil-
lion to our U.S. defined contribution retirement plan, $549,000 
to our frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan, and $6.4 mil-
lion to our U.K. defined benefit pension plans. This compares 
to 2006 contributions of $6.8 million to our U.S. defined 
contribution plan and $4.1 million to our U.K. defined benefit 
pension plans. We were not required to make any contributions 
in 2006 to our frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan. 

Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities increased by $8.9 million 
in 2008, from $19.1 million in 2007 to $28.0 million in 2008. 
Cash used to acquire property and equipment and capitalized 
software, including capitalization of costs for development of 
internal-use software, was $32.0 million in 2008 compared to 
$28.1 million in 2007. Net cash proceeds from the sale of the 
Netherlands subsidiary were $4.3 million in 2008. We estimate 
our property and equipment additions in 2009, including capi-
talized software, will approximate $31 million. 

Cash used in investing activities decreased by $155.5 million 
in 2007, from $174.6 million in 2006 to $19.1 million in 2007. 
During 2006, cash payments related to the BMSI and e-Triage 
acquisitions in the U.S. and SLS in the U.K. used $162.5 mil-
lion in cash. Cash used to acquire property and equipment, 
including capitalized software, increased $5.4 million from 
$22.7 million in 2006 to $28.1 million in 2007. During 2007, 
we sold a short-term investment for $5.0 million and also 
received $5.0 million from the sale of our former subrogation 
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September 30, 2009 and (ii) 2.50 to 1.00 from and after 
December 31, 2009. At December 31, 2008, our actual leverage 
ratio was 2.05, compared to the maximum of 3.00 allowed 
by our Credit Agreement. As noted above, the maximum 
allowed for the leverage ratio will drop from 3.00 to 2.50 at 
December 31, 2009. Based on our financial plans we expect 
to remain in compliance throughout 2009. However, the differ-
ence between the leverage ratio we project to achieve and 
the maximum allowed leverage ratio will tighten as a result of 
the decrease in the maximum allowed from 3.00 to 2.50. Our 
compliance with the leverage ratio is particularly sensitive to 
changes in our EBITDA, as defined in our Credit Agreement, 
and if our financial plans for 2009 or other future periods 
do not meet our current projections, we could fail to remain 
in compliance with this or other financial covenants in our 
Credit Agreement. 

Our compliance with the leverage ratio covenant is also sensi-
tive to changes in our level of consolidated total funded debt, 
as defined in our Credit Agreement. In addition to short- and 
long-term borrowings, capital leases, and bank overdrafts, con-
solidated total funded debt includes letters of credit which can 
fluctuate based on our business requirements. An increase in 
borrowings under our Credit Agreement could negatively impact 
our leverage ratio, unless those increased borrowings are off-
set by a corresponding increase in our EBITDA. In addition, a 
reduction in EBITDA generated by us in the future could limit 
our ability to utilize available credit under the revolving credit 
facility contained in our Credit Agreement, which could nega-
tively impact our ability to fund our current operations or make 
needed capital investments.

We believe our current financial resources, together with funds 
generated from operations and existing and potential borrow-
ing capabilities, will be sufficient to maintain our current 
operations for the next 12 months. 

Other Matters Concerning Liquidity and  
Capital Resources
As a component of the Credit Agreement, we maintain a  
committed $100.0 million revolving credit line with a syndica-
tion of lenders in order to meet seasonal working capital 
requirements and other financing needs that may arise. This 
revolving credit line expires on October 30, 2011. As a compo-
nent of this credit line, we maintain a letter of credit facility 
to satisfy certain of our own contractual obligations. Including 
$19.9 million and $19.8 million committed under the letter of 
credit facility, the balance of our unused line of credit totaled 
$68.3 million and $52.7 million at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. Our short-term debt obligations typically 
peak during the first quarter of each year due to the annual 
payment of incentive compensation, contributions to retirement 
plans, and certain other recurring payments and generally 
decline during the balance of the year. Short-term borrowings 
outstanding, including bank overdraft facilities, as of December 
31, 2008 totaled $13.4 million, decreasing from $29.4 million 
at the end of 2007. Long-term borrowings outstanding, includ-
ing current installments, totaled $183.5 million as of December 
31, 2008, compared to $185.9 million at December 31, 2007. 
We have historically used the proceeds from our long-term bor-
rowings to finance, among other things, business acquisitions. 

As disclosed in Note 4 to our accompanying consolidated 
financial statements, we have three principal financial cove-
nants in our Credit Agreement. Of the three financial covenants 
contained in our Credit Agreement, we believe the leverage 
ratio covenant is potentially the most restrictive. This covenant 
requires us to comply with a maximum leverage ratio, defined 
in our Credit Agreement as the ratio of consolidated total 
funded debt to earnings before interest expense, income 
taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation 
expense, and certain other charges (“EBITDA”), of no more 
than (i) 3.00 to 1.00 from December 31, 2008 through 
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Approximately $10.5 million of operating lease obligations 
included in the table above are expected to be funded by  
sublessors under existing sublease agreements. 

As indicated above, we are required to make substantial future 
interest payments based on variable interest rates for borrow-
ings outstanding under our Credit Agreement. Based on 
interest rates and borrowings at December 31, 2008, the pre-
ceding table shows estimated future interest payments over 
the remaining term of the term loan and revolving credit facility 
thereunder, after considering the impact of required minimum 
quarterly principal payments on the term loan facility. The 
actual amounts of interest that we will ultimately pay will 
likely differ from the amounts presented above due to future 
changes in interest rates, which we are unable to predict, and 
possibly due to any accelerated principal payments that we 
may voluntarily make. 

At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $3.0 million of 
unrecognized income tax benefits. We cannot reasonably esti-
mate when all of these unrecognized income tax benefits may 
be settled. However, it is reasonably possible that a reduction 
in the range of $50,000 to $300,000 of unrecognized income 
tax benefits may occur within the next twelve months as a 
result of projected resolutions of income tax uncertainties.

Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2008, the impact that our contractual obligations, including estimated interest payments, are expected to have 
on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods is as follows:

(Note references below refer to the note in the accompanying consolidated financial statements) 
	 Payments Due by Period

(in thousands)	  One year or less	 2 to 3 years	 4 to 5 years	 After 5 years	 Total

Operating lease obligations (Note 5)	 $	47,715	 $	 70,199	 $	 43,830	 $ 	 61,551	 $	223,295

Long-term debt, including current portions (Note 4)		  2,146		  4,385		  176,475	  	 –		  183,006

Estimated interest rate swap settlements (Note 1)		  3,855		  1,216		  –		  –		  5,071

Capital lease obligations (Note 4)		   138		   250		  83		  13		   484

Revolving credit facility (Note 4)		  –		  11,843		  –		  –		 11,843 

Estimated earnout payments for business acquisitions (Note 12)		   4,988		   791		  –		  –		   5,779

		  Total, before interest payments		  58,842		  88,684		  220,388		  61,564		  429,478

Estimated interest payments for:

	 Term loan		  7,222		  14,206		  12,729		  –		  34,157

	 Revolving credit facility		  1,181		  2,165		  –		  –		  3,346

		  Total estimated interest payments		   8,403 		  16,371		  12,729		  –	  	 37,503 

		  Total contractual obligations	 $	67,245	 $	105,055	 $	233,117	 $	 61,564	 $	466,981

Defined Benefit Pension Funding and Cost
Future cash funding of our defined benefit pension plans will 
depend largely on future investment performance, interest 
rates, changes to mortality tables, and regulatory requirements. 
Effective December 31, 2002, we froze our U.S. defined benefit 
pension plan. The aggregate deficit in the funded status of 
our defined benefit pension plans totaled $183.3 million 
and $80.8 million at the end of 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
The 2008 increase in the funding deficit of our defined benefit 
pension plans primarily resulted from the declines in the values 
of equity securities the plans are invested in. The asset values 
of our pension plans were negatively impacted by the overall 
declines in global equity markets during 2008. For 2009, we 
expect to make contributions of approximately $10.3 million and 
$4.8 million to our U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension plans, 
respectively. During 2008, we made contributions of $17.9 mil-
lion and $5.4 million to our U.S. and U.K. defined benefit 
pension plans, respectively. 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) for our defined benefit pen-
sion plans totaled $(787,000), $7.9 million, and $9.0 million in 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Net periodic pension costs 
for 2009 are expected to be approximately $14.6 million for our 
U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension plans. At December 31, 
2008, we determined that almost all plan participants in our 
frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan are inactive as defined 
in SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS 87”), 
as less than 3.0% are still accruing meaningful vesting service. 
Accordingly, as required by SFAS 87, beginning in 2009 actu-
arial gains and losses for our frozen U.S. defined benefit 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

44 crawford & company

Contingent Payments
We have in the past structured certain business acquisitions 
to include earnout payments, which payments are contingent 
upon the acquired entity reaching certain revenue and earn-
ings targets. The amount of the contingent payments and 
length of the earnout period vary for each acquisition, and 
the ultimate payments when made will vary, as they are 
dependent on future events. Based on levels of revenues and 
earnings through 2008, estimated additional payments under 
existing agreements with earnout provisions approximate 
$5.8 million through 2010, as follows: 2009 – $4,988,000 
and 2010 – $791,000. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At December 31, 2008, we were not party to any off-balance 
sheet arrangements, other than operating leases, which 
could materially impact our operations, financial condition, 
or cash flows. 

We maintain funds in trusts to administer claims for certain 
clients. These funds are not available for our general operating 
activities and, as such, have not been recorded in the accompa-
nying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of these funds 
totaled $246.3 million and $247.1 million at December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. In addition, our Legal Settlement 
Administration segment administers funds in noncustodial 
accounts at financial institutions that totaled $1.0 billion 
and $207.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007. We have 
concluded that we do not have material off-balance sheet 
financial risk related to these funds at December 31, 2008.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations addresses our consolidated financial 
statements, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
The preparation of these financial statements requires us to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these 
estimates and judgments based upon historical experience and 
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under then-
existing circumstances. The results of these evaluations form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions. 

pension plan will be amortized over the average future lifetime 
of the inactive participants (24.3 years) rather than the remain-
ing service lives of the active participants (7.8 years). This 
change in estimate will reduce net periodic pension cost by 
$7.1 million in 2009 and is reflected in the 2009 expected net 
periodic pension costs amount as discussed above. Cash contri-
butions to our U.S. defined contribution plans of approximately 
$9.0 million are expected to be made in the 2009 first quarter. 

In 2006, the Pension Protection Act of 2006 (“PPA”) was 
signed into U.S. law. PPA, among others things, introduced 
new funding requirements for our frozen U.S. defined benefit 
pension plan and impacted financial reporting for these plans. 
The requirements of the Act were effective for plan years begin-
ning after December 31, 2007. PPA was amended by the Worker, 
Retiree, and Employer Recovery Act of 2008 (“WRERA”). Our 
frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan was underfunded by 
$151.1 million at December 31, 2008 based on an accumulated 
benefit obligation of $377.5 million. Based on current assump-
tions used of 6.70% for the interest rate to discount plan 
liabilities and 8.50% for the expected long-term rate of return 
on the plan’s assets, we estimate that we will have to make 
the following annual minimum contributions over the next 
seven years to our frozen U.S. defined benefit pension plan 
in order to meet the funding requirements under the PPA and 
WRERA acts: 
 	 Estimated Minimum 

Funding Requirement
Year Funded 	 (in thousands)
2009 							       $	10,300

2010 								        34,000

2011 	  							       36,000

2012 								        32,300

2013 	  							       30,800

2014								        28,200

2015 								        9,900

Future Dividend Payments
The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our 
Board of Directors in light of all relevant factors, including any 
funding requirements for our defined benefit pension plans, 
required or other considered repayments of outstanding 
borrowings under our Credit Agreement, future levels of cash 
generated by our operating activities, general business condi-
tions, and restrictions related to the covenants contained in our 
Credit Agreement. The covenants in our Credit Agreement cur-
rently limit dividend payments to shareholders to $12.5 million 
in any 12-month period, and permit dividends only if certain 
leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios are maintained.
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claim closing rates since we are obligated to handle these 
claims to their ultimate conclusion with no additional fees for 
long-lived claims.

Based upon our historical averages, we close approximately 
99% of all cases referred to us under lifetime claim service 
arrangements within five years from the date of referral. 
Also, within that five-year period, the percentage of claims 
remaining open in any one particular year has remained 
relatively consistent from period to period. Each quarter we 
evaluate our historical claim closing rates by major line of 
insurance coverage and make adjustments as necessary. Any 
changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which 
they are determined.

As of December 31, 2008, deferred revenues related to lifetime 
claim handling arrangements approximated $77.8 million. If the 
rate at which we close cases changes, the amount of revenues 
recognized within a period could be affected. In addition, given 
the competitive environment in which we operate, we may 
be unable to raise our prices to offset the additional expense 
associated with handling longer-lived claims should such 
case closing rates change. The change in our first-year case 
closing rates over the last ten years has ranged from a 
decrease of 3.3% to an increase of 1.9%, and has averaged 
1.2%. A 1% change is a reasonable likely change in our esti-
mate based on historical data. Absent an increase in per-claim 
fees from our clients, a 1% decrease in claim closing rates for 
lifetime claims would have resulted in the deferral of additional 
revenues of approximately $1.8 million, $2.1 million, and 
$2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively. If our average claim closing rates for 
lifetime claims increased by 1%, we would have recognized 
additional revenues of approximately $1.9 million, $1.8 million, 
and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated 
losses resulting from the inability of our clients to make 
required payments and adjustments to invoiced amounts. 
Losses resulting from the inability of clients to make required 
payments are accounted for as bad debt expense, while adjust-
ments to invoices are accounted for as reductions to revenues. 
These allowances are established by using historical write-off 
information intended to determine future loss expectations 
and by considering the current credit worthiness of our clients, 
any known specific collection problems, and our assessment 
of current industry and economic conditions. Actual experience 
may differ significantly from historical or expected loss results.

We believe the following critical accounting policies for revenue 
recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of 
goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, and other long-
lived assets, defined benefit pension plans, determination of 
our effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes, and self-
insured risks require significant judgments and estimates in 
the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 
Changes in these underlying estimates could potentially materi-
ally affect our consolidated results of operations, financial 
position and cash flows in the period of change. Although 
some variability is inherent in these estimates, the amounts 
provided for are based on the best information available to 
us and we believe these estimates are reasonable.

We have discussed the following critical accounting policies 
and estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of 
Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed our related 
disclosure in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Revenue Recognition 
Our revenues are primarily comprised of claims processing  
or program administration fees. Fees for professional services 
are recognized as unbilled revenues at estimated collectible 
amounts at the time such services are rendered. Substantially 
all unbilled revenues are billed within one year. Out-of-pocket 
costs incurred in administering a claim are typically passed on 
to our clients and included in our revenues. Deferred revenues 
represent the estimated unearned portion of fees related to 
future services under certain fixed-fee service arrangements. 
Deferred revenues are recognized based on the estimated rate 
at which the services are provided. These rates are primarily 
based on an evaluation of historical claim closing rates by 
major lines of coverage. Additionally, recent claim closing rates 
are evaluated to ensure that current claim closing history does 
not indicate a significant deterioration or improvement in the 
longer-term historical closing rates used. 

Our fixed-fee service arrangements typically call for us to handle 
claims on either a one- or two-year basis, or for the lifetime of 
the claim. In cases where we handle a claim on a non-lifetime 
basis, we typically receive an additional fee on each anniversary 
date that the claim remains open. For service arrangements 
where we provide services for the life of the claim, we are only 
paid one fee for the life of the claim, regardless of the ultimate 
duration of the claim. As a result, our deferred revenues for 
claims handled for one or two years are not as sensitive to 
changes in claim closing rates since the revenues are ultimately 
recognized in the near future and additional fees are generated 
for handling long-lived claims. Deferred revenues for lifetime 
claim handling are considered more sensitive to changes in 
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changes in the weighted-average cost of capital (“WACC”) 
assumption used to calculate the market value of our reporting 
units. For example, holding all other assumptions constant, a 
200 basis point increase in the WACC of our Broadspire report-
ing unit could result in a potential impairment. 

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
We sponsor various defined benefit pension plans in the U.S. 
and U.K. that cover a substantial number of employees in 
each location. We utilize the services of independent actuaries 
to help us estimate our pension obligations and measure pen-
sion costs. In 2008, we began using a year-end measurement 
date to determine net periodic pension costs under SFAS 87, 
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” (“SFAS 87”), for our 
defined benefit pension plans. Our U.S. defined benefit pen-
sion plan was frozen on December 31, 2002. Our U.K. defined 
benefit pension plans have been closed for new employees, 
but existing participants may still accrue additional limited 
benefits based on salary levels existing at the close date. 
Benefits payable under our U.S. defined benefit pension plan 
are generally based on career compensation; however, no addi-
tional benefits accrue on our frozen U.S. plan after December 31, 
2002. Benefits payable under the U.K. plans are generally 
based on an employee’s final frozen salary. Our funding policy 
is to make cash contributions in amounts sufficient to comply 
with regulatory funding requirements. Plan assets are invested 
in equity securities and fixed income investments, with a target 
allocation of approximately 40% to 80% in equity securities 
and 20% to 60% in fixed income investments.

The major assumptions used in accounting for our U.S. defined 
benefit pension plan in 2008 and 2007 were a discount rate 
of 6.46% and 5.99%, respectively, used to compute net 
periodic benefit costs, a discount rate of 6.70% and 6.46%, 
respectively, used to compute benefit obligations, and an 
expected long-term return on plan assets of 8.50% for both 
years. The major assumptions used in accounting for our 
U.K. defined benefit pension plans in 2008 and 2007 were a 
discount rate of 5.60% and 5.99%, respectively, used to com-
pute net periodic benefit costs, a discount rate of 7.30% and 
5.60%, respectively, used to compute benefit obligations, 
and an expected long-term return on plan assets of 8.50% for 
2008 and a range of 4.50% to 10.85% for 2007. The discount 
rate assumptions reflect the rates at which the benefit obliga-
tions could be effectively settled. Our discount rates were 
determined based on the yield for a portfolio of investment 
grade corporate bonds with maturity dates matched to the 
estimated future payment of the plans’ benefit obligations. 
The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were 

Each quarter, we evaluate the adequacy of the assumptions 
used in determining these allowances and make adjustments 
as necessary. Changes in estimates are recognized in the 
period in which they are determined. Historically, our estimates 
have been materially accurate.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, our allowance for doubtful 
accounts totaled $12.3 million and $16.6 million, respectively, 
or approximately 7.3% and 8.5%, respectively, of gross billed 
receivables. If the financial condition of our clients deteriorates, 
resulting in an inability to make required payments to us, 
or if economic conditions continue to deteriorate, additional 
allowances may be required. If the allowance for doubtful 
accounts changed by 1% of gross billed receivables, reflecting 
either an increase or decrease in expected future write-offs, the 
impact to 2008, 2007, and 2006 consolidated pretax income 
would have been approximately $1.7 million, $2.0 million, and 
$2.0 million, respectively. 

Valuation of Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived Intangible 
Assets, and Other Long-Lived Assets
We regularly evaluate whether events and circumstances have 
occurred which indicate that the carrying amounts of goodwill, 
indefinite-lived intangible assets, or other long-lived assets 
have been impaired. Our indefinite-lived intangible assets con-
sist of trade names associated with acquired businesses. Our 
other long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equip-
ment, deferred income tax assets, capitalized software, and 
amortizable intangible assets related to customer relationships 
and technology. When factors indicate that such assets should 
be evaluated for possible impairment, we perform an impair-
ment test in accordance with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), for goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets, SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” 
(“SFAS 109”), for deferred income tax assets, and SFAS 144, 
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets” (“SFAS 144”), for other long-lived assets. We believe 
our goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, and other long-
lived assets were appropriately valued and not impaired at 
December 31, 2008.

We perform an annual impairment analysis of goodwill in 
accordance with SFAS 142 in which we compare the carrying 
value of our reporting units to the estimated market value of 
those reporting units as determined by discounting future pro-
jected cash flows. Based upon our annual analyses completed 
in the 2008, 2007, and 2006 fourth quarters, we did not have 
an impairment of goodwill in 2008, 2007, or 2006. The esti-
mated market values of our reporting units are based upon 
certain assumptions made by us. The estimated market value 
for our Broadspire reporting unit is particularly sensitive to 
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For financial reporting purposes in accordance with the liability 
method of accounting for income taxes as specified in SFAS 
109, the provision for income taxes is the sum of income taxes 
both currently payable and deferred. Currently payable income 
taxes represent the liability related to our income tax returns 
for the current year, while the net deferred tax expense or ben-
efit represents the change in the balance of deferred tax assets 
or liabilities as reported on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
The changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are deter-
mined based upon changes between the basis of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the basis of 
assets and liabilities for income tax purposes, multiplied by the 
enacted statutory tax rates for the year in which we estimate 
these differences will reverse. We must estimate the timing 
of the reversal of temporary differences, as well as whether 
taxable income in future periods will be sufficient to fully recog-
nize any gross deferred tax assets. 

Other factors which influence our effective tax rate used for 
financial reporting purposes include changes in enacted statu-
tory tax rates, changes in the composition of taxable income 
from the countries in which we operate, our ability to utilize 
net operating loss carryforwards, and changes in unrecognized 
tax benefits. 

On January 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”), which 
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recog-
nized in our consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with SFAS No. 109, and prescribes a recognition threshold and 
measurement attributes for financial statement disclosure of 
tax positions taken or expected to be taken on our tax returns. 
Under FIN 48, the impact of any uncertain income tax positions 
on our income tax returns must be recognized at the largest 
amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit 
by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax posi-
tion cannot be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood 
of being sustained. 

Our effective tax rate, including discrete items and adjustments 
related to FIN 48, for financial reporting purposes in 2008, 
2007, and 2006 was 26.4%, 25.1%, and 37.6%, respectively, of 
pretax income. If our effective tax rate used for financial report-
ing purposes changed by 1%, we would have recognized an 
increase or decrease to income tax expense of approximately 
$438,000, $215,000, and $241,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Our effective 
tax rate for financial reporting purposes is expected to range 
between 28.5% and 30.5% in 2009. This estimated tax rate 
range does not reflect the impact of any discrete items, includ-
ing the resolution of uncertain tax positions, that may affect 
our tax rate in 2009.

based on the plans’ asset mix, actual historical returns on 
equity securities and fixed income investments held by the 
plans, and an assessment of expected future returns. We 
review these assumptions at least annually.

The estimated liabilities for our defined benefit pension 
plans are sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions 
for the expected rates of return on plan assets and the dis-
count rates used to determine the present value of projected 
benefits payable under the plans. If our assumptions for the 
expected returns on plan assets of our U.S. and U.K. defined 
benefit pension plans changed by 0.50%, representing either 
an increase or decrease in expected returns, the impact to 
2008 consolidated pretax income would have been approxi-
mately $2.4 million. If our assumptions for the discount rates 
used to determine the present value of projected benefits 
payable under the plans changed by 0.25%, representing 
either an increase or decrease in interest rates used to value 
pension plan liabilities, the impact to 2008 consolidated pre-
tax income would have been approximately $1.3 million.

Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at 
December 31, 2008 are the following amounts related to our 
defined benefit pension plans that have not yet been recog-
nized in net periodic benefit costs: unrecognized intangible 
asset amortization of $372,000 ($235,000 net of tax) and net 
unrecognized actuarial losses of $230.5 million ($145.3 million 
net of tax). We had no unrecognized prior service costs at the 
initial adoption of SFAS 158 on December 31, 2006. The unrec-
ognized intangible asset amortization and net actuarial losses 
included in accumulated other comprehensive loss and expected 
to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the year 
ending December 31, 2009 are $174,000 ($110,000 net of tax) 
and $7.1 million ($4.5 million net of tax), respectively. 

For additional information on the impact that the adoption of 
SFAS 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 
and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans – An Amendment to 
SFAS Nos. 87, 88, 106, and 132R,” had on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheet, see Notes 1 and 7 to our accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements included in this Annual Report.

Determination of Effective Tax Rate Used for  
Financial Reporting
We account for certain income and expense items differently 
for financial reporting and income tax purposes. Provisions  
for deferred taxes are made in recognition of these temporary 
differences. The most significant differences relate to revenue 
recognition, accrued compensation and pensions, self-insur-
ance, and depreciation and amortization. 
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates. Our objective is to identify and 
understand these risks and then implement strategies to man-
age them. When evaluating these strategies, we evaluate the 
fundamentals of each market and the underlying accounting 
and business implications. To implement these strategies, we 
may enter into various hedging transactions. The sensitivity 
analyses we present below do not consider the effect of pos-
sible adverse changes in the general economy, nor do they 
consider additional actions we may take to mitigate our expo-
sure to such changes. There can be no assurance that we will 
manage or continue to manage any risks in the future or that 
any of our efforts will be successful.

Derivative Instruments
We use interest rate swap agreements to manage the interest 
rate characteristics on a portion of our outstanding debt. We 
evaluate market conditions and the covenants contained in our 
Credit Agreement in order to determine our tolerance for poten-
tial increases in interest expense that could result from floating 
interest rates. In May 2007, we entered into a three-year 
interest rate swap agreement which effectively converted 
the LIBOR-based portion of the interest rate under our Credit 
Agreement on an initial notional amount of $175.0 million of 
our floating-rate debt to a fixed rate of 5.25%. In accordance 
with SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities,” and related guidance, we designated 
the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge of exposure to 
changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates on 
an equivalent amount of debt. The notional amount will be 
reduced over the three-year term of the swap to match the 
expected repayment of our outstanding debt, and was 
$125.0 million at December 31, 2008. The notional amount 
will be reduced to $80.0 million at July 1, 2009. We are 
exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance and, 
in the event of nonperformance, to market risk for changes in 
interest rates. We attempt to manage exposure to counterparty 
credit risk through minimum credit standards, diversification 
of counterparties, and procedures to monitor concentrations of 
credit risk. The counterparty was recently acquired by another 
entity. Based on information available to us, we evaluated the 
credit worthiness of the acquirer and we do not anticipate that 
the transaction will negatively impact the credit worthiness 
of the counterparty. For additional information regarding our 
interest rate swap, see Note 1, Major Accounting and Reporting 
Policies, of the notes to our accompanying consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Self-Insured Risks
We self insure certain insurable risks consisting primarily of  
professional liability, auto liability, employee medical, disability, 
and workers’ compensation. Insurance coverage is obtained for 
catastrophic property and casualty exposures, including profes-
sional liability on a claims-made basis, and those risks required 
to be insured by law or contract. Most of these self-insured 
risks are in the United States. Provisions for claims incurred 
under self-insured programs are made based on our estimates 
of the aggregate liabilities for claims incurred, losses that have 
occurred but have not been reported to us, and the adverse 
developments on reported losses. These estimated liabilities 
are calculated based on historical claim payment experience, 
the expected life of the claims, and other factors considered 
relevant to the claims. The liabilities for claims incurred under 
our self-insured workers’ compensation and employee disability 
programs are discounted at the prevailing risk-free rate for 
government issues of an appropriate duration. All other self-
insured liabilities are undiscounted. Each quarter we evaluate 
the adequacy of the assumptions used in developing these 
estimated liabilities and make adjustments as necessary. 
Changes in estimates are recognized in the period in which 
they are determined. Historically, our estimates have been 
materially accurate.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, our estimated liabilities 
for self-insured risks totaled $36.5 million and $36.7 million, 
respectively. The estimated liability is most sensitive to changes 
in the ultimate liability for a claim and, if applicable, the inter-
est rate used to discount the liability. We believe our provisions 
for self-insured losses are adequate to cover the expected 
net cost of losses incurred. However, these provisions are esti-
mates and amounts ultimately settled may be significantly 
greater or less than the provisions established. If the average 
discount rate we used to determine the present value of our 
self-insured workers’ compensation liabilities had changed by 
1%, reflecting either an increase or decrease in underlying inter-
est rates, our estimated liabilities for these self-insured risks 
at December 31, 2008 would have been impacted by approxi-
mately $474,000, resulting in an increase or decrease to 2008 
consolidated net income of approximately $349,000.

New Accounting Standards
See Note 1, Major Accounting and Reporting Policies, of 
our accompanying consolidated financial statements for a 
description of recent accounting pronouncements including 
the expected dates of adoption and expected effects on our 
results of operations and financial condition.
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We are exposed to changes in interest rates, primarily as a 
result of our short-term and long-term debt. Beginning May 
2007, we use swap agreements to manage the interest rate 
characteristics of a portion of our outstanding debt. Based 
on the amounts and mix of our fixed and floating rate debt at 
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, if market interest 
rates had increased or decreased an average of 100 basis 
points, after considering the effect of our swap, our pre-tax 
interest expense would have changed by $696,000 and 
$624,000, respectively. We determined these amounts by con-
sidering the impact of the hypothetical interest rates on our 
borrowing costs and interest rate swap agreement. These analy-
ses do not consider the effects of changes in the level of overall 
economic activity that could exist in such an environment. 

Changes in the projected benefit obligations of our defined 
benefit pension plans are largely dependent on changes in 
prevailing interest rates used to value these obligations under 
SFAS 87 as of the plans’ respective measurement dates. If our 
assumptions for the discount rates used to determine the 
present value of the projected benefit obligations changed by 
0.25%, representing either an increase or decrease in the dis-
count rate, the projected benefit obligations of our U.S. and 
U.K. defined benefit pension plans would have changed by 
approximately $15.5 million at December 31, 2008. The impact 
of this change to 2008 consolidated pretax income would have 
been approximately $1.3 million. 

To the extent changes in interest rates on our variable-rate bor-
rowings move in the same direction as changes in the discount 
rates used for our defined benefit pension plans, changes in 
our interest expense on our borrowings will be offset to some 
degree by changes in our defined benefit pension cost. Periodic 
pension cost for our defined benefit pension plans is impacted 
primarily by changes in long-term interest rates whereas interest 
expense for our variable-rate borrowings is impacted more 
directly by changes in short-term interest rates. 

Credit Risk Related to Performing Certain Services  
for Our Clients
We process payments for claims settlements, primarily on 
behalf of our self-insured clients. The liability for the settlement 
cost of claims processed, which is generally pre-funded, remains 
with the client. Accordingly, we do not incur significant credit 
risk in the performance of these services.

Foreign Currency Exchange
Our International Operations segment exposes us to foreign 
currency exchange rate changes that can impact translations of 
foreign-denominated assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and 
future earnings and cash flows from transactions denominated 
in different currencies. Revenues before reimbursements from 
our International Operations segment were 42.4%, 38.6%, 
and 37.1% of total revenues before reimbursements for 2008, 
2007, and 2006, respectively. Except for borrowings in foreign 
currencies, we do not presently engage in any hedging activities 
to compensate for the effect of currency exchange rate fluctua-
tions on the net assets or operating results of our foreign 
subsidiaries. 

We measure foreign currency exchange risk based on changes 
in foreign currency exchange rates using a sensitivity analysis. 
The sensitivity analysis measures the potential change in earn-
ings based on a hypothetical 10% change in currency exchange 
rates. Exchange rates and currency positions as of December 31, 
2008 were used to perform the sensitivity analysis. Such analy-
sis indicated that a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency 
exchange rates would have increased or decreased consolidated 
pretax income during 2008 by approximately $2.7 million had 
the U.S. dollar exchange rate increased or decreased relative to 
the currencies to which we had exposure. When exchange rates 
and currency positions as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were 
used to perform this sensitivity analysis, the analysis indicated 
that a hypothetical 10% change in currency exchange rates 
would have increased or decreased consolidated pretax income 
in 2007 and 2006 by approximately $2.3 million and $1.4 mil-
lion, respectively.

Interest Rates
Our total borrowings increased significantly as of October 31, 
2006 due to the financed acquisition of BMSI, and thus our 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations has increased signifi-
cantly, since a significant portion of our debt contains variable 
interest rates. 

On October 31, 2006, we terminated our former borrowing 
arrangements and replaced them with our current Credit 
Agreement. Both the term loan and the revolving credit facility 
under the Credit Agreement have variable rates of interest. 
The revolving credit facility has a variable interest rate for each 
currency in which borrowings are denominated. These variable 
rates under the revolving credit facility are based on LIBOR 
or other factors set by the lenders. At December 31, 2008, the 
weighted-average interest rate on the revolving credit facility 
was 9.97% for all currencies. At December 31, 2008, all out-
standing borrowings under this revolving credit facility were 
outside the U.S.
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• �the performance of sublessors under certain subleases 
related to our leased properties,

• �regulatory changes related to funding of defined benefit 
pension plans,

• �the fact that our U.S. and U.K. defined benefit pension 
plans are significantly underfunded and our future funding 
obligations thereunder, 

• �changes in the degree to which property and casualty  
insurance carriers outsource their claims handling functions,

• �changes in overall employment levels and associated  
workplace injury rates in the U.S.,

• �our ability to identify new revenue sources not tied to the 
insurance underwriting cycle,

• �our ability to develop or acquire information technology 
resources to support and grow our business, 

• �our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel,
• �renewal of existing major contracts with clients on  

satisfactory financial terms,
• �our ability to collect amounts recoverable from our clients 

and others,
• �continued availability of funding under our financing 

agreements,
• �general risks associated with doing business outside  

the U.S.,
• �our ability to comply with any applicable debtor or other  

covenant in our financing or other agreements,
• �possible legislation or changes in market conditions that 

may curtail or limit growth in product liability and securities 
class actions,

• �man-made disasters and natural disasters,
• �our failure to implement RiskTech on schedule,
• �impairment of goodwill or our other indefinite-lived intangible 

assets, and
• �our integration of Broadspire Management Services, Inc. 

As a result, you should not place undue reliance on any  
forward-looking statements.

Actual results and trends in the future may differ materially 
from those suggested or implied by the forward-looking state-
ments. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date 
they are made and we undertake no obligation to publicly 
update any of these forward-looking statements in light of 
new information or future events. 

Cautionary Statement Concerning  
Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains and incorporates by reference forward-
looking statements within the meaning of that term in the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1933, and Section 21E of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Statements contained 
in this report that are not historical in nature are forward-
looking statements made pursuant to the “safe harbor” 
provisions. These statements are included throughout this 
report, and in the documents incorporated by reference in this 
report, and relate to, among other things, discussions regarding 
reduction of our operating expenses in our Broadspire seg-
ment, anticipated contributions to our underfunded defined 
benefit pension plans, collectibility of our billed and unbilled 
accounts receivable, projections regarding payments under 
existing earnout agreements, discussions regarding our con-
tinued compliance with the financial and other covenants 
contained in our financing agreements and other long-term 
liquidity requirements. These statements also relate to our 
business strategy, goals and expectations concerning our 
market position, future operations, margins, case volumes, 
profitability, contingencies, and capital resources. The words 
“anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “esti-
mate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “goal”, “strategy”, 
“predict”, “project”, “will” and similar terms and phrases 
identify forward-looking statements in this report and in the 
documents incorporated by reference in this report. 

Although we believe the assumptions upon which these  
forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any 
of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and the 
forward-looking statements based on these assumptions could 
be incorrect. Our operations and the forward-looking statements 
related to our operations involve risks and uncertainties, many 
of which are outside our control, and any one of which, or 
a combination of which, could materially affect our results 
of operations and whether the forward-looking statements 
ultimately prove to be correct. Included among, but not limited 
to, the risks and uncertainties we face are: 

• �declines in the volume of cases referred to us for many 
of our service lines, 

• �changes in global economic conditions,
• �changes in interest rates, 
• �changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
• �changes in regulations and practices of various  

governmental authorities, 
• �changes in our competitive environment,
• �changes in the financial condition of our clients,

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations



512008 annual report

The management of Crawford & Company is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information in this annual 
report. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States, using informed judgements and estimates where appropriate. 

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting policies, procedures, and controls designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with management’s 
authorization. The internal accounting control system is augmented by a program of internal audits and reviews by management, 
written policies and guidelines, and the careful selection and training of qualified personnel. Management believes it maintains an 
effective system of internal accounting controls.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, comprised solely of outside directors, is responsible for monitoring the Company’s 
accounting and reporting practices. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors, and the indepen-
dent auditors to review the work of each and to assure that each performs its responsibilities. The independent auditors, Ernst & Young 
LLP, were selected by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and approved by shareholder vote. Both the internal auditors and 
Ernst & Young LLP have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee allowing open discussion, without management present, on the 
quality of financial reporting and the adequacy of accounting, disclosure and financial reporting controls.

Jeffrey T. Bowman	 W. Bruce Swain, Jr.	 W. Forrest Bell
President and	 Executive Vice President	 Vice President, Corporate
Chief Executive Officer	 and Chief Financial Officer	 Controller, and Chief 
		  Accounting Officer

March 6, 2009

Crawford & Company 
Management’s Statement on Responsibility for Financial Reporting
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The management of Crawford & Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d-15(f ) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) �pertain to maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition 
of the Company’s assets;

(ii) �provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are made 
only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and

(iii) �provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008. In 
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, management determined that the 
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008.

The Company’s independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, a registered public accounting firm, are appointed by the Audit 
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, subject to ratification by our Company’s shareholders. Ernst & Young LLP has 
audited and reported on the consolidated financial statements of Crawford & Company and the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. The reports of the independent auditors are contained in this annual report. 

Jeffrey T. Bowman	W . Bruce Swain, Jr.	W . Forrest Bell
President and	 Executive Vice President	 Vice President, Corporate
Chief Executive Officer	 and Chief Financial Officer	 Controller, and Chief 
		  Accounting Officer

March 6, 2009

Crawford & Company 
Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Crawford & Company

We have audited Crawford & Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria  
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). Crawford & Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompa-
nying Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Crawford & Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Crawford & Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements 
of income, shareholders’ investment and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2008, and our report dated March 6, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

 

	

Atlanta, Georgia

March 6, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Crawford & Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crawford & Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ investment and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Crawford & Company at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2008 the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards 
Board No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. Also, as discussed in Note 1, in 2007 the Company adopted Financial Accounting 
Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes and in 2006 the Company adopted Financial 
Accounting Standards Board No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, and Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Retirement Plans.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
Crawford & Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report 
dated March 6, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

	

Atlanta, Georgia
March 6, 2009
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(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For The Year Ended December 31, 		  2008		  2007		  2006

Revenues from Services:

	 Revenues before reimbursements	 $	1,048,582 	 $	 975,143 	 $	 819,522 

	 Reimbursements		  87,334	  	 76,135 		  80,858 

		  Total Revenues		  1,135,916 		  1,051,278 		  900,380 

Costs and Expenses:

	 Costs of services provided, before reimbursements		  770,724 		  733,392 		  638,174 

	 Reimbursements		  87,334 		  76,135	  	 80,858 

		  Total costs of services		  858,058 		  809,527 		  719,032 

	 Selling, general, and administrative expenses		  215,625 		  211,737 		  151,497 

	 Corporate interest expense, net of interest income of  
		  $1,994, $1,876, and $2,393, respectively		  17,622 		  17,326 		  5,753 

	 Restructuring costs		  3,300 		  –		  1,695 

		  Total Costs and Expenses		  1,094,605 		  1,038,590 		  877,977 

Loss on Early Retirement of Debt		  –		  –		  (1,401)

Gain on Disposals of Businesses		  2,512 		  3,980 		  3,069 

Gain on Sale of Assets		  – 		   4,844 		   – 

Income Before Income Taxes		  43,823 		  21,512 		  24,071 

Provision for Income Taxes		  11,564 		  5,396 		  9,060 

Net Income	 $	 32,259 	 $	 16,116 	 $	 15,011 

Earnings Per Share:

	 Basic	  	 $	 0.64 	 $	 0.32 	 $	 0.30 

	 Diluted	 	 $	 0.62 	 $	 0.32 	 $	 0.30 

Average Number of Shares Used to Compute:

	 Basic Earnings Per Share		  50,696 		  50,464 		  49,423 

	 Diluted Earnings Per Share		  52,175	  	 50,598 		  49,576 

Cash Dividends Per Share:

	 Class A and Class B Common Stock	  $	 –	 $	 –	 $	 0.18 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Crawford & Company 
Consolidated Statements of Income
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(in thousands)				  

As of December 31, 				    2008		  2007

ASSETS

Current Assets:

	 Cash and cash equivalents			   $	 73,124 	 $	 50,855 

	 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 
		  of $12,341 and $16,552, respectively				    157,430 		  178,528 

	 Unbilled revenues, at estimated billable amounts				    99,115 		  136,652 

	 Prepaid expenses and other current assets				    18,688 		  16,717 

Total Current Assets				    348,357 		  382,752 

Property and Equipment:

	 Property and equipment				    140,399 		  153,733 

	 Less accumulated depreciation				    (95,785)		  (104,467)

Net Property and Equipment				    44,614 		  49,266 

Other Assets:

	 Goodwill	  			   251,897 		   259,211 

	 Intangible assets arising from business acquisitions, net	  			   111,389 		   118,678 

	 Capitalized software costs, net				     46,296 		   40,032 

	 Deferred income tax asset	  			   67,695 		   23,481 

	 Other noncurrent assets				     25,000 		   29,362 

Total Other Assets				     502,277 		   470,764 

Total Assets			   $	 895,248 	 $	 902,782 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Crawford & Company 
Consolidated Balance Sheets
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(in thousands, except par value amounts)

As of December 31, 				    2008		  2007

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ INVESTMENT

Current Liabilities:

	 Short-term borrowings			   $	 13,366 	 $	 29,389 

	 Accounts payable				    40,711 		  39,601 

	 Accrued compensation and related costs				    77,802 		  69,655 

	 Self-insured risks				    17,939 		  18,290 

	 Income taxes payable				     5,675 		   3,013 

	 Deferred income taxes	  			   4,262 		   7,422 

	 Other accrued liabilities				    56,978 		  57,360 

	 Deferred revenues 				    59,679 		  64,363 

	 Current installments of long-term debt and capital leases				    2,284 		  2,475 

Total Current Liabilities				    278,696		  291,568 

Noncurrent Liabilities:

	 Long-term debt and capital leases, less current installments				    181,206 		  183,449 

	 Deferred revenues				    42,795 		  58,925 

	 Self-insured risks				    18,531 		  20,337 

	 Accrued pension liabilities				    179,542 		  76,977 

	 Other noncurrent liabilities				    14,119 		  12,265 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities				    436,193 		  351,953 

Minority interests in equity of consolidated affiliates				    4,808		  5,046 

Shareholders’ Investment:

	 Class A common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000 shares authorized; 
		  26,523 and 25,935 shares issued and outstanding in 2008 and 2007				    26,523 		  25,935 

	 Class B common stock, $1.00 par value, 50,000 shares authorized; 
		  24,697 shares issued and outstanding in 2008 and 2007 				    24,697 		  24,697 

	 Additional paid-in capital				    26,342 		  19,057 

	 Retained earnings				    256,146 		  223,793 

	 Accumulated other comprehensive loss				    (158,157)		  (39,267)

Total Shareholders’ Investment				    175,551 		  254,215 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Investment			   $	 895,248 	 $	 902,782 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	                              Common Stock					     Accumulated 
			   Unearned	 Additional		  Other	 Total 
	 Class A	 Class B	 Stock-Based	 Paid-In	 Retained	 Comprehensive	 Shareholders’ 
(in thousands)	 Non-Voting	 Voting	 Compensation	 Capital	 Earnings	 Loss	 Investment

Balance at December 31, 2005	 $	24,293 	 $	24,697 	 $	 (37)	 $	 6,311 	 $	202,351 	 $	(78,584)	 $	179,031

Comprehensive income:

	 Net income		   – 		  –		  –		  –		   		   – 	  	 15,011 

	 Currency translation adjustments, net		   – 		   – 		   – 		  –		  – 		   3,857		  3,857 

	 Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment,  
		  net of $2,871 tax		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 	  	 12,178 		  12,178 

Total comprehensive income														              31,046

	 Cash dividends paid		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   (8,869)		   –	  	 (8,869)

	 SFAS 123R adoption reclassification		   – 		   – 		   37 		   (37)		   – 		   – 		  – 

	 Impact of SFAS 158 adoption,  
		  net of $(59) tax		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		  – 		   (97)		   (97)

	 Stock-based compensation costs		   – 		   – 		   – 	  	 3,567 		   – 		  – 		  3,567 

	 Sale of South Africa subsidiary stock		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   (602)	  	 – 		  (602)

	 Shares issued in connection with  
		  purchase of e-Triage	  	 843 		   – 		   – 	  	 4,320 		   – 		   – 		  5,163 

	 Shares issued in connection with  
		  stock-based compensation plans		   605 		   – 		   – 	  	 1,307 		  – 		   – 		  1,912 

Balance at December 31, 2006 		  25,741 		   24,697 		   – 		  15,468 		  207,891 		  (62,646)		   211,151 

Comprehensive income:

	 Net income		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   16,116 		   – 	  	 16,116 

	 Currency translation adjustments, net		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   16,382 		   16,382 

	 Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment,  
		  net of $5,556 tax		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 		   – 	  	 9,460 	  	 9,460 

	 Interest-rate swap, net of $(1,410) tax		   –		  –		  –		  –		  – 		   (2,463)		  (2,463)

Total comprehensive income														              39,495 

	 Impact of FIN 48 adoption		  –		  –		  –		  –		   (214)		   – 		  (214)

	 Stock-based compensation costs		  –		  –		  – 	  	 2,929		  –		   – 		  2,929 

	 Shares issued in connection with  
		  stock-based compensation plans		  197		  –		  –		  539 		   – 		   – 		   736 

	 Other equity transactions		  (3)		  –		  –		  121 		  –		  –		  118 

Balance at December 31, 2007		  25,935 		   24,697		  –		   19,057 	  	223,793 		  (39,267)		   254,215 

Comprehensive loss:
	 Net income		  –		  –		  –		  – 		  32,259 		   –		  32,259 
	 Currency translation adjustments, net		 –		  –		  –		  –		  – 		  (37,921)		  (37,921)
	 Accrued retirement liabilities adjustment,  
		  net of $(46,253) tax		  – 		  –		  –		  –		  – 	  	(80,639)		  (80,639)
	 Interest-rate swap, net of $376 tax		  –		  –		  –		  –		  –		  (822)		  (822)

Total comprehensive loss														              (87,123)
	 Impact of SFAS 158 adoption, net of 
		  $48 and $277 tax		  –		  –		  –		  –		  94 		  492 	  	 586 
	 Stock-based compensation costs		  –		  –		  –		  5,858		   – 		  –		  5,858 
	 Shares issued in connection with  
		  stock-based compensation plans		   593 		  –		  – 		   1,443 		  –		  –		  2,036 
	 Other equity transactions		  (5)		  –		  –		  (16)		   – 		  –		  (21)

Balance at December 31, 2008	 $	26,523	 $	24,697 	 $	 –	 $	26,342 	  $	256,146 	  $	(158,157)	 $	175,551 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Crawford & Company 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment  
and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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(in thousands) 

For the Year Ended December 31,		  2008		  2007		  2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

	 Net income	 $	 32,259 	 $	 16,116 	 $	 15,011 
	 Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
		  Depreciation and amortization		  30,331 		  29,646 		  20,545 
		  Deferred income taxes		  247 		  (1,437)		  3,063 
		  Stock-based compensation costs		  5,858 		  2,929 		  3,567 
		  Loss on disposals of property and equipment		  195 		  554 		  267 
		  Gain on sales of businesses		   (2,512)		   (3,980)		  (3,069)
		  Gain on 2006 sale of former corporate headquarters		  –		   (4,844)		  –
		  Loss on early extinguishment of debt		  –		  –		  1,401 
	 Changes in operating assets and liabilities,
		  net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions:
			   Accounts receivable, net		  6,785 		  12,450 		  11,078 
			   Unbilled revenues, net		  22,093 		  (11,298)		  6,144 
			   Prepaid or accrued income taxes		  3,077 		  4,322 		  (2,920)
			   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		  21,117 		  (1,949)		  210 
			   Deferred revenues		  (19,024)		  (22,571)		  (6,091)
			   Accrued retirement costs		  (25,416)		  2,188 		  5,064 
			   Prepaid expenses and other operating activities		  (4,035)		  1,158 		  (1,553)

Net cash provided by operating activities		  70,975 		  23,284 		  52,717 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

	 Acquisitions of property and equipment		  (15,214)		  (16,129)		  (12,888)
	 Capitalization of software costs		  (16,797)		  (11,980)		  (9,852)
	 Proceeds from sale of former corporate headquarters		  –		  –		   8,000 
	 Proceeds from sales of businesses		   4,269 		   5,000 		   3,000 
	 Proceeds from sale of investment security		  –		   5,000 		  – 
	 Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired		   (888)		   (1,323)		  (162,461)
	 Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment		   662 		   395 		   181 
	 Other investing activities		   (68)		   (50)		   (586)

Net cash used in investing activities		  (28,036)		  (19,087)		  (174,606)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

	 Dividends paid		  –		  –		  (8,869)
	 Proceeds from employee stock-based compensation plans		  2,036 		  736 		  1,912 
	 Increase in short-term borrowings		  36,544 		  16,568 		  37,642 
	 Payments on short-term borrowings		  (48,296)		  (18,051)		  (39,259)
	 Proceeds from long-term debt		  –		  –		   210,000 
	 Payments on long-term debt and capital leases		   (2,484)		   (15,515)		   (60,946)
	 Fee paid for early extinguishment of debt		  –		  –		   (793)
	 Capitalized loan costs		  –		   (908)		   (3,901)
	 Other financing activities		   (20)		   (19)		  – 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities		  (12,220)		  (17,189)		  135,786 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		  (8,450)		  2,173 		  929 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents		  22,269 		  (10,819)		  14,826 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year	 	 50,855 		  61,674 		  46,848 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year	 $	 73,124 	 $	 50,855 	 $	 61,674

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Crawford & Company 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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rabbi trust were $12,985,000 and $12,598,000, respectively. 
These assets and liabilities are included in Other Noncurrent 
Assets and Other Noncurrent Liabilities on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Prior Year Reclassifications 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform 
to the current year presentation. 

Management’s Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,  
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements, and the reported amounts of reve-
nues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ materially from those estimates. 

Fair Value
On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), and related guidance, for all of 
its financial assets and liabilities and for nonfinancial assets 
and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value in its con-
solidated financial statements on a recurring basis (at least 
annually). For all other nonfinancial assets and liabilities, 
SFAS 157 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2009. 
However, SFAS 157 excludes leases accounted for under the 
provisions of SFAS 13, “Accounting for Leases.” SFAS 157 
provides a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, 
clarifies the definition of fair value within that framework, 
and expands disclosures about the use of fair value mea-
surements. SFAS 157 does not address which items are to be 
measured at fair value or when this measurement should be 
used in accounting. As it relates to the Company’s financial 
assets and liabilities and for nonfinancial assets and liabilities 
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements on a recurring basis (at least 
annually), the adoption of SFAS 157 did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of opera-
tions, or cash flows. The Company does not expect that SFAS 
157 will have a material impact on its nonfinancial assets and 
liabilities not valued on a recurring basis (at least annually).

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabili-
ties that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and 
are categorized using the fair value hierarchy. The fair value 
hierarchy has three levels which are based on the reliability 
of the inputs used to determine fair value. Level 1 inputs 
are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

1. �MAJOR ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations and Industry Concentration
Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company is the world’s 
largest independent provider of claims management and 
related solutions to insurance companies and self-insured 
entities based on annual revenues, with a global network of 
more than 700 locations in 63 countries. Major service lines 
include property and casualty claims management, warranty 
inspections, integrated claims and medical management for 
workers’ compensation, legal settlement administration 
including class action and bankruptcy claims administration, 
and risk management information services. Shares of the 
Company’s two classes of common stock are traded on 
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbols CRDA and 
CRDB, respectively. 

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and include the 
accounts of the Company, its majority-owned subsidiaries, 
and variable interest entities in which the Company is deemed 
to be the primary beneficiary. Significant intercompany transac-
tions are eliminated in consolidation. The financial statements 
of the Company’s international subsidiaries, other than those 
in Canada and the Caribbean, are included in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements on a two-month delayed 
basis under the provisions of Accounting Research Bulletin 
No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” in order to pro-
vide sufficient time for accumulation of their results. 

The Company uses the purchase method of accounting for all 
acquisitions where the Company is required to consolidate 
the acquired entity into the Company’s financial statements. 
Results of operations of acquired businesses are included in 
the Company’s consolidated results from the acquisition date.

The Company uses the provisions of Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 – Revised, 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation 
of ARB No. 51,” (“FIN 46R”) and related interpretations for 
identifying a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and determining 
when the Company should include the assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests, and results of operations of a VIE in its 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Company consolidates the liabilities of its deferred  
compensation plan and the related assets, which are held in  
a rabbi trust and considered a VIE of the Company under  
FIN 46R. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the liabilities of this 
deferred compensation plan were $7,621,000 and $7,036,000, 
respectively, and the values of the assets held in the related 
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The fair value of the interest rate swap was derived from a dis-
counted cash flow analysis based on the terms of the contract 
and the forward interest rate curve adjusted for the Company’s 
credit risk.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company also adopted SFAS No. 
159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”). SFAS 159 permits entities to choose 
to measure many financial instruments and certain other items 
at fair value that were not required to be measured at fair 
value under other applicable GAAP. The Company did not 
elect the fair value measurement option under SFAS 159 
for any of its assets and liabilities that were not already 
required to be measured and reported at fair value under 
other applicable GAAP.

The fair value of accounts payable and short-term borrowings 
approximates their carrying value due to the short-term 
maturity of the instruments. The fair value of the Company’s 
variable-rate long-term debt approximates carrying value 
based on the effective interest rates compared to current 
market rates. 

Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenues are primarily comprised of claims pro-
cessing or program administration fees and are generated from 
the Company’s four operating segments. The U.S. Property & 
Casualty segment serves the U.S. property and casualty insur-
ance company market with additional services provided to the 
warranty and inspection services marketplaces. The International 
Operations segment serves the property and casualty insur-
ance company markets outside of the U.S. The Broadspire 
segment serves the U.S. self-insurance marketplace. The Legal 
Settlement Administration segment serves the securities, 
bankruptcy, and other legal settlement markets. 

	 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008

								       Significant Other		  Significant
						      Quoted Prices in		  Observable		  Unobservable
						      Active Markets		  Inputs		  Inputs
(in thousands)		  Total		  (Level 1)		  (Level 2)		  (Level 3)

Assets:

	 Money market funds	 $	14,513	 $	14,513		  –		  –

Liabilities:

	 Interest rate swap	 $	 (5,071)		  –	 $	 (5,071)		  –

assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for simi-
lar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
through market corroboration, for substantially the full term 
of the financial instrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable 

inputs based on the Company’s assumptions used to mea-
sure assets and liabilities at fair value. A financial asset or 
liability’s classification within the hierarchy is determined 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement.

Both the U.S. Property & Casualty segment and the International 
Operations segment earn revenues by providing field investi-
gation and evaluation of property and casualty claims for 
insurance companies. The Company’s Broadspire segment 
earns revenues by providing initial loss reporting services for 
their claimants, loss mitigation services such as medical case 
management and vocational rehabilitation, administration of 
trust funds established to pay claims, and risk management 
information services. The Legal Settlement Administration 
segment earns revenues by providing legal settlement admin-
istration services related to settlements of securities cases, 
product liability cases, bankruptcy noticing and distribution, 
and other legal settlements by identifying and qualifying class 
members, determining and dispensing settlement payments, 
and administering the settlement funds. 

Fees for professional services are recognized in unbilled  
revenues at the time such services are rendered, at estimated 
collectible amounts. Substantially all unbilled revenues are 
billed within one year. 

Deferred revenues represent the estimated unearned portion 
of fees derived from certain fixed-rate claim service agree-
ments. The Company’s fixed-fee service arrangements typically 
call for the Company to handle claims on either a one- or 
two-year basis, or for the lifetime of the claim. In cases where 
the claim is handled on a non-lifetime basis, an additional fee 
is typically received on each anniversary date that the claim 
remains open. For service arrangements where the Company 
provides services for the life of the claim, the Company only 
receives one fee for the life of the claim, regardless of the 
ultimate duration of the claim. Deferred revenues are recog-
nized based on the estimated rate at which the services are 
provided. These rates are primarily based on a historical evalu-
ation of actual claim closing rates by major line of coverage. 

Intersegment sales are recorded at cost and are not material. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and 
marketable securities with original maturities of three 
months or less. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 
approximates carrying value due to their short-term nature. 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for  
Doubtful Accounts
The Company extends credit based on an evaluation of a  
client’s financial condition and, generally, collateral is not 
required. Accounts receivable are typically due within 30 days 
and are stated on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets 
at amounts due from clients net of an estimated allowance for 
doubtful accounts. Accounts outstanding longer than the con-
tractual payment terms are considered past due. The fair value 
of accounts receivable approximates carrying value due to 
their short-term contractual stipulations. 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts 
for estimated losses resulting primarily from the inability of 
clients to make required payments and for adjustments to 
invoiced amounts. Losses resulting from the inability of clients 
to make required payments are accounted for as bad debt 
expense, while adjustments to invoices are accounted for as 
reductions to revenue. These allowances are established using 
historical write-off information to project future experience and 
by considering the current credit worthiness of clients, any 
known specific collection problems, and an assessment of  
current industry and economic conditions. Actual experience 
may differ significantly from historical or expected loss 
results. The Company writes off accounts receivable when 
they become uncollectible, and any payments subsequently 
received are accounted for as recoveries. A summary of the 
activities in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 is as follows:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Allowance for doubtful  
	 accounts, January 1	 $	16,552	 $	16,802	 $	15,986

Add/(Deduct):

Provision (credit) to bad  
	 debt expense	  	 (2,126)	  	 1,299	  	 1,340

Write-offs, net of recoveries		  (974)		  (1,674)		  (3,200)

Currency translation and 
	 other changes		   (1,077)		   819		   (174)

Adjustments for acquired  
	 and disposed businesses		   (34)		   (694)	  	 2,850

Allowance for doubtful  
	 accounts, December 31	 $	12,341	 $	16,552	 $	16,802

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
the Company’s adjustments to revenues associated with  
client invoice adjustments totaled $4,665,000, $5,560,000, 
and $7,819,000, respectively. 

Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets,  
and Other Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over  
the fair value of the separately identifiable net assets (tan-
gible and intangible) acquired from business combinations. 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade names 
associated with acquired businesses. Other long-lived assets 
consist primarily of property and equipment, deferred income 
tax assets, capitalized software, and amortizable intangible 
assets related to customer relationships and technology. 
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amor-
tized, but are subject to impairment testing at least annually.

The Company regularly evaluates whether events and circum-
stances have occurred which indicate potential impairment of 
goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets, or other long-lived 
assets. When factors indicate that such assets should be 
evaluated for possible impairment, the Company performs 
an impairment test. Impairment tests are performed in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets (“SFAS 142”), for goodwill and indefinite-lived intan-
gible assets, SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” 
(“SFAS 109”), for deferred income tax assets, and SFAS 
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), for other long-lived assets. The 
Company believes its goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible 
assets, and other long-lived assets were appropriately valued 
and not impaired at December 31, 2008.

The Company performs an annual impairment testing of good-
will and indefinite-lived intangible assets in accordance with 
SFAS 142. For goodwill impairment testing, the carrying value 
of each reporting unit is compared to the estimated market 
value of the reporting unit as determined by discounting 
future projected cash flows. For impairment testing of indefi-
nite-lived intangible assets, the carrying value is compared 
to the fair value, which represents the present value of the 
incremental after-tax cash flows (excess earnings) attribut-
able solely to the asset over its estimated remaining useful 
life. Based upon the annual tests completed in the 2008 and 
2007 fourth quarters, the Company did not have an impair-
ment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets in 2008 
or 2007. 
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Capitalized Software
Capitalized software reflects costs related to internally devel-
oped or purchased software used by the Company that has 
future economic benefits. Certain internal and external costs 
incurred during the application stage of development are cap-
italized in accordance with the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for 
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” 
Costs incurred during the preliminary project and post imple-
mentation stages, including training and maintenance costs, 
are expensed as incurred. The majority of these capitalized 
software costs consists of internal payroll costs and external 
payments for software purchases and related services. These 
capitalized computer software costs are amortized over periods 
ranging from three to ten years, depending on the estimated 
life of each software application. At least annually, the Company 
evaluates capitalized software for impairment in accordance 
with SFAS 144. Amortization expense for capitalized software 
was $8,875,000, $9,165,000, and $7,255,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 

Self-Insured Risks
The Company self insures certain insurable risks consisting 
primarily of professional liability, auto liability, employee med-
ical, disability, and workers’ compensation liability. Insurance 
coverage is obtained for catastrophic property and casualty 
exposures, including professional liability on a claims-made 
basis, and those risks required to be insured by law or con-
tract. Most of these self-insured risks are in the U.S. Provisions 
for claims under the self-insured programs are made based on 
the Company’s estimates of the aggregate liabilities for claims 
incurred, losses that have occurred but have not been reported 
to the Company, and for adverse developments on reported 
losses. The estimated liabilities are calculated based on his-
torical claims payment experience, the expected lives of the 
claims, and other factors considered relevant by management. 
Changes in these estimates may occur as additional informa-
tion becomes available. The estimated liabilities for claims 
incurred under the Company’s self-insured workers’ compensa-
tion and employee disability programs are discounted at 
the prevailing risk-free rate for U.S. government securities of 
an appropriate duration. All other self-insured liabilities are 
undiscounted. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, accrued liabil-
ities for self-insured risks totaled $36,470,000 and $38,627,000, 
respectively, including current liabilities of $17,939,000 and 
$18,290,000, respectively. 

The Company’s four operating segments are deemed to be 
reporting units because the components of each operating 
segment have similar economic characteristics. When changes 
to the Company’s reporting structure impact the composition 
of the Company’s reporting units, existing goodwill is reallo-
cated to the revised reporting units based on their relative fair 
market values as determined by a discounted cash flow analy-
sis. If all of the assets and liabilities of an acquired business 
are assigned to a specific reporting unit, then the goodwill 
associated with that acquisition is assigned to that reporting 
unit at acquisition unless another reporting unit is also 
expected to benefit from the acquisition. 

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Property and equipment, including assets under 
capital leases, consisted of the following at December 31, 
2008 and 2007:

(in thousands)				    2008		  2007

Land						     $	 545	 $	 627

Buildings and improvements				     26,302	  	 27,444

Furniture and fixtures				     49,819	  	 59,139

Data processing equipment				     60,523	  	 61,316

Automobiles and other				     3,210	  	 5,207

	 Total property and equipment				     140,399		   153,733

Less accumulated depreciation				    (95,785)		  (104,467)

	 Net property and equipment			   $	 44,614	 $	  49,266

Additions to property and equipment under capital leases 
totaled $181,000, $328,000, and $314,000 for 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively. Additions to property and equipment 
that were funded directly by a lessor totaled $4,921,000 for 
2007. There were no such additions in 2008 or 2006.

The Company depreciates the cost of property and equipment, 
including assets recorded under capital leases, over the 
shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful 
lives of the related assets, primarily using the straight-line 
method. The estimated useful lives for property and equip-
ment classifications are as follows:

Classification		  Estimated Useful Lives

Furniture and fixtures		  3-10 years

Data processing equipment		  3-5 years

Automobiles		  3-4 years

Buildings and improvements		  7-40 years

Depreciation on property and equipment, including property 
under capital leases and amortization of leasehold improve-
ments, was $14,992,000, $14,081,000, and $12,166,000 for the 
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
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Defined Benefit Pension and Postretirement Plans
The Company uses SFAS 87, “Employers’ Accounting for 
Pensions” (“SFAS 87”), and related guidance to recognize  
components of net periodic benefit costs for its defined benefit 
pension plans. The principal objective of SFAS 87 is to measure 
net periodic benefit cost associated with defined benefit pen-
sion plans and to recognize that cost over the employees’ 
service periods. The Company’s U.S. defined benefit pension 
plan was frozen as of December 31, 2002. The Company uses 
SFAS 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits 
Other Than Pensions” (“SFAS 106”), and related interpretations 
to recognize components of net periodic benefit costs for its 
frozen U.S. retiree medical benefits plan. 

Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the  
recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 
132R” (“SFAS 158”). SFAS 158 requires sponsors of defined 
benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans (collec-
tively, “postretirement benefit plans”) to recognize the funded 
status of their postretirement benefit plans in the balance 
sheet, measure the fair value of plan assets and benefit 
obligations as of the date of the balance sheet, and pro-
vide additional disclosures. As permitted by SFAS 158, the 
Company’s adoption of SFAS 158 was in two phases. On 
December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the first phase, 
the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 158. The 
requirement of SFAS 158 to measure the fair value of plan 
assets and benefit obligations as of the most recent balance 
sheet date, the second phase, was effective for the Company 
on January 1, 2008. Prior to 2008, the Company’s frozen U.S. 
defined benefit retirement plans as well as its frozen U.S. 
retiree medical benefit plan used a September 30 annual 
measurement date. Under SFAS 158, the September 30 early 
measurement date can no longer be used and the Company 
became required to instead use December 31 as its year-end 
measurement date beginning in 2008. The Company’s United 
Kingdom and other international defined benefit plans already 
used a fiscal year-end measurement date, and thus no mea-
surement date changes were needed for those non-U.S. plans. 
SFAS 158 provided entities with two alternatives to transition 
to a fiscal year-end measurement date. The Company selected 
the alternative that allowed it to use the existing early mea-
surement date of September 30, 2007 to compute net benefit 
costs for the period between October 1, 2007 and December 
31, 2008 (the “15-month alternative” under SFAS 158). See 
Note 7, “Retirement Plans,” for more information on the 
Company’s adoption of SFAS 158.

External trusts are maintained to hold assets of the Company’s 
defined benefit pension plans in the U.S. and U.K. The 
Company’s funding policy is to make cash contributions in 
amounts sufficient to meet regulatory funding requirements.

Income Taxes 
The Company accounts for certain income and expense items 
differently for financial reporting and income tax purposes. 
Provisions for deferred taxes are made in recognition of 
these temporary differences. The most significant differences 
relate to revenue recognition, accrued compensation, pension 
plans, self-insurance, and depreciation and amortization. 

For financial reporting purposes, the provision for income 
taxes is the sum of income taxes both currently payable and 
payable on a deferred basis. Currently payable income taxes 
represent the liability related to the income tax returns for the 
current year, while the net deferred tax expense or benefit rep-
resents the change in the balance of deferred income tax 
assets or liabilities as reported on the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. The changes in deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are determined based upon changes in the differ-
ences between the basis of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the basis of assets and liabilities for 
income tax purposes, measured by the enacted statutory tax 
rates in effect for the year in which the Company estimates 
these differences will reverse. The Company must estimate 
the timing of the reversal of temporary differences, as well 
as whether taxable income in future periods will be sufficient 
to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets. 

Other factors which influence the effective tax rate used  
for financial reporting purposes include changes in enacted 
statutory tax rates, changes in the composition of taxable 
income from the countries in which the Company operates, 
the ability of the Company to utilize net operating loss carry-
forwards, and the Company’s accounting for any uncertain tax 
positions under FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of SFAS 109, 
Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). See Note 6.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48.  
The FASB issued FIN 48 to create a single model to address 
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the 
accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum rec-
ognition threshold that a tax position must meet before being 
recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides 
guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, inter-
est and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, 
and transition. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in a $214,000 
charge to the Company’s retained earnings on January 1, 2007.
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Foreign Currency
Realized net gains (losses) from foreign currency transactions 
totaled $2,046,000, $508,000, and $(76,000) for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

For operations outside the U.S. that prepare financial state-
ments in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, results from 
operations and cash flows are translated into U.S. dollars 
at average exchange rates during the period, and assets and 
liabilities are translated at end-of-period exchange rates. The 
resulting translation adjustments are included in comprehen-
sive income (loss) in the Company’s Consolidated Statements 
of Shareholders’ Investment and Comprehensive Income (Loss), 
and the accumulated translation adjustment is reported as a 
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive income (loss) for the Company consists of the 
total of net income, foreign currency translations, the effective 
portion of the interest rate swap, and accrued pension and 
retiree medical liability adjustments. The Company reports 
comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes, in the 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss). Ending accumulated balances 
for each item in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and 
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Investment and 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) were as follows:

(in thousands)		  2008		  2007		  2006

Adjustments to retirement  
	 liabilities	 $	(228,235)*	 $	(102,112)	 $	(117,128)**

	 Tax benefit on retirement  
		  liabilities adjustments	  	84,343		 38,367		 43,923

Adjustments to retirement  
	 liabilities, net of tax		  (143,892)*		  (63,745)		  (73,205)**

Effective portion of interest 
	  rate swap, net of tax 		  (3,285)	 		   (2,463)		  –

Foreign currency translation  
	 adjustments		  (10,980)	 	  	 26,941		  10,559

Total accumulated other  
	 comprehensive loss	 $	(158,157)	 	  $	(39,267)	 $	 (62,646)

 * �Includes adjustment of $769,000, net of $492,000 after income tax, 
relating to the second phase adoption of SFAS 158. See Note 7.

** �Includes adjustment of $(156,000), net of $(97,000) after income 
tax, relating to the initial adoption of SFAS 158. See Note 7.

Sales and Other Taxes Assessed by Governments
In certain jurisdictions, both in the U.S. and internationally, 
various governments and taxing authorities require the 
Company to assess and collect sales and other taxes, such 
as Value Added Taxes, on certain services that the Company 
renders and bills to its customers. The Company records 
these government-imposed taxes on a net basis with amounts 
collected related to these pass-through taxes recorded as bal-
ance sheet transactions.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed based on the 
weighted-average number of total common shares outstanding 
during the respective period. Unvested grants of restricted 
stock, even though legally outstanding, are not included in 
the weighted-average number of common shares for purposes 
of computing basic EPS. Diluted EPS is computed under the 
“treasury stock” method based on the weighted-average num-
ber of total common shares outstanding (excluding nonvested 
shares of restricted stock issued), plus the dilutive effect of: 
outstanding stock options, estimated shares issuable under 
employee stock purchase plans, and nonvested shares under 
the Company’s Executive Stock Bonus Plan that vest based 
on service conditions or on performance conditions that have 
been achieved.

Below is the calculation of basic and diluted EPS for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006: 

(in thousands,  
	 except earnings per share )	 2008	 2007	 2006

Net income 	 $	32,259	 $	16,116	 $	15,011

Weighted-average common  
	 shares outstanding		   50,958	  	 50,532		   49,484

 Less: Weighted-average  
	� unvested common shares  

outstanding	  	 (262)		  (68)		  (61)

Weighted-average common  
	� shares used to compute  

basic earnings per share		  50,696	  	 50,464	  	 49,423

Dilutive effects of stock-based  
	� compensation plans		   1,479		   134		   153

Weighted-average common  
	� share equivalents used to  

compute diluted earnings  
per share		  52,175		  50,598		  49,576

Basic earnings per share	 $	 0.64	 $	 0.32	 $	 0.30

Diluted earnings per share	 $	 0.62	 $	 0.32	 $	 0.30

Outstanding options to purchase approximately 1,944,000, 
2,494,000, and 3,349,000 shares of the Company’s Class A 
Common Stock were excluded from the weighted-average 
computations of diluted EPS in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respec-
tively, because the awards would have been antidilutive. 
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Stock-Based Compensation
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value 
recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, “Share-based Payment” 
(“SFAS 123R”), using the modified-prospective-transition 
method. Under that transition method, compensation cost 
recognized in 2008, 2007, and 2006 included: (a) compensa-
tion cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but 
not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-
date fair value estimated in accordance with the original 
provisions of SFAS 123, and (b) compensation cost for all 
share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, 
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance 
with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Under the modified-prospec-
tive-transition method of adopting SFAS 123R, results for prior 
periods have not been restated. SFAS 123R requires the cash 
flows related to any tax benefits resulting from tax deductions 
in excess of the compensation cost recognized for stock-based 
awards (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash 
flows. During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 
2006, the Company recognized no such excess tax benefits. 

Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed in the period in which the 
costs are incurred. Advertising expenses were $3,532,000, 
$3,275,000, and $3,218,000, respectively, for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006.

Interest Rate Swap
In May 2007, the Company entered into a three-year interest 
rate swap agreement that effectively converts the LIBOR-based 
portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount of 
$175.0 million of the Company’s floating-rate debt to a fixed 
rate of 5.25%. In accordance with SFAS 133, “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”), 
and related guidance, the Company designated the interest 
rate swap as a cash flow hedge of exposure to changes in 
cash flows due to changes in interest rates on an equivalent 
amount of debt. The notional amount of the swap is reduced 
over its three-year term to match the expected repayment of 
the Company’s outstanding debt and was $125.0 million at 
December 31, 2008. The Company is exposed to counterparty 
credit risk for nonperformance and, in the event of nonperfor-
mance, to market risk for changes in interest rates. The Company 
attempts to manage exposure to counterparty credit risk pri-
marily by selecting a counterparty only if it meets certain 
credit and other financial standards. The Company believes 
there have been no material changes in the credit worthiness 
of the counterparty to its interest-rate swap agreement. The 
Company reports the effective portion of the change in fair 
value of the derivative instrument as a component of its 

accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassifies that 
portion into earnings in the same period during which the 
hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company recognizes 
the ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, in current earnings 
during the period of change. Amounts that are reclassified 
into earnings from accumulated other comprehensive loss and 
the ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, are reported on the 
same income statement line item as the original hedged item. 
The Company includes the fair value of the hedge in either 
current or non-current other liabilities and/or other assets on 
the balance sheet based upon the term of the hedged item. 

At December 31, 2008, the fair value of the interest rate 
swap was a liability of $5,071,000 and the amount expected 
to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive 
loss into earnings during the next twelve months was 
approximately $3,855,000. During 2008, the amount reclassi-
fied into earnings as an adjustment to interest expense was 
$2,542,000. The amount reclassified into earnings in 2007 
was not material. 

Adoption of New Accounting Standards
The Company’s adoption of any other new accounting stan-
dards not previously discussed in Note 1 is presented below. 

SFAS 162
In May 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 162, “The 
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“SFAS 
162”). SFAS 162 is intended to improve financial reporting by 
providing a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for selecting 
accounting principles to be used in preparing financial state-
ments that are presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP for 
nongovernmental entities. Prior to the issuance of SFAS 162, 
the GAAP hierarchy was defined in the AICPA Statement on 
Auditing Standards No. 69, “The Meaning of Present Fairly 
in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.” 
SFAS 162 also indicates that SEC rules and interpretations 
are additional sources of category A accounting principles for 
SEC registrants. SFAS 162 was effective November 15, 2008. 
The adoption of SFAS 162 did not have a material effect on 
the Company’s results of operations, financial condition, or 
cash flows.

Pending Adoption of New Accounting Standards

SFAS 141-R and EITF Issue 08-6
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), “Business 
Combinations” (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R will replace SFAS 
141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”), and will change 
many well-established business combination accounting prac-
tices and significantly affect how acquisition transactions are 
reflected in the financial statements. SFAS 141R will change 
the accounting treatment for certain acquisition-related activities 
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mezzanine section of its Consolidated Balance Sheet that 
would have been reported as a component of Shareholders’ 
Investment (equity) had SFAS 160 been in effect. The Company 
will adopt SFAS 160 on January 1, 2009.

SFAS 161
In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, 
“Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, 
an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“SFAS 161”). 
SFAS 161 will apply to all derivative instruments and related 
hedged items accounted for under FASB Statement No. 133, 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” 
(“SFAS 133”). SFAS 161 will amend SFAS 133 by requiring 
expanded disclosures about an entity’s derivative instruments 
and hedging activities, but will not change the scope or 
accounting of SFAS 133. Since SFAS 161 is only a disclosure-
related pronouncement, its adoption will not have any 
impact on the Company’s operations, financial condition, 
or cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial statements 
issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after 
November 15, 2008, with early adoption permitted.

FSP FAS 142-3
In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 
142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets” 
(“FSP FAS 142-3”). FSP FAS 142-3 will amend the factors 
that must be considered in developing renewal or extension 
assumptions used to determine the useful life over which 
to amortize the cost of a recognized intangible asset under 
SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). 
FSP FAS 142-3 is designed to improve the consistency between 
the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS 
142 and the period of expected cash flow used to measure 
the fair value of the asset under SFAS 141. FSP FAS 142-3 is 
effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008. The guidance for determining the 
useful life of a recognized intangible asset must be applied 
prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective 
date. Early adoption is prohibited. Accordingly, FSP FAS 142-3 
will not serve as a basis to change the useful life of an intan-
gible asset that was acquired prior to the effective date of 
FSP FAS 142-3, which will be January 1, 2009 for the Company. 
However, the FSP will require certain incremental disclosures 
for all intangible assets, including those recognized in periods 
prior to the effective date of this FSP.

that occur after its adoption including 1) recording contingent 
consideration at the acquisition date at fair value, 2) expens-
ing acquisition-related costs as incurred, and 3) expensing 
restructuring costs associated with the acquired business. 
SFAS 141R will also introduce certain new disclosure require-
ments. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning on or 
after December 15, 2008. The Company does not expect the 
adoption of SFAS 141R to have an impact on its consolidated 
financial statements. However, it could have a significant 
impact on the accounting for any acquisitions consummated 
after the effective date of the statement. 

In November 2008, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 
of the FASB reached consensus on Issue 08-6, “Accounting 
for Equity Method Investments” (“EITF 08-6”). EITF 08-6 will 
require that equity-method investments be recognized using 
a cost accumulation model consistent with Appendix D of 
SFAS 141R. EITF 08-6 also will require that equity-method 
investments be assessed for other-than-temporary impairment 
in accordance with APB 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting 
for Investments in Common Stock (“APB 18”). In conjunction 
with the adoption of SFAS 141R, EITF 08-6 will be effective for 
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, and like 
SFAS 141R, the Company does not expect adoption to have 
an impact on its consolidated financial statements. However, 
it could have an impact on the accounting for any equity 
investments consummated after the effective date of the EITF. 

SFAS 160
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, “Noncontrolling 
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an amendment 
of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 revises the classifica-
tion of noncontrolling interests in consolidated statements of 
financial position and the accounting for and reporting of 
transactions between the reporting entity and holders of such 
noncontrolling interests. Under the new standard, noncontrol-
ling interests will be considered equity and the practice of 
classifying minority interests within a mezzanine section of the 
balance sheet will be eliminated. Net income will encompass 
the total income of all consolidated subsidiaries and there will 
be separate disclosure on the face of the income statement 
of the attribution of that income between the controlling and 
noncontrolling interests. Increases and decreases in the non-
controlling ownership interest amount will be accounted for 
as equity transactions. An issuance of noncontrolling interests 
that causes the controlling interest to lose control and decon-
solidate a subsidiary will be accounted for by full gain or loss 
recognition. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on 
or after December 15, 2008 and early adoption is not permit-
ted. At December 31, 2008, the Company had $4,808,000 of 
“Minority Interest in Equity of Consolidated Affiliates” in the 
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FSP EITF 03-6-1
In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. EITF 
03-6-1, “Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-
Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities” 
(“FSP EITF 03-6-1”). Under FSP EITF 03-6-1, unvested share-
based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to 
dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) 
are considered participating securities under SFAS No. 128, 
“Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 128”). As such, they should 
be included in the computation of basic earnings per share 
(“EPS”) using the two-class method. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effec-
tive for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008, as well as interim periods within 
those years. Once effective, all prior-period EPS data pre-
sented must be adjusted retrospectively to conform with the 
provisions of FSP EITF 03-6-1. Early application is not permit-
ted. The Company’s restricted grants of Class A Common Stock 
made under its Executive Stock Bonus Plan provide for the 
payment of nonforfeitable dividends, should any be declared 
and paid by the Company, during any vesting period for the 
restricted stock grants. As such, these unvested restricted 
stock grants would be considered participating securities 
under SFAS 128, and thus the two-class method of computing 
EPS under SFAS 128 will apply to the Company upon adoption 
of FSP EITF 03-6-1 on January 1, 2009. The impact that the 
adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 will have on the Company’s basic 
and diluted EPS calculations will depend upon the number 
of restricted stock grants outstanding at any particular time. 

2. �DISPOSITIONS AND ACQUISITIONS  
OF BUSINESSES

Disposition of Netherlands Subsidiary
On September 11, 2008, the Company’s Netherlands subsidiary 
sold the capital stock of one of its subsidiaries. The net cash 
received from the buyer was $4,269,000, which consisted 
of the cash sale price of $5,256,000, less cash of $987,000 
belonging to the sold subsidiary. The nontaxable gain 
recognized on this disposition was $2,512,000, including 
a cumulative translation adjustment of $344,000 related to 
this sold entity. In connection with this disposition, the 
Company derecognized goodwill of $1,437,000 from the 
Company’s International Operations segment and reporting 
unit. The revenues and expenses of this sold subsidiary were 
not material to the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company or to the operating results of the Company’s 
International Operations segment. Accordingly, the Company 
has not reported the disposed business as discontinued oper-
ations in its consolidated financial statements.

Disposition of U.S. Subrogation Services
Effective February 28, 2007, the Company sold the operating 
assets of its U.S. subrogation services business for $5,000,000 
in cash at closing plus a potential earnout. This business was 
part of the Company’s U.S. Property & Casualty operating seg-
ment. The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $3,980,000 
based on the $5,000,000 sale price and derecognized $571,000 
of associated goodwill. Concurrent with the sale, the Company 
also entered into a services agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
the buyer. Under the terms of the Agreement, the buyer may 
provide subrogation and recovery services to certain clients of 
the Company and the Company may receive an administrative 
fee generated from these revenues earned by the buyer. The 
financial results of the subrogation services business are 
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
through the effective date of sale, and due to the significance 
of the Agreement with the buyer in relationship to the dis-
posed business, the Company has not reported the disposed 
business as discontinued operations in its consolidated 
financial statements. Revenues before reimbursements 
for the subrogation services business for the years ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $375,000 and $2,333,000, 
respectively. The earnout measurement period has ended, and 
amounts received by the Company under this earnout were 
not material.

Disposition of U.S. Investigation Services
On September 29, 2006, the Company sold the operating 
assets of its U.S. investigation services business for 
$3,000,000 in cash and a non interest-bearing note receivable 
of $2,000,000. The Company recognized a pre-tax gain of 
$3,069,000 on the transaction. The note receivable is due 
as follows: $1,000,000 on or before September 29, 2010 and 
$1,000,000 on or before September 29, 2013. The net book 
value of the disposed assets associated with this transaction 
totaled $473,000. In addition, goodwill of $526,000 was 
derecognized from the Company’s U.S. Property & Casualty 
segment and reporting unit. Since the note receivable does 
not bear interest, the Company discounted the note receiv-
able and reduced the gain on the sale transaction by $692,000 
to $3,069,000. Interest income is being recognized over the 
life of the note receivable using the effective interest method. 
Also on September 29, 2006, the Company entered into a 
long-term agreement (the “Agreement”) with the buyer to 
refer certain of the Company’s clients to the buyer for surveil-
lance and investigative services. Under the Agreement, the 
Company may receive an administrative fee from the buyer 
for these referrals. Revenues before reimbursements for the 
former investigation services business for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 were $6,502,000. The financial results 
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administrator offering a comprehensive integrated platform 
of workers’ compensation and liability claims management 
and medical management services. The Company began 
recording the operating activities of BMSI in its consoli-
dated financial statements for periods after October 31, 
2006. The Company combined its existing workers’ com-
pensation and liabilities claims management and medical 
services operations with those of the acquired BMSI to 
form the Company’s Broadspire segment. The acquisition 
of BMSI contributed approximately $192,058,000 and 
$33,100,000 in revenues in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
Due to the integration of the acquired BMSI business into 
the Company’s existing operations within the Broadspire 
segment, after 2007 the Company can no longer distin-
guish which 2008 revenues were attributable solely to 
the acquired BMSI business. 

The purchase price paid at acquisition for BMSI was 
$150,000,000, less $577,000 cash acquired. In addition, the 
Company paid $2,570,000 in direct acquisition-related costs. 
In 2007, the purchase price was increased by $609,000 for 
additional acquisition costs and the fair value of net assets 
acquired at acquisition was increased by $1,552,000 with a 
corresponding decrease in goodwill. Also, deferred tax assets 
arising from the purchase transaction were subsequently 
increased by $3,284,000 with a corresponding decrease  
in goodwill.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in the BMSI acquisition: 

(in thousands)
Assets	

	 Current assets, including cash acquired of $577		  $	 36,117

	 Property and equipment, net	  					     4,539

	 Computer software	  					     1,554

	 Goodwill						      134,076

	 Intangible assets						      117,300

	 Deferred tax asset, net	  					     2,936

	 Other noncurrent assets	  					     15,112

Total assets acquired						      311,634

Liabilities	

	 Current liabilities, including  
		  deferred revenue obligations					     88,378

	 Deferred revenue obligations – noncurrent	  			   70,062

	 Other liabilities						      15

Total liabilities assumed						     158,455

Net assets acquired					     $	153,179

The amounts assigned to goodwill and the intangible assets 
are not currently deductible for income tax purposes.

of the investigations services business are included in the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements through the date 
of sale, and due to the significance of the Agreement with the 
buyer in relationship to the disposed business, the Company 
has not reported the disposed business as discontinued oper-
ations in its consolidated financial statements.

Acquisition of Specialty Liability Services Ltd.
On August 16, 2006, the Company’s U.K. subsidiary acquired  
all of the outstanding stock of Specialty Liability Services 
Ltd. (“SLS”). The purchase price paid at acquisition was 
$7,965,000, less $1,099,000 cash acquired. The results of SLS’s 
operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements since that date. SLS is a specialist liability 
adjusting and claims handling company with operations in the 
U.K. The net assets acquired included amortizable intangible 
assets of $1,409,000, indefinite-live intangible assets of 
$2,487,000, and goodwill of $2,929,000. The purchase price 
was increased by $888,000 and $338,000 in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, due to additional acquisition costs incurred in 
2007 and earnout payments in both years. Over the next 
two years, we anticipate making additional payments of 
$1,586,000 to the sellers of SLS. 

Acquisition of e-Triage.com, Inc.
On October 30, 2006, the Company purchased all of the out-
standing stock of e-Triage.com, Inc. (“e-Triage”). The results 
of e-Triage’s operations have been included in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements since that date. The pur-
chase price consisted of $3,500,000 cash paid at closing and 
842,815 restricted shares of the Company’s Class A Common 
Stock valued at $5,163,000. The restrictions associated with 
these 842,815 shares have since lapsed. The primary assets of 
e-Triage are a proprietary database and a software application 
used in the management of disability and workers’ compen-
sation claims. In 2007, the purchase price was increased 
$31,000 for additional acquisition costs incurred and the fair 
values of intangible assets acquired in the acquisition were 
decreased by $3,396,000 with a corresponding increase in 
goodwill as a result of final appraisals. Also, deferred tax 
assets arising from the purchase transactions were subse-
quently increased by $1,274,000 with a corresponding 
decrease in goodwill.

Acquisition of Broadspire Management Services, Inc.
On October 31, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition 
of Broadspire Management Services, Inc. (“BMSI”) pursu-
ant to a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 18, 2006 
(the “Stock Purchase Agreement”). BMSI is a third-party 
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The following table reflects the condensed pro forma results 
of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006 as 
though the business combination with Broadspire had been 
completed at the beginning of 2006. 

(in thousands, except	 	 Year ended 
	 earnings per share)		  December 31, 2006

	 (unaudited)
Pro forma revenue				    $	1,078,956

Pro forma net income				    $	 15,983

Pro forma earnings per  
	 share – basic and diluted				    $	 0.32

In connection with the acquisition of BMSI, the Company 
recorded a liability in the fourth quarter 2006 of $1,824,000 
for severance payments to BMSI employees terminated as a 
result of the acquisition and $432,000 to cover the cost of cer-
tain BMSI office leases that have been or will be terminated. 
This liability was recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues 
Task Force Issue 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection 
with a Purchase Business Combination,” with a corresponding 
increase in goodwill. At December 31, 2008, the remaining lia-
bility balance was $242,000 and was associated with the 
office leases. 

3. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The goodwill recognized, fair values of assets acquired,  
liabilities assumed, and the net cash paid and stock issued  
in 2008 and 2007 related to acquired businesses, including 
adjustments for prior acquisitions, were as follows:

(in thousands)		  2008	 2007

Goodwill acquired 

	 For current year acquisitions:

		  International Operations segment		  $	 –	 $	 77

	 Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions:

		  International Operations segment			   4,949		  500

		  Broadspire segment				    –		  (4,584)

	 Total goodwill 			   $	  4,949	 $	 (4,007)

Intangible assets acquired

	 For current year acquisitions:

		  Corporate				    –		  294

	 Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions:

		  Corporate	  			   6		

		  Broadspire segment	  			   –		  (3,396)

	 Total intangible assets 	  		  $	 6	 $	 (3,102)	

Fair values of tangible assets acquired	  	 $	 (6)	 $	 6,642

Earnout payment in accrued liabilities		  $	 4,061	 $	 –

Fair values of liabilities assumed			   $	 –	 $	 (1,790)

Cash paid, net of cash acquired			   $	 888	 $ 	 1,323

Adjustments for prior years’ acquisitions include adjustments 
to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
and also for payments made under earnout agreements.

Included in the 2008 goodwill adjustments of $4,949,000 for 
the International Operations segment is a $4,061,000 addi-
tional earnout payment due to the seller of Robertson & 
Company Group (“Robertson”). Robertson was acquired by the 
Company’s Australian subsidiary in 2002. Based on the earnout 
agreement, the Company has recorded this determinable earn-
out payment of $4,061,000 in goodwill at December 31, 2008. 
However, the Company is not required to make this earnout 
payment until 2009, thus it is not reflected as a use of cash in 
the investing section of the Company’s Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2008.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, no material acqui-
sitions were completed. 

On January 1, 2008, the Company’s Strategic Warranty Services 
unit was transferred from the Legal Settlement Administration 
segment to the U.S. Property & Casualty segment. As a result 
of this transfer, $3,813,000 of goodwill was reallocated from the 
Legal Settlement Administration reporting unit and segment to 
the U.S. Property & Casualty reporting unit and segment. 
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Amortization of intangible assets was $6,464,000 and 
$6,399,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. For each of 2008 and 2007, $6,025,000 
of amortization for customer-relationship intangible assets 
was excluded from operating earnings (see Note 10). Intan-
gible assets subject to amortization are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over lives ranging from 5 to 15 years. 
For intangible assets at December 31, 2008 subject to amor-
tization, annual estimated aggregate amortization expense is 
$6,447,000 for 2009, 2010, and 2011; $6,414,000 for 2012; 
and $6,388,000 for 2013.

4. TERM LOANS AND REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

Credit Agreement
On October 31, 2006, the Company entered into a secured 
credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a syndication 
of lenders. The Credit Agreement provides for a maximum 
borrowing capacity of $310,000,000, comprised of (i) a 
term loan facility (the “term loan”) with an original principal 
amount of $210,000,000 and (ii) a revolving credit facility 
in the principal amount of $100,000,000 with a swingline 
subfacility, a letter of credit subfacility, and a foreign currency 
sublimit. On December 21, 2007, the Company entered into an 

The following table shows the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

			   	 Legal Settlement	 International  
(in thousands)		  U.S. Property & Casualty	 Broadspire	 Administration	 Operations	 Total

Balance at December 31, 2006	 $	 6,405	 $	144,928	 $	20,049	 $	85,318	 $	256,700

Goodwill for acquired businesses		  –		   (4,584)		  –		   577		  (4,007)

Goodwill for disposed business		   (571)		  –		  –		  –	  	 (571)

Foreign currency effects		  –		  –		  –		   7,089	  	 7,089

Balance at December 31, 2007		  5,834		  140,344		  20,049		   92,984		   259,211

Goodwill for acquired businesses		  –		  –		  –		   4,949		   4,949

Goodwill for disposed business		  –		  –		  –		   (1,437)		   (1,437)

Transfer of business		  3,813		  –		  (3,813)		   –		   –

Foreign currency effects		  –		  –		  –		   (10,826)		   (10,826)

Balance at December 31, 2008	 $	 9,647	 $	140,344	 $	16,236	  $	85,670	 $	251,897

For 2007, a correction was made for the Broadspire and eTriage acquisitions. Deferred tax assets arising from the Broadspire 
and eTriage purchase transactions were subsequently increased by $3,284,000 and $1,274,000, respectively, with corresponding 
decreases in goodwill.

The following is a summary of intangible assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007: 
						      Weighted- 
						      Average 
			   Gross	 Accumulated	 Net	 Amortization
(in thousands)			   Carrying Amount	 Amortization	 Carrying Value	 Period

Intangible assets subject to amortization:

December 31, 2008:
	 Customer Relationships			   $	 89,401	 $	(13,009)	 $	76,392		 12.7 years

	 Technology-Based				    4,100		  (921)		  3,179		  7.2 years
Total		  			   $	 93,501	 $	(13,930)	 $	79,571		 12.3 years

December 31, 2007:

	 Customer Relationships			   $	 89,725	 $	 (7,049)	 $	82,676		 13.7 years

	 Technology-Based				    4,094		  (483)		  3,611		  8.2 years

Total				   	 $	 93,819	 $	 (7,532)	 $	86,287		 13.3 years

Intangible assets not subject to amortization:

December 31, 2008:

	 Trademarks			   $	 31,818			   $	31,818

December 31, 2007:				  

	 Trademarks		  	 $	 32,391			   $	32,391
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amendment to the Credit Agreement that increased the vari-
able interest rate on the term loan facility and changed the 
debt covenant related to a leverage ratio that the Company 
is required to maintain. The term loan has a variable interest 
rate based on LIBOR, and at December 31, 2008 the interest 
rate on the term loan was LIBOR plus 2.50%, or 3.96%. The 
revolving credit facility also has variable interest rates based 
on LIBOR and other factors set by the lenders. At December 
31, 2008, the weighted-average interest rate on borrowings 
outstanding under the revolving credit facility was 9.97%, and 
all outstanding borrowings were outside the U.S. 

In May 2007, the Company entered into a three-year interest 
rate swap agreement which effectively converted the LIBOR-
based portion of the interest rate on an initial notional amount 
of $175.0 million of the Company’s floating-rate debt to a 
fixed rate of 5.25% (see Note 1).

The term loan requires minimum principal repayments of 
$525,000 at the end of each calendar quarter beginning 
December 31, 2006 and continuing for the subsequent 27 
quarters with a final balloon payment due on October 30, 
2013. Outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit 
facility are due in full on October 30, 2011. Interest is payable 
quarterly on both. During 2007, the Company made additional 
voluntary payments of $12,500,000 on the term loan. During 
2008, the Company made only the required quarterly repay-
ments of $525,000 on the term loan. The Company may be 
required to make additional annual debt repayments if the 
Company generates excess cash flows and fails to meet cer-
tain leverage ratios as defined in the Credit Agreement. For the 
year ended December 31, 2008, the Company was not required 
to make additional debt payments under this provision of the 
amended Credit Agreement. 

Each of the direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries of the 
Company, and certain of its foreign subsidiaries, guarantees 
the obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement. 
The Company’s and the subsidiary guarantors’ obligations 
under the Credit Agreement are secured by liens on all of 
their respective personal property and mortgages over cer-
tain of their owned and leased properties. 

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations, 
warranties and covenants, including covenants limiting liens, 
indebtedness, guaranties, mergers and consolidations, sub-
stantial asset sales, investments, loans, sales and leasebacks, 
dividends and distributions, and other fundamental changes. 
In addition, the Credit Agreement requires the Company to 
meet certain financial tests.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries must maintain a leverage ratio defined as the 
ratio of consolidated debt to earnings before interest expense, 
income taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compen-
sation expense, and certain other charges (“EBITDA”) of 
no more than (i) 3.00 to 1.00 from and including the fourth 
quarter of 2008 through the third quarter of 2009 and 
(ii) 2.50 to 1.00 from and after the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Under the Credit Agreement, the fixed charge coverage ratio, 
defined as the ratio of EBITDA to total fixed charges consisting 
of scheduled principal and interest payments and restricted 
payments as defined in the Credit Agreement, of the Company 
and its consolidated subsidiaries must not be less than 1.50 
to 1.00. 

The Credit Agreement also provides for the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries to maintain a minimum net worth 
of at least the sum of (i) $150,000,000 plus (ii) 50% of the 
cumulative net income of the Company and its consolidated 
subsidiaries after the third quarter of 2006 plus (iii) any net 
proceeds from any underwritten public offering of any capital 
stock of the Company. 

The covenants in the Credit Agreement also place certain 
restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends 
to shareholders, including a $12,500,000 limit on dividend  
payments in any 12-month period. 

In the event of a default by the Company under the Credit 
Agreement, the lenders may terminate the commitments under 
the agreement and declare any amounts then outstanding, 
including all accrued interest and unpaid fees, payable imme-
diately. For events of default relating to insolvency, bankruptcy 
or receivership, the commitments are automatically terminated 
and the amounts outstanding become payable immediately. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance 
with the debt covenants under the Credit Agreement. If the 
Company does not meet the covenant requirements in the 
future, it would be in default under the Credit Agreement. In 
such an event, the Company would need to obtain a waiver 
of the default or repay the outstanding indebtedness under 
the Credit Agreement. If the Company could not obtain a 
waiver on satisfactory terms, it could be required to renego-
tiate the Credit Agreement. Any such renegotiations could 
result in less favorable terms, including higher interest rates, 
accelerated payments, and fees. 

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, a total of $194,618,000 and 
$212,394,000, respectively, was outstanding under the Credit 
Agreement. In addition, commitments under letters of credit 
totaling $19,870,000 and $19,762,000 were outstanding at 
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Interest expense, including any impact from the Company’s 
interest rate hedge, on the Company’s short-term and long-term 
borrowings was $19,616,000, $19,202,000, and $8,146,000 for 
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respec-
tively. Interest paid on the Company’s short-term and 
long-term borrowings was $19,037,000, $21,166,000, and 
$6,327,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively.

Repayment and Early Termination of  
Former Credit Agreements
Simultaneously with entering into the Credit Agreement, the 
Company also terminated and repaid amounts outstanding 
under its former revolving line of credit and its former term 
loan on October 31, 2006. As a result of the early termina-
tions of these debt agreements, the Company realized a loss 
on the early extinguishment of $1,401,000 on October 31, 
2006. This amount included unamortized loan costs of 
$608,000 and $793,000 of early termination fees charged  
by the lenders.

5. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
The Company and its subsidiaries lease certain office space, 
computer equipment, and automobiles under operating 
leases. For office leases that contain scheduled rent increases 
or rent concessions, the Company recognizes monthly rent 
expense based on a calculated average monthly rent amount 
that considers the rent increases and rent concessions over 
the life of the lease term. Leasehold improvements of a 
capital nature that are made to leased office space under 
operating leases are amortized over the shorter of the term 
of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement. 
License and maintenance costs related to the leased vehicles 
are paid by the Company. Rental expenses, net of amortization 
of any incentives provided by lessors, for operating leases 
consisted of the following:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Office space	 $	46,501	 $	48,026	 $	33,915

Automobiles		  9,651	  	 8,654	  	 8,411

Computers and equipment		  646		  634	  	 689

Total operating leases	  $	56,798	 $	57,314	 $	43,015

Long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

(in thousands)								        2008		  2007

Term loan facility, principal of $525 and interest payable quarterly with balloon payment due October 2013	 $	182,775	 $	184,875

Other term loan payable to bank, principal and interest at 5.45%, payable bi-annually through December 2010		   231		  367

Capital lease obligations								        484		  682

Total long-term debt and capital leases								         183,490	  	 185,924

Less: current installments							       	  (2,284)	  	 (2,475)

Total long-term debt and capital leases, less current installments						      $	181,206	 $	183,449

The Company’s capital leases are primarily comprised of leased automobiles with terms ranging from 24 to 60 months. 

Scheduled principal repayments of long-term debt, including capital leases, as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

	 Payments Due by Period

		  			   2014 and  
(in thousands)		  2009	 2010–2011	 2012–2013	 Thereafter	 Total

Long-term debt, including current portions 	 $	 2,146	 $	 4,385	 $	176,475	 $	 –	 $	183,006

Capital lease obligations 		   138		  250		   83		  13		  484

Total 		  $	 2,284	 $	 4,635	 $	176,558	 $	 13	 $	183,490

December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, under the letters 
of credit subfacility of the Credit Agreement. These letter of 
credit commitments were for the Company’s own obligations. 
Including the amounts committed under the letters of credit 
subfacility, the unused balance of the revolving credit portion 

of the credit facility totaled $68,286,000 and $52,719,000 at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Short-term borrowings, including bank overdraft facilities, 
totaled $13,366,000 and $29,389,000 at December 31, 2008 
and 2007, respectively. 
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Effective August 1, 2006, the Company entered into an  
operating lease agreement for the lease of approximately 
160,000 square feet of office space in Atlanta, Georgia for 
use as the Company’s new corporate headquarters. This lease 
has a term of eleven years with total minimum monthly lease 
payments of $38,102,000 over the life of the lease. Additionally, 
the Company is responsible for certain property operating 
expenses. Leasehold improvements totaling $4,921,000 were 
funded directly by the lessor. The Company moved into this 
new office space during the second quarter of 2007 after the 
completion of leasehold improvements. During the leasehold 
improvement construction period between August 1, 2006 and 
the occupancy date, rent expense was charged to operating 
expenses as required by FASB Staff Position 13-1, “Accounting 
for Rental Costs Incurred during a Construction Period.” 

At December 31, 2008, future minimum payments under  
non-cancelable operating leases with terms of more than  
12 months were as follows: 2009 – $47,715,000; 2010 – 
$39,228,000; 2011 – $30,971,000; 2012 – $24,517,000;  
2013 – $19,313,000; and thereafter – $61,551,000. 

As part of the Company’s acquisition of BMSI on October 31, 
2006, the Company assumed a significant long-term lease for 
two office buildings in Plantation, Florida, the former head-
quarters of BMSI. The Company’s lease obligation on these 
office buildings extends until December 2021. The associated 
minimum lease payments are included in the minimum lease 
obligations noted in the previous paragraph. Under the sub-
lease arrangement between BMSI and a sublessor, the sublessor 
is obligated to pay the Company minimum sublease payments 
as follows:

(in thousands)
Year Ending December 31,	

2009							       $	 1,803

2010								        1,830

2011								        1,858

2012								        1,885

2013								        1,914

2014								        480

Total minimum sublease payments to be received		  $	 9,770

When the current sublease agreement expires in March 2014, 
the sublessor has the option to renew the sublease agree-
ment through December 2021. Should the sublessor elect to 
renew the sublease agreement through December 2021, addi-
tional sublease payments from the sublessor to the Company 
would be $14,277,000 over the renewal period.

6. INCOME TAXES 
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of 
the following:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

U.S. 				   $	 6,190	 $	 (1,744)	 $	10,222

Foreign				   37,633		  23,256	  	 13,849

Income before taxes	 $	43,823	 $	21,512	 $	24,071

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the 
following:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Current:

	 U.S. federal and state	 $	 (166)	 $	 (1,172)	 $	 (95)

	 Foreign			  11,483	  	 8,005	  	 6,092

Deferred:

	 U.S. federal and state		  766		  (2,110)		  3,290

	 Foreign 		  (519)		  673		  (227)

Provision for income taxes	 $	11,564	 $	 5,396	 $	 9,060

Net cash payments for income taxes were $7,975,000 in 
2008, $2,339,000 in 2007, and $10,902,000 in 2006. 

The provision for income taxes is reconciled to the federal 
statutory rate of 35% as follows:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Federal income taxes  
	 at statutory rate	 $	15,338	 $	 7,529	 $	 8,425 

State income taxes, net of  
	 federal benefit		  (223)		  149		  626

Foreign taxes		  (2,110)		  (658)		  828

Change in valuation allowance		  597		  1,105		  (532)

Credits				    (3,468)		  (1,062)		  (317)

Tax exempt interest income		  (267)	  	 (1,155)		  (1,177)

Nondeductible meals and  
	 entertainment	  	 1,189	  	 847		  840

Changes in tax accruals  
	 and reserves		  (170)	  	 (2,012)		  6

Other				    678		  653		  361

Provision for income taxes	 $	11,564	  $	 5,396	  $	 9,060

The Company does not provide for additional U.S. and foreign 
income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
because they are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. At 
December 31, 2008, such undistributed earnings totaled 
$127,873,000. Determination of the deferred income tax liabil-
ity on these unremitted earnings is not practicable since such 
liability, if any, is dependent on circumstances existing when 
remittance occurs. 
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As disclosed in Note 1, on January 1, 2007 the Company 
adopted FIN 48, which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty 
in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements 
in accordance with SFAS 109, and prescribes a recognition 
threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement 
disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on 
a tax return. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income 
tax position on the income tax return must be recognized at 
the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained 
upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain 
income tax position cannot be recognized if it has less than 
a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Additionally, FIN 48 pro-
vides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and tran-
sition. The adoption of FIN 48 resulted in a $214,000 charge 
to the Company’s retained earnings that was reported as a 
cumulative effect adjustment for a change in accounting prin-
ciple at January 1, 2007. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of unrec-
ognized income tax benefits follows:

(in thousands)
Balance at January 1, 2007					     $	 5,541

Additions based on tax provisions  
	 related to the current year	  					     285

Additions for tax positions of prior years	  				    126

Settlements	  					     (1,917)

Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation	  				    (410)

Balance at December 31, 2007	  					     3,625

Additions based on tax provisions related  
	 to the current year	  					     305

Additions for tax positions of prior years	  				    18

Settlements	  					     87

Lapses of applicable statutes of limitation	  				    (682)

Balance at December 31, 2008	  				    $	 3,353

The Company accrues interest and, if applicable, penalties 
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the 
Company recorded net interest income related to unrecog-
nized tax benefits of $29,000 and $397,000, respectively. 
Total accrued interest expense at December 31, 2008, 
December 31, 2007, and January 1, 2007 was $899,000, 
$928,000, and $1,325,000, respectively. 

Included in the total unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 
2008, December 31, 2007, and January 1, 2007 were $2,455,000, 
$2,566,000, and $4,278,000, respectively, of tax benefits 
that, if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate. 

Deferred income taxes consisted of the following at 
December 31, 2008 and 2007:

(in thousands)				    2008		  2007

Accrued compensation			   $	 12,536	 $	 11,059

Accrued pension liabilities				    85,267		  38,819

Self-insured risks				    14,698		  14,920

Deferred revenues				    24,604		  31,612

Other post-retirement benefits				    –		  376

Tax credit carryforwards	  			   4,710	  	 1,052

Net operating loss carryforwards	  			   26,837	  	 25,971

Other	  					     5,523		   4,804

Gross deferred income tax assets	 			   174,175		   128,613

Accounts receivable allowance	  			   4,942	  	 7,919

Prepaid pension cost	  			   15,699	  	 12,686

Unbilled revenues	  			   16,420		   21,214

Depreciation and amortization	  			   61,281		   57,556

Tax accruals and reserves	  			   3,039	  	 3,087

Other post-retirement benefits				    76		  –

Gross deferred income tax liabilities	  		  101,457		  102,462

Net deferred income tax assets  
	 before valuation allowance	  			   72,718	  	 26,151

Less: valuation allowance				     (9,285) 	  	(10,092) 

Net deferred income tax assets	  		  $	 63,433	  $	 16,059

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated  
	 Balance Sheets consist of:

Current deferred income tax assets included  
	 in deferred income tax liabilities	  	 $	 20,031	  $	 25,019

Current deferred income tax liabilities  
	 included in deferred income tax liabilities	  	 (24,293)		  (32,441)

Long-term deferred income tax assets  
	 included in deferred income tax assets			   149,163		  97,429

Long-term deferred income tax liabilities  
	 included in deferred income tax assets			   (81,468)		  (73,948)

Net deferred income tax assets	  		  $	 63,433	  $	 16,059

At December 31, 2008, the Company identified certain adjust-
ments to the deferred tax assets arising from its acquisitions 
of BMSI and eTriage. Deferred tax assets at December 31, 
2007 were increased by $4,558,000 to reflect these adjust-
ments with a corresponding decrease in goodwill at that date.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had deferred tax 
assets related to net operating loss carryforwards of 
$26,837,000. An estimated $9,650,000 of the deferred tax 
asset will not expire, and $17,187,000 will expire over the 
next 20 years if not utilized by the Company. A valuation 
allowance is provided when it is deemed more-likely-than- 
not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will 
not be realized. At December 31, 2008, the Company has 
a $9,285,000 valuation allowance related to certain net 
operating loss carryforwards generated in its international 
operations. The remaining net operating loss deferred tax 
asset of $17,552,000 is expected to be fully utilized by 
the Company.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

76 crawford & company

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, 
files U.S. federal and various state and foreign jurisdiction 
income tax returns. In the normal course of business, the 
Company is subject to examination by various taxing authori-
ties throughout the world, including jurisdictions such as 
Canada, the United Kingdom, and the United States. With 
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income 
tax examinations for years before 2001.

It is reasonably possible that a reduction in a range of 
$50,000 to $300,000 of unrecognized tax benefits may occur 
within 12 months as a result of projected resolutions of 
worldwide tax uncertainties.

7. RETIREMENT PLANS 
The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor various retirement 
plans. Substantially all employees in the U.S. and certain 
employees outside the U.S. are covered under the Company’s 
defined contribution plans. Certain employees, retirees, and 
eligible dependents are also covered under the Company’s 
defined benefit pension plans. A fixed number of U.S. 
employees, retirees, and eligible dependents are covered 
under a frozen post-retirement medical benefits plan in 
the U.S. In addition, the Company sponsors nonqualified, 
unfunded defined benefit pension plans for certain employ-
ees and retirees.

Employer contributions under the Company’s defined  
contribution plans are determined annually based on 
employee contributions, a percentage of each covered 
employee’s compensation, and years of service. The 
Company’s cost for defined contribution plans totaled 
$25,350,000, $21,256,000, and $19,420,000 in 2008,  
2007, and 2006, respectively.

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension plans in the 
U.S. and U.K. Effective December 31, 2002, the Company 
elected to freeze its U.S. defined benefit pension plan. The 
Company’s U.K. defined benefit pension plans have also been 
closed for new employees, but existing participants may still 
accrue additional limited benefits based on salary amounts in 
effect at the time the plan was closed. Benefits payable under 
the Company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan are generally 
based on career compensation; however, no additional ben-
efits accrue on the frozen U.S. plan after December 31, 2002. 
Benefits payable under the U.K. plans are generally based 
on an employee’s final salary at the time the plan was closed. 
Benefits paid from the U.K. plans are also subject to adjust-
ments for the effects of inflation. In 2009, the Company 
expects to make contributions of approximately $10,300,000 
to its U.S. defined benefit pension plan and approximately 
$4,780,000 to its U.K. defined benefit pension plans.

Certain other employees located in the Netherlands, Norway, 
and Germany (referred to herein as the “other international 
plans”) have retirement benefits that are accounted for as 
defined pension benefits under U.S. GAAP. 

Adoption of SFAS 158
As permitted, the Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 158 was 
in two phases. On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted 
the first phase, the recognition and disclosure provisions of 
SFAS 158. The first phase of SFAS 158 required the Company 
to recognize in its Consolidated Balance Sheet the unfunded 
status of its defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical 
benefit plan with a corresponding adjustment to accumu-
lated other comprehensive loss, net of income tax. The 
adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss at adop-
tion represented the net unrecognized actuarial losses and 
unrecognized amortization of the transition intangible asset, 
all of which were previously netted against the plans’ funded 
status in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet pursu-
ant to the provisions of SFAS 87 and SFAS 106. These 
amounts are subsequently recognized as net periodic ben-
efit cost. The Company had no unrecognized prior service 
costs at December 31, 2006. Actuarial gains and losses that 
are not recognized as net periodic benefit cost are recognized 
as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). 
Those amounts are subsequently recognized as a compo-
nent of net periodic benefit cost on the same basis as the 
amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss upon the adoption of SFAS 158. 

The requirement of SFAS 158 to measure the fair value of 
plan assets and benefit obligations as of the most recent 
balance sheet date, the second phase, was effective for the 
Company on January 1, 2008. Prior to 2008, the Company 
used a September 30 annual measurement date for its frozen 
U.S. defined benefit pension plan as well as its frozen U.S. 
retiree medical benefit plan. Under SFAS 158, beginning in 
2008, the September 30 early measurement date could no 
longer be used and the Company must instead use December 
31 as its year-end measurement date. The Company’s U.K. 
and other international defined benefit plans already used a 
fiscal year-end measurement date, and thus no measurement 
date changes were needed for those non-U.S. plans. 

SFAS 158 provided entities with two alternatives to transition 
to a fiscal year-end measurement date. The Company selected 
the alternative that allowed it to use the existing early mea-
surement date of September 30, 2007 to compute net periodic 
benefit cost for the period between October 1, 2007 and 
December 31, 2008 (the “15-month alternative” under SFAS 
158). Net periodic benefit costs under the 15-month period 
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The underfunded status of the Company’s defined benefit 
pension plans and post-retirement medical benefits plan rec-
ognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 
consisted of:

(in thousands)				    2008		  2007

Long-term accrued pension liability –  
	 U.S. plan			   $	151,135	 $	45,327

Long-term accrued pension liability – 
	 U.K. plans				    25,757		  27,872

Long-term accrued pension liability – 
	 other international plans	  			   2,650	  	 3,778

Pension obligations included in other  
	 noncurrent liabilities	  			   3,435	  	 3,520

Post-retirement medical benefits  
	 liability in self-insured risks				     744	  	 1,898

Pension obligations included in 
	  current liabilities				    280		   272

Post-retirement medical liability included  
	 in current liabilities 				    103		  254

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss), 
	 before income taxes		                         (228,235)  (102,112)

The following tables set forth the 2008 and 2007 changes 
in accumulated other comprehensive loss for the Company’s 
defined benefit retirement plans and post-retirement medical 
benefits plan on a combined basis. For the U.S. defined ben-
efit pension plan and the post-retirement medical plan, the 
2008 amounts in the tables below cover the fifteen month 
period between October 1, 2007 and December 31, 2008.

								        Defined		  Post-
								        Benefit	 Retirement 
Unrecognized				    Pension		  Medical
actuarial (loss) gain: (in thousands)			   Plans		  Plan

Net unrecognized actuarial  
	 (loss) gain at beginning of 2007		  $	 (117,315)	 $	 1,179

Amortization of net loss (gain) during 2007	  		  8,219	  	 (388)

Net gain arising during 2007				     7,421		  414

Currency translation for 2007				     (870)		  –

Net unrecognized actuarial (loss)  
	 gain at end of 2007				   (102,545)		  1,205

Amortization of net loss (gain) during 2008	  		  4,475		   (18)

Divestiture				    253		  –

Net (loss) gain arising during 2008	 		  (140,397)		  1,490

Currency translation for 2008	  			   7,674		  –

Net unrecognized actuarial 
	 (loss) gain at end of 2008		  $	 (230,540)	 $	 2,677

alternative were a net credit of $711,000 before income taxes 
for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan and its frozen U.S. 
retiree medical benefit plan. Eighty percent of this net peri-
odic benefit expense credit, or approximately $569,000 
credit before income taxes, was recognized in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statement of Income as a periodic benefit cost 
reduction during 2008. The remaining 20% of the benefit 
credit, or approximately $94,000 credit after income taxes, 
was credited to the Company’s beginning retained earnings 
on January 1, 2008. 

The 2008 adoption of the second phase of SFAS 158 resulted 
in a credit of $769,000, or approximately $492,000 net of 
income taxes, to the Company’s accumulated other compre-
hensive loss.

The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of 
the projected benefit obligations and the fair value of plans’ 
assets for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans as 
of the plans’ most recent measurement dates is as follows: 

Funded Status (in thousands)				    2008		  2007

Projected Benefit Obligations:

Beginning of measurement period		  $	 629,640	 $	 585,593

Service cost	  			   2,506	  	 3,095

Interest cost	  			   40,694		  35,310

Employee contributions				    716		   781

Actuarial (loss) gain 				    (48,123)	  	 18,902

Divestiture				    (1,706)		  –

Benefits paid	  			   (33,808)		   (30,654)

Foreign currency effects	  			   (52,207)	  	 16,613

End of measurement period	  			   537,712	  	 629,640

Fair Value of Plans’ Assets: 

Beginning of measurement period		  	 548,871		  491,885

Actual return on plans’ assets				    (139,015)		  62,656

Employer contributions	  			   24,577		   8,541

Employee contributions				     716	  	 781

Divestiture				     (1,127)		  –

Benefits paid				     (33,808)	  	 (30,654)

Foreign currency effects				    (45,759)		  15,662

End of measurement period				    354,455	  	 548,871

Unfunded Status 			   $	(183,257)	 $	 (80,769)

For the Company’s U.S. defined benefit plans, the amounts 
for 2008 in the table above cover the fifteen month period 
between October 1, 2007 and December 31, 2008. Due to the 
status of the plans, the accumulated benefit obligations and 
the projected benefits obligations are not materially different. 
Benefit payments from supplemental pension plans during 
2008 and 2007 included $311,000 and $237,000, respectively, 
in payments related to unfunded plans that were paid from 
Company assets.

103

280

744

3,435

2,650

25,757
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Unrecognized intangible				    Defined Benefit
asset amortization: (in thousands)			   Pension Plan

Unrecognized amortization  
	 at beginning of 2007					     $	 (992)

Amortization expense recognized  
	 during 2007						      302

Currency translation for 2007						      (82)

Unrecognized amortization at end of 2007	  				    (772)

Amortization expense recognized during 2008				    236

Currency translation for 2008	  					     164

Unrecognized amortization at end of 2008				    $	 (372)

Unrecognized intangible asset amortization and net unrecog-
nized actuarial losses included in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss and expected to be recognized in net 
periodic benefit costs during the year ending December 31, 
2009 for the U.S. and U.K. plans are $174,000 ($110,000 net 
of tax) and $7,120,000 ($4,489,000 net of tax), respectively. 

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) related to the Company’s 
defined benefit pension plans recognized in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 included the following 
components:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Service cost	 $	 2,506	 $	 3,095	 $	 2,689

Interest cost 		  34,749		  35,310		  32,536

Expected return on assets		   (41,981)		  (38,977)	  	(36,256)

Amortization of intangible asset		  236		  302		  279

Amortization of actuarial loss		  3,703		   8,219 		  9,724 

Net periodic benefit (credit) cost	 $	 (787)	  $	 7,949	  $	 8,972

Benefit cost for the U.S. defined benefit pension plan and the 
retiree medical plan no longer include service cost since those 
plans are frozen.

Certain assumptions used in computing the benefit obligations 
and net periodic benefit cost for the U.S. and U.K. defined 
benefit pension plans were as follows:

U.S. Defined Benefit Plan:			   2008	 2007

Discount rate used to compute  
	 benefit obligations			    6.70%	  6.46%

Discount rate used to compute  
	 periodic benefit cost			    6.46%	  5.99%

Expected long-term rates of  
	 return on plan’s assets			    8.50%	  8.50%

U.K. Defined Benefit Plans:			   2008	 2007

Discount rate used to compute  
	 benefit obligations			    7.30%	  5.60%

Discount rate used to compute  
	 periodic benefit cost			   5.60%	 5.99%

Expected long-term rates of return  
	 on plans’ assets			   8.50%	 4.50% – 10.85%

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates at which the 
Company believes the benefit obligations could be effectively 
settled. The discount rates were determined based on the 
yield for a portfolio of investment grade corporate bonds 
with maturity dates matched to the estimated future payments 
of the plans’ benefit obligations. The expected long-term rates 
of return on plan assets were based on the plans’ asset mix, 
historical returns on equity securities and fixed income invest-
ments, and an assessment of expected future returns. Due to 
the status of the plans, increases in compensation rates are 
not material to the computations of benefit obligations or net 
periodic benefit cost.

Plan assets are invested in equity securities and fixed income 
investments, with a target allocation of approximately 40% 
to 80% in equity securities and 20% to 60% in fixed income 
investments. The plans’ asset allocations at the respective 
measurement dates, by asset category, for the Company’s U.S. 
and U.K. defined benefit pension plans, were as follows:

				  
		  2008	 2007

Equity securities				    71.2%	 75.7%

Fixed income investments				    26.2%	 22.3%

Cash	 						      2.6%	 2.0%

Total asset allocation				    100.0%	 100.0%

Plan assets included shares of the Company’s Class A and 
Class B Common Stock with a total fair value of $6,690,000 
and $3,735,000 at December 31, 2008 and September 30, 
2007 respectively. These shares of the Company’s common 
stock were sold and removed from Plan assets in early 2009.

Over the next ten years, the following benefit payments are 
expected to be required to be made from the Company’s U.S. 
and U.K. defined benefit pension plans:

					     	 Expected Benefit Payments
Year 					    (in thousands)
2009							       $	 29,235

2010	  							       30,211

2011								         31,058

2012	  							       32,081

2013	  							       32,988

2014 – 2018						      179,657
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In April 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized 
a discretionary share repurchase program of an aggregate 
of 3,000,000 shares of Class A and Class B Common Stock 
through open market purchases. Through December 31, 
2008, the Company has reacquired 2,150,876 shares of its 
Class A Common Stock and 143,261 shares of its Class B 
Common Stock at an average cost of $10.99 and $12.21  
per share, respectively. No shares have been repurchased 
since 2004 under this plan.

In 2008, a maximum of 550,000 shares of the Company’s 
Class A Common Stock were authorized for issuance in early 
2009 under the Company’s Frozen Accrued Vacation Stock 
Purchase Plan (the “Plan”). Under this Plan, certain officers 
and employees of the Company could voluntarily make a 
one-time irrevocable election to convert accrued vacation 
into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. Such 
elections had to be made by December 31, 2008. Based on 
these elections, the Company estimates that accrued vaca-
tion in the amount of $386,000 will be used to purchase 
shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock under the 
Plan. The ultimate number of shares to be issued under the 
Plan will depend on the market price of CRDA on the date in 
2009 that the shares are issued.

9. Stock-Based Compensation
As disclosed in Note 1, effective January 1, 2006 the Company 
adopted SFAS 123R and the related guidance using the modi-
fied-prospective-transition method. 

The Company has three types of stock-based compensation 
plans: stock option plans, an executive stock bonus plan (per-
formance shares and restricted shares), and employee stock 
purchase plans. The fair value of an equity award is estimated 
on the grant date without regard to service or performance 
conditions. The fair value is recognized as compensation 
expense over the requisite service period for all awards that 
vest. When recognizing compensation costs, estimates are 
made for the number of awards that will vest, and subsequent 
adjustments are made to reflect both changes in the number of 
shares expected to vest and actual vesting. Compensation cost 
is not recognized for awards that do not vest because service 
or performance conditions are not satisfied. Compensation 
cost recognized at any date equals at least the portion of the 
grant-date value of an award that is vested at that date. For 
awards granted prior to January 1, 2006 that were not previously 
subject to expense recognition under APB 25, compensation 
expense under SFAS 123R is recognized only for the portions 
of those awards that were unvested at the adoption of SFAS 
123R on January 1, 2006. Expense for these awards is recog-
nized ratably beginning January 1, 2006 over the remaining 
vesting period of each award. 

Post-retirement Medical Benefits Plan
Certain U.S. retirees and a fixed number of U.S. long-term 
employees and eligible dependents are entitled to receive 
post-retirement medical benefits under the Company’s vari-
ous medical benefit plans. The accumulated post-retirement 
medical benefit plan obligation recognized on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 
was $847,000 and $2,152,000, respectively. These amounts 
are net of an unrecognized actuarial gain of $2,677,000 
and $1,205,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively, related primarily to the Medicare Prescription Drug, 
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. This unrecog-
nized gain is recognized as a reduction of annual benefit 
costs over the remaining life expectancies of the plan partic-
ipants, and for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, this recognition reduced net periodic benefit 
costs by $14,000, $388,000, and $576,000, respectively. 
For this plan, net periodic benefit cost (credit) was $117,000, 
$(223,000), and $(434,000) for the years ended December 31, 
2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. Benefit payments are 
funded by participant contributions and by contributions 
from the Company. Benefit payments made in the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $668,000, 
$897,000, and $934,000, respectively, of which $301,000 
and $253,000 were funded by Company contributions to the 
plan in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Company expects 
its funding obligation under this plan to be approximately 
$103,000 for benefit payments in 2009, and this amount 
is included as a current liability on the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2008. Over the next ten 
years, benefit payments under this plan are estimated to 
total $662,000 and the Company will be required to fund 
any portion of the estimated benefit payments not funded 
by participant contributions. 

8. COMMON STOCK
The Company has two classes of common stock outstanding, 
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. These two 
classes of stock have essentially identical rights, except that 
shares of Class A Common Stock generally do not have any 
voting rights. Under the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, 
the Board of Directors may pay higher (but not lower) cash 
dividends on the non-voting Class A Common Stock than on 
the voting Class B Common Stock. As described in Note 9, 
certain shares of Class A Common Stock are issued with 
restrictions under executive compensation plans.

As disclosed in Note 4, the Company’s Credit Agreement 
contains restrictions on dividends and distributions.
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The pre-tax compensation expense recognized for all stock-
based compensation plans was $5,858,000, $2,929,000 and 
$3,567,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, respectively. 

The total income tax benefit recognized in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income for stock-based compensation arrange-
ments was $1,801,000, $816,000, and $1,023,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
Some of the Company’s stock-based compensation awards are 
granted under plans which are designed not to be taxable as 
compensation to the recipient based on tax laws of the United 
States or the applicable country. Accordingly, the Company 
does not recognize tax benefits on all of its stock-based 
compensation expense. 

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company recognized 
no adjustments to additional paid-in capital for differences 
between deductions taken on its income tax returns related 
to stock-based compensation plans and the related income tax 
benefits previously recognized for financial reporting purposes.

Stock Option Plans
The Company has granted nonqualified and incentive stock 
options to key employees and directors. All stock options were 
for shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. Option 

awards were granted with an exercise price equal to the 
market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant. 
The Company’s stock option plans have been approved by 
shareholders, although the Company’s Board of Directors 
is authorized to make specific grants of stock options under 
active plans. Employee stock options typically are subject to 
graded vesting over five years (20% each year) and have a 
typical life of ten years. Under SFAS 123R, compensation cost 
for stock options is recognized on a straight-line basis over 
the requisite service period for the entire award. For awards 
granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, compensation 
expense is recognized only for the portion of the award that 
was unvested upon the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 
2006. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
compensation expense of $469,000, $536,000 and $795,000, 
respectively, was recognized for the key employee stock 
option awards. 

Under the directors’ plan, board members were granted 
options upon initial election to the Board and upon annual 
re-election to the Board. Directors’ stock options were fully 
vested at grant date with a typical life of ten years. For the 
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, compensa-
tion expense of $28,000, $248,000, and $46,000, respectively, 
was recognized for directors’ stock options. 

A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2008, and changes during 2008, 2007, and 2006, is presented below:

			   		  Weighted- 
				    Weighted-	 Average	 Aggregate 
			   Shares	 Average	 Remaining	 Intrinsic Value 
			   (in thousands)	 Exercise Price	 Contractual Term	 (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2005						       4,595	 $	 9.46		  5.1 years	 $	 773

	 Granted	  					     49		  5.80

	 Exercised						      (12)		  4.70

	 Forfeited or expired						      (959)		  10.71

Outstanding at December 31, 2006						      3,673		  9.10		  4.7 years		   805

	 Granted	  					     120		  6.51

	 Exercised						       (30)		  4.97

	 Forfeited or expired						       (756)		  12.86

Outstanding at December 31, 2007						      3,007		  8.10	 4.7 years			   0

	 Granted	  					     274		  4.40

	 Exercised						       (184)		  7.03

	 Forfeited or expired						       (369)		  12.87

Outstanding at December 31, 2008						      2,728	 $	 7.16	 4.7 years		  $	 2,008

Vested at December 31, 2008						      2,315	 $	 7.50	 4.2 years	  	 $	 1,386

Exercisable at December 31, 2008						      2,315	 $	 7.50	 4.2 years		  $	 1,386
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Executive Stock Bonus Plan
The Company’s executive stock bonus plan has two  
components: the performance share component and the 
restricted share component.

Under the performance share component, key employees of 
the Company are eligible to earn shares of Class A Common 
Stock upon the achievement of certain individual and corpo-
rate objectives. Share grants are determined at the discretion 
of the Company’s Board of Directors and are subject to graded 
vesting over periods typically ranging from three to five years. 
Shares are not issued until the vesting requirements have 
lapsed. Dividends are not paid or accrued on unvested 
shares. The grant-date fair value of a performance share 
grant is based on the market value of the Company’s Class A 
Common Stock (“CRDA”) on the date of grant, reduced for 
the present value of any dividends expected to be paid 
on CRDA shares but not paid to holders of unvested perfor-
mance shares. If the award contains a performance condition, 
compensation expense for each vesting tranche in the award 
is recognized ratably from the service inception date to the 
vesting date for each tranche. Otherwise, compensation expense 
is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite ser-
vice period. 

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested  
performance shares as of December 31, 2008, and changes  
in 2008, 2007, and 2006, is presented below:
	 Weighted- 
	 Average 
		  Grant Date  
	 Shares	 Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2006						     127,900	 $	 6.38

	 Granted					     1,061,350		  5.18

	 Vesting						     (26,960)		  6.38

	 Forfeited or unearned					     (74,270)		  6.13

Nonvested at December 31, 2006				    1,088,020		  5.22

	 Granted	  				   164,500		  4.98

	 Vesting						     (47,414)		  5.27

	 Forfeited or unearned					     (55,795)		  4.95

Nonvested at December 31, 2007				     1,149,311		  5.20

	 Granted					     1,217,300		  4.02

	 Vesting						     (1,063,754)		  4.66

	 Forfeited or unearned					     (139,690)		  4.80

Nonvested at December 31, 2008	 			    1,163,167		  4.49

The total fair value of the 1,063,754, 47,414, and 26,960  
performance shares vesting in 2008, 2007, and 2006 was 
$5,105,000, $250,000, and $172,000, respectively. 

The intrinsic value of all outstanding stock options at 
December 31, 2007 was zero since the per share market price 
of Crawford Class A Common Stock was less than the exercise 
price of all outstanding stock options. The weighted-average 
grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $2.55, $2.07, 
and $1.83, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options 
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 
2006 was $611,000, $40,000, and $17,000, respectively. The 
total fair value of stock options vesting during the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $365,000, $1,100,000, 
and $1,269,000, respectively. 

At December 31, 2008, there was $418,000 of unrecognized 
compensation cost related to unvested stock options for 
employee stock option awards. This cost is being recognized 
on a straight-line basis and will be fully recognized by first 
quarter of 2011. Directors’ stock options had no unrecognized 
compensation cost since directors’ options are vested when 
granted and the grant-date fair values are fully expensed on 
grant date.

The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula, 
with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	 2008	 2007	 2006

Expected dividend yield	 0.0%	 3.4%	 3.4%

Expected volatility	  48%	  36%	 37%

Risk-free interest rate	 3.9%	 5.1%	 5.1%

Expected term of options 	 8 years	 7 years	 7 years

The expected dividend yield used for 2007 and 2006 was 
based on the Company’s historical dividend yield. However, 
a dividend yield of zero was used in 2008 since the Company 
has not paid any cash dividends to shareholders since August 
2006 and at this time the Company cannot predict when cash 
dividends will resume. The expected volatility of the price of 
the Company’s Class A Common Stock is based on historical 
realized volatility. The risk-free interest rate is the implied 
yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with terms 
equal to the expected term used in the pricing formula. The 
expected term of the option takes into account both the con-
tractual term of the option and the effects of expected 
exercise behavior. 
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Compensation expense recognized for all performance shares 
totaled $4,481,000, $1,616,000 and $1,663,000 for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
Compensation cost for these awards is net of estimated or 
actual award forfeitures. As of December 31, 2008, there was 
an estimated $2,558,000 of unearned compensation cost for 
all nonvested performance shares; this cost is expected to be 
recognized through 2010. 

Under the restricted share component of the executive stock 
bonus plan, the Board of Directors may elect to issue restricted 
shares of stock in lieu of, or in addition to, cash bonus pay-
ments to certain key employees. Employees receiving these 
shares have restrictions on the ability to sell the shares. Such 
restrictions lapse ratably over vesting periods ranging from 
several months to five years. For grants of restricted shares, 
vested and unvested shares issued are eligible to receive 
nonforfeitable dividends if dividends are declared by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. The grant-date fair value of a 
restricted share grant is based on the market value of the 
stock on the date of grant. Compensation cost is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period since 
these awards only have service conditions once granted.

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested 
restricted shares as of December 31, 2008, and changes 
during 2008, 2007, and 2006, is presented below:

	 Weighted- 
	 Average 
		  Grant Date  
	 Shares	 Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2006						      5,000	  $	 7.64

	 Granted						      156,000		  6.06

	 Vesting	 						      (1,000)		  7.64

Nonvested at December 31, 2006			    		 160,000		  6.09

	 Granted						      31,670		  5.51

	 Vesting							      (116,534)		  6.11

Nonvested at December 31, 2007	  				   75,136		  5.82

	 Granted	  					    233,000		  3.85

	 Vesting							      (126,868)		  4.25

Nonvested at December 31, 2008		  			   181,268		  4.39

Compensation expense recognized for all restricted shares 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 
was $515,000, $121,000, and $683,000, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2008, there was $733,000 of total unearned 
compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average 
period of 1.8 years. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plans
The Company has two employee stock purchase plans: the U.S. 
Plan and the U.K. Plan. The U.S. Plan is also available to eli-
gible employees in Canada, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin 
Islands. Both plans are compensatory under SFAS 123R.

For both the U.S. and U.K. plans, the requisite service period 
is the period of time over which the employees contribute to 
the plans through payroll withholdings. For purposes of recog-
nizing compensation expense, estimates are made for the total 
withholdings expected over the entire withholding period. The 
market price of a share of stock at the beginning of the with-
holding period is then used to estimate the total number of 
shares that will be purchased using the total estimated with-
holdings. Compensation cost is recognized ratably over the 
withholding period. 

Under the U.S. Plan, the Company is authorized to issue up 
to 1,500,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock to eligible 
employees. Participating employees can elect each year 
to have up to $21,000 of their eligible annual earnings 
withheld to purchase shares at the end of the one-year 
withholding period which starts July 1 and ends June 30. 
The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lesser of the 
closing price for a share of such stock on the first day or 
the last day of the withholding period. Participating employ-
ees may cease payroll withholdings during the withholding 
period and/or request a refund of all amounts withheld 
before any shares are purchased. 

Since the U.S. Plan involves a look-back option, the estimate 
of the fair value for the option is separated into two compo-
nents. The first component is calculated as 15% (the employee 
discount) of a nonvested share of the Company’s Class A 
Common Stock. The second component involves using the 
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing formula to value a 
one-year option on 85% of a share of the Company’s Class A 
Common Stock. This value is adjusted to reflect the effect of 
any estimated dividends that the employee will not receive 
during the life of the stock option.

During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, a total 
of 135,368 and 107,962 shares, respectively, of the Company’s 
Class A Common Stock were issued under the U.S. Plan to the 
Company’s employees at discounted purchase prices of $5.35 
and $5.72, respectively. At December 31, 2008, an estimated 
148,000 shares will be purchased under the U.S. Plan in 2009. 
During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, 
compensation expense of $270,000, $251,000, and $278,000, 
respectively, was recognized for the U.S. Plan. 
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10. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
The Company’s four reportable operating segments are orga-
nized based upon the nature of services and/or geographic 
areas served and include: U.S. Property & Casualty which 
serves the U.S. property and casualty insurance company mar-
ket, International Operations which serves the property and 
casualty insurance company markets outside of the U.S., 
Broadspire which serves the U.S. self-insurance marketplace, 
and Legal Settlement Administration which serves the securi-
ties, bankruptcy, and other legal settlement markets. The 
Company’s four reportable segments represent components of 
the business for which separate financial information is avail-
able that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision 
maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance. Intersegment sales are recorded at cost and are 
not material. 

Operating earnings is the primary financial performance  
measure used by the Company’s senior management and chief 
operating decision maker to evaluate the financial performance 
of the Company’s four operating segments. The Company 
believes this measure is useful to investors in that it allows 
investors to evaluate segment operating performance using 
the same criteria used by the Company’s senior management. 
Operating earnings will differ from net income computed in 
accordance with GAAP since operating earnings exclude income 
tax expense, net corporate interest expense, amortization of 
customer-relationship intangible assets, stock option expense, 
certain other gains and expenses, and certain unallocated cor-
porate and shared costs. 

Segment operating earnings include allocations of certain 
corporate overhead and shared costs. If the Company changes 
its allocation methods or changes the types of costs that are 
allocated to its four operating segments, prior periods are 
adjusted to reflect the current allocation process.

In the normal course of its business, the Company sometimes 
pays for certain out-of-pocket expenses that are reimbursed by 
its clients. Under GAAP, these out-of-pocket expenses and 
associated reimbursements are reported as revenues and 
expenses in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income. 
However, in evaluating segment revenues, Company manage-
ment excludes these reimbursements from segment revenues. 

On January 1, 2008, the Company’s Strategic Warranty Services 
unit was transferred from the Legal Settlement Administration 
segment to the U.S. Property & Casualty segment. Prior period 
amounts for both segments have been restated to reflect 
this transfer. 

Under the U.K. Plan, the Company is authorized to issue up to 
1,000,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock. Under the U.K. 
Plan, eligible employees can elect to have up to £250 with-
held from payroll each month to purchase shares at the end 
of a three-year withholding period. The purchase price of a 
share of stock is 85% of the market price of the stock at the 
beginning of the withholding period. Participating employees 
may cease payroll withholdings and/or request a refund of all 
amounts withheld before any shares are purchased. 

Under the U.K. Plan, the fair value of a share option is equal 
to 15% (the employee discount) of the market price of a 
share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at the begin-
ning of the withholding period. No adjustment is made to 
reflect the effect of any estimated dividends that the employ-
ees will not receive during the life of the share option since 
employees are credited with interest by a third party on their 
withholdings during the withholding period. 

At December 31, 2008, an estimated 641,000 shares in total will 
be purchased under the U.K. Plan at the end of the current 
withholding periods. These estimates are subject to change 
based on fluctuations in the value of the British pound against 
the U.S. dollar. The discounted purchase price for a share of the 
Company’s Class A Common Stock under the U.K. Plan ranges 
from $3.56 to $5.36. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 
2007, and 2006, compensation cost of $94,000, $157,000, and 
$148,000, respectively, was recognized for the U.K. Plan. During 
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2006, a total of 3,568 
and 324,232 shares, respectively, of the Company’s Class A 
Common Stock were issued under the U.K. Plan. No shares were 
issued under this plan in 2007. 
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Financial information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 covering the Company’s reportable  
segments is as follows:

			   International		  Legal Settlement  
(in thousands)		  U.S. Property & Casualty	 Operations	 Broadspire	 Administration	 Total

2008
	 Revenues before reimbursements	 $	 216,753	 $	 445,056	 $	 311,841	 $	 74,932	 $	 1,048,582

	 Operating earnings		  22,614	  	 38,893		  3,526		  10,814		  75,847

	 Depreciation and amortization		   961	  	 7,323		  3,145		  2,911		  14,340

	 Assets	  	  63,069		  304,355		   305,655		  56,275		  729,354

2007

	 Revenues before reimbursements	 $	 192,966	 $	 376,639	 $	 321,331	 $	 84,207	 $	 975,143

	 Operating earnings	  	 7,621	  	 24,660		  3,141		  10,727	  	 46,149

	 Depreciation and amortization		  502	  	 7,174		  3,399	  	 2,619	  	 13,694

	 Assets	  	  55,263	  	 329,420	  	 322,423		  79,203	  	 786,309

2006

	 Revenues before reimbursements	 $	 225,337	 $	 303,697	 $	 174,917	 $	115,571	 $	 819,522

	 Operating earnings (loss)		   18,176	  	 14,451		   (21,603)	  	 21,055		   32,079

	 Depreciation and amortization	  	 656		  6,878		  2,176	  	 2,128		  11,838

	 Assets	  	 72,201		  286,785		  354,188	  	 84,872		   798,046

Substantially all revenues earned in the U.S. Property & 
Casualty, Broadspire, and Legal Settlement Administration 
segments are earned in the U.S. Substantially all of the rev-
enues earned in the International Operations segment are 
earned outside of the U.S.

Capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2008 
and 2007 are shown in the following table:

(in thousands)		  2008	 2007

U.S. Property & Casualty 			   $	 794	 $	 1,359

Broadspire 				     14,918		  8,238

Legal Settlement Administration 	  			   1,430		  2,360

International Operations 				     10,111		  7,752

Corporate					      4,758		  8,400

Total capital expenditures			   $	32,011	 $	28,109

Capital expenditures in the table above for 2007 do not 
include leasehold improvement additions of $4,921,000 that 
were funded directly by a lessor.

The total of the Company’s reportable segments’ revenues 
reconciled to total consolidated revenues for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was as follows:

(in thousands)	 2008	 2007	 2006

Segments’ revenues before  
	 reimbursements	  $	1,048,582	  $	 975,143	 $	 819,522

Reimbursements		  87,334		  76,135		  80,858

Total consolidated revenues	  $	1,135,916	  $	1,051,278	  $	900,380

The Company’s reportable segments’ total operating earnings 
reconciled to consolidated income before income taxes for 
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were 
as follows: 

(in thousands)		  2008		  2007		  2006

Operating earnings of  
	 all reportable segments	 $	75,847	 $	46,149	 $	32,079

Unallocated corporate/shared  
	 costs and credits, net		   (6,728)		   (8,919)		  116

Net corporate interest expense	  	 (17,622)		  (17,326)		   (5,753)

Amortization of customer- 
	 relationship intangibles	  	 (6,025)		  (6,025)		   (1,124)

Stock option expense	  	 (861)		  (1,191)		  (1,220)

Other gains and expenses, net		   (788)	  	 8,824		  (27)

Income before income taxes	 $	43,823	 $	21,512	 $	24,071
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11. CLIENT FUNDS
The Company maintains funds in custodial accounts at finan-
cial institutions to administer claims for certain clients. These 
funds are not available for the Company’s general operating 
activities and, as such, have not been recorded in the accom-
panying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amount of these 
funds totaled $246,280,000 and $247,070,000 at December 
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. In addition, the Company’s 
Legal Settlement Administration segment administers funds in 
noncustodial accounts at financial institutions that totaled 
$1,010,593,000 and $206,964,000 at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. 

12. CONTINGENCIES
In the past, the Company has structured certain acquisitions 
to include earnout payments, which are typically contingent 
upon the acquired entity reaching certain revenue and operat-
ing earnings targets. The amount of any contingent payments 
and length of the earnout period has varied for each acquisi-
tion, and the ultimate payments, when and if made, vary 
since they depend on future events. Based on projected lev-
els of revenues and operating earnings, additional payments 
after December 31, 2008 under existing earnout agreements 
are expected to approximate $4,988,000 in 2009 and $791,000 
in 2010. Of the $4,988,000 expected to be paid in 2009, 
$4,061,000 has been recorded in goodwill on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2008 since the 
measurement period for this earnout payment has ended and 
the Company can calculate the amount expected to be paid in 
early 2009. See Note 3. 

As part of the Company’s Credit Agreement, the Company 
maintains a letter of credit facility to satisfy certain of its own 
contractual requirements. At December 31, 2008, the aggre-
gate amount committed under the facility was $19,870,000. 

In the normal course of the claims administration services 
business, the Company is sometimes named as a defendant  
in suits by insureds or claimants contesting decisions made  
by the Company or its clients with respect to the settlement  
of claims. Additionally, certain clients of the Company have 
brought actions for indemnification on the basis of alleged 
negligence by the Company, its agents, or its employees in 

The Company’s reportable segments’ total assets reconciled 
to consolidated total assets of the Company at December 31, 
2008 and 2007 are presented in the following table. All for-
eign-denominated cash and cash equivalents are reported 
within the International Operations segment, while all U.S. 
cash and cash equivalents are reported as corporate assets 
in the following table:

(in thousands)				    2008		  2007

Assets of reportable segments			   	$ 729,354	 $ 786,309

Corporate assets:

	 Cash and cash equivalents	  			   23,011		  23,161

	 Unallocated allowances on receivables		   (2,129)		  (3,434)

	 Property and equipment	  			   13,828		  15,546

	 Capitalized software costs, net	 			   37,041		  30,901

	 Assets of deferred compensation plan	  	 12,984		  12,598

	 Capitalized loan costs				     3,462		   4,179

	 Deferred tax asset				     67,695		  23,481

	 Prepaid assets and other current assets	  	 8,639		   8,962

	 Other non current assets	  			   1,363		   1,079

Total corporate assets				     165,894		  116,473

Total assets			   $	 895,248	 $	 902,782

The Company’s most significant international operations are 
in the U.K. and Canada, as presented in the following table:

(in thousands)		  U.K.		  Canada		  Other		  Total

2008

	 Revenues before  
		  reimbursements	 $	163,779	 $	119,405	 $	161,872	 $	445,056

	 Long-lived assets		  60,212		  31,311		  18,004		  109,527

2007

	 Revenues before  
		  reimbursements	  $	150,501	 $	 90,587	 $	135,551	 $	376,639

	 Long-lived assets		  66,423		  35,190		  22,266		  123,879

2006

	 Revenues before  
		  reimbursements	  $	113,064	  $	 73,642	 $	116,991	 $	303,697

	 Long-lived assets 		  64,968		  29,285		  18,660		  112,913

Substantially all international revenues were derived from the 
insurance company market.
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rendering service to clients. The majority of these claims are  
of the type covered by insurance maintained by the Company. 
However, the Company is self-insured for the deductibles 
under various insurance coverages. In the opinion of 
Company management, adequate provisions have been 
made for such self-insured risks.

The Company is subject to numerous federal, state, and for-
eign employment laws, and from time to time the Company 
faces claims by its employees and former employees under 
such laws. In addition, the Company has become aware that 
certain employers are becoming subject to an increasing num-
ber of claims involving alleged violations of wage and hour 
laws. The outcome of any of these allegations is expected to 
be highly fact specific, and there has been a substantial 
amount of recent legislative and judicial activity pertaining 
to employment-related issues. Such claims or litigation 
involving the Company or any of the Company’s current 
or former employees could divert management’s time and 
attention from the Company’s business operations and could 
potentially result in substantial costs of defense, settlement 
or other disposition, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial 
position, and cash flows.

As previously disclosed, on October 31, 2006, the Company 
completed its acquisition of BMSI from Platinum Equity, LLC 
(“Platinum”). BMSI and Platinum are together engaged in cer-
tain legal proceedings against the former owners of certain 
entities acquired by BMSI prior to the Company’s October 31, 
2006 acquisition of BMSI. Pursuant to the agreement under 
which the Company acquired BMSI (the “Stock Purchase 
Agreement”), Platinum has full responsibility to resolve all 
of these matters and is obligated to fully indemnify BMSI 
and the Company for all monetary payments that BMSI may 
be required to make as a result of any unfavorable outcomes 
related to these pre-existing legal proceedings. Pursuant 
thereto, Platinum has also agreed to indemnify the Company 
for any additional payments required under any purchase 
price adjustment mechanism, earnout, or similar provision 
in any of BMSI’s purchase and sale agreements entered into 
prior to the Company’s acquisition of BMSI. In the event of 
an unfavorable outcome in which Platinum does not indem-
nify the Company under the terms of the Stock Purchase 
Agreement, the Company may be responsible for funding 

any such unfavorable outcomes. At this time, the Company’s 
management does not believe the Company will be respon-
sible for the funding of any of these matters. The Company 
has not recognized any loss contingencies for these matters 
in its consolidated financial statements.

Separately, the Company and Platinum have agreed to 
arbitration regarding the application of the purchase price 
adjustment mechanism contained in the Stock Purchase 
Agreement. The Company has received a notice from 
Platinum which disputes the Purchaser’s Statement (as 
defined in the Stock Purchase Agreement) delivered by  
the Company to Platinum and also asserts that Platinum is 
owed a certain amount thereunder. The Company is contesting 
this notice and has asserted its belief that it is owed a certain 
amount thereunder. At the present time, the Company is unable 
to determine any possible outcome of this dispute. In the 
event any cash is required to be paid to Platinum thereunder, 
any such amount will be recorded as additional goodwill in 
accordance with GAAP. 

In 2003, BMSI acquired NATLSCO, Inc. from a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Lumberman Mutual Casualty Company (“LMC”). 
BMSI assumed certain obligations to service and administer a 
population of claims outstanding at the 2003 acquisition date. 
Liquidity to support these casualty claims operations for the 
foreseeable future was provided by cash infused by LMC at the 
2003 acquisition date, and a receivable held in trust, which 
has and will continue to be distributed to BMSI in accordance 
with a trust agreement through August 2012. BMSI received 
total distributions from this trust of $4,693,000 during 2008, 
$7,569,000 during 2007, and $1,514,000 during November and 
December 2006. The Company believes that the funds that 
have been and will be received from LMC and the trust are 
sufficient to at least cover the actual costs that BMSI will incur 
over the next several years to service and administer this pop-
ulation of claims through closure. BMSI’s revenues from LMC 
totaled $10,710,000 for 2008, $13,474,000 for 2007, and 
$2,055,000 during November and December 2006. Accounts 
receivable from LMC included in accounts receivable in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet were $2,129,000 and 
$3,577,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
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15. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
In February 2009, the Company amended its Credit 
Agreement. The amendment enables the Company to 
enhance certain operational and financial aspects of its busi-
ness, including, among other things, undertaking an internal 
corporate realignment of certain of the Company’s operating 
subsidiaries and assets. A substantial portion of this realign-
ment was completed in connection with the execution of 
this amendment. This corporate realignment did not impact 
the composition of the Company’s four operating segments.  
In addition, the amendment provides the Company with the 
ability to repurchase and retire, from time to time through 
December 2010, up to $25.0 million of the outstanding term 
debt under the agreement. The amendment did not change 
the base interest rate, interest rate spreads, covenants or 
other key terms of the Credit Agreement.

13. �Sale of the Former Corporate 
Headquarters and Recognition of  
Deferred Gain

On June 30, 2006, the Company sold the land and building 
utilized as its former corporate headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. 
These assets had a net carrying amount of $2,842,000. The 
base sale price of $8,000,000 was received in cash at closing. 
Also on June 30, 2006, the Company entered into a 12-month 
leaseback agreement for these same facilities. During the sec-
ond quarter of 2007, the company relocated its corporate 
headquarters to nearby leased facilities. Under SFAS 98, 
“Accounting for Leases,” the Company deferred recognition of 
the gain related to this sale due to its leaseback of the facility. 
Net of transaction costs, a pre-tax gain of $4,844,000 was rec-
ognized by the Company upon the expiration of the leaseback 
agreement during the second quarter of 2007. 

Under the sale agreement, the $8,000,000 base sale price 
is subject to upward revision depending upon the buyer’s 
ability to subsequently redevelop the property. The gain of 
$4,844,000 was based on the base sale price and did not 
include any amount for the potential upward revision of the 
sale price. Should such revision subsequently occur, the 
Company could ultimately realize a larger gain. 

14. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES AND CHARGES
In 2008, the Company recorded a pretax restructuring charge of 
$3,300,000. The charge consisted of $1,825,000 for severance 
and other costs in our International Operations segment, 
$300,000 for severance costs in our U.S. Property and Casualty 
segment, and $1,175,000 for professional fees incurred in con-
nection with a restructuring of certain of the Company’s legal 
entities in the U.S. and internationally. 

In connection with its acquisition and integration of BMSI, 
the Company developed and implemented a plan in the 
fourth quarter 2006 to restructure certain of its operations 
within its Broadspire operating segment. This restructuring 
involved employees and facilities associated with its existing 
Crawford Integrated Services (“CIS”) business and the 
acquired BMSI entity. As a result, the Company recorded 
a pre-tax restructuring charge of $1,695,000, or $0.02 per 
share, after reflecting income taxes, during the fourth quarter 
of 2006 related to employee severance payments as well as 
costs related to planned closures of certain existing leased 
branch office facilities of CIS. An additional $1,824,000 in 
employee severance payments to employees of the acquired 
BMSI entity and $432,000 related to the planned termination 
of acquired lease obligations from the acquired BMSI entity 
were recorded in goodwill. At December 31, 2008, $242,000 
of the restructuring accrual remained and all of it related to 
planned office closures.
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(in thousands, except per share amounts)
							     

For The Years Ended December 31,		  2008	 2007	 2006 (2)	 2005	 2004

Revenues before Reimbursements			   $	 1,048,582 	 $	 975,143 	 $	 819,522 	 $	 771,983 	 $	 733,567 

	 Reimbursements				     87,334 		   76,135 		   80,858		   82,784	  	  78,095 

Total Revenues				     1,135,916 		  1,051,278 	  	 900,380 	  	 854,767 		   811,662 

Total Cost of Services				     858,058 	  	 809,527 	  	 719,032 		   690,735 		   643,958 

U.S. Property & Casualty Operating Earnings (1)			    22,614 		   7,621	  	  18,176 		   21,710 		   32,154 

International Operating Earnings (1)				    38,893 		  24,660 		  14,451	  	 11,854 		  10,312 

Broadspire Operating Earnings (Loss) (1)			   3,526 		  3,141 		  (21,603)		  (17,521)		  (10,696)

Legal Settlement Administration Operating Earnings (1)	 10,814 		  10,727 		  21,055 		  12,979	  	 7,042 

	 Unallocated Corporate and Shared Costs			   (6,728)		  (8,919)		  116 		  (3,937)		  (6,426)

	 Net Corporate Interest Expense				    (17,622)		  (17,326)		  (5,753)		  (5,145)		   (3,536)

	 Stock Option Expense				    (861)		  (1,191)		  (1,220)		   – 		   – 

	 Amortization of Customer-Relationship  
		  Intangible Assets				    (6,025)		  (6,025)		  (1,124)		   – 		   – 

	 Other (Expenses) Gains				    (788)		  8,824 		  (27)		   – 		  8,573 

	 Income Taxes		   		  (11,564)		   (5,396)		   (9,060)		   (7,059)	  	 (12,251)

Net Income				     32,259 		   16,116 		   15,011 		   12,881 		   25,172 

Earnings Per Share: 

	 Basic		   			   0.64 		   0.32 		   0.30 		   0.26 		   0.52 

	 Diluted					     0.62 		   0.32 		   0.30 		   0.26 		   0.51 

Current Assets				     348,357 	  	 382,752 		   382,143 		   339,218 		   344,707 

Total Assets				     895,248 		   902,782 		   892,988 		   574,071 		   571,260 

Current Liabilities				     278,696 		   291,568 		   282,284	  	  209,020 		   209,164 

Long-Term Debt, Less Current Installments			    181,206 		   183,449 		   199,044 	  	 45,810 		   51,389 

Total Debt			   		  196,856 		   215,313 	  	 229,460 	  	 81,139 	  	 90,176 

Shareholders’ Investment				     175,551 		   254,215 		   211,151 		   179,031 		   194,833 

Total Capital				     372,407 		   469,528		   440,611		   260,170		   285,009

Current Ratio				    1.2:1		  1.3:1		  1.4:1		  1.6:1		  1.6:1

Total Debt-to-Total Capital				    52.9%		  45.9%		  52.1%		  31.2%		  31.6%

Return on Average Shareholders’ Investment			   15.0%		  6.9%		  7.7%		  6.9%		  13.7%

Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities			    70,975 	  	 23,284 	  	 52,717 		   40,761 	  	 35,813 

Cash Flows used in Investing Activities			    (28,036)		   (19,087)	  	 (174,606)		   (12,614)		   (16,579)

Cash Flows used in Financing Activities			    (12,220)		   (17,189)	  	 135,786 		   (19,450)		   (22,300)

Shareholders’ Equity Per Share				     3.43 	  	  5.02 		   4.19 		   3.65 		   3.99 

Cash Dividends Per Share:							     

	 Class A and Class B Common Stock				    – 		   – 		   0.18 		   0.24 	  	 0.24 

Weighted-Average Shares and Share-Equivalents:							     

	 Basic					     50,696 		  50,464 		  49,423 		  48,930 		  48,773 

	 Diluted					    52,175 		  50,598 		  49,576 		  49,347	  	 48,996 

(1) �This is a non-GAAP financial measure representing earnings (loss) before net corporate interest expense, stock option expense, 	amortization of 
customer-relationship intangible assets, other gains and expense, and income taxes.

(2) On October 31, 2006, the Company acquired Broadspire Management Services, Inc. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Crawford & Company 
Selected Financial Data
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(in thousands, except per share amounts)		
						      Full 
2008		  First	 Second	 Third	 Fourth (4)	 Year

Revenues from services:

	 Revenues before reimbursements			   $	 255,512 	 $	 263,265 	 $	 266,916 	 $	 262,889	  $	 1,048,582 

	 Reimbursements				    19,161 		  26,001 		  24,416 		  17,756		  87,334 

Total revenues	  			   274,673 		   289,266 		  291,332 		  280,645 		   1,135,916 

Total cost of services				     205,904 		  216,627 	  	 221,290		  214,237		   858,058 

Pretax income	  			   13,712	  	  12,718 		   9,486 		   7,907 		   43,823 

U.S. Property & Casualty operating earnings (1)	  		  5,949 		   5,092 		   6,781	  	  4,792 		   22,614 

International operating earnings (1)			   	  8,987 		   10,446 		   8,594 		   10,866 	  	 38,893 

Broadspire operating earnings (loss) (1)			    1,747 		   2,540 		   1,079 		   (1,840)	  	 3,526 

Legal Settlement Administration operating earnings (1)	 	 2,497 		   3,142 	  	 2,853 		   2,322 		   10,814 

	 Unallocated corporate and shared costs, net			    651 	  	 (2,061)		   (3,737)		   (1,581)	  	 (6,728)

	 Net corporate interest expense				     (4,416)		   (4,656)	  	 (4,334)		   (4,216)		   (17,622)

	 Stock option expense				     (195)		   (279)		   (243)		   (144)		   (861)

	 Amortization of customer-relationship  
		  intangible assets				     (1,508)		   (1,506)	  	 (1,507)		   (1,504)		   (6,025)

	 Other gains				     – 		   – 		   – 		   (788)		   (788)

	 Income (taxes) benefit				     (4,644)		   (4,786)		   (2,564)		   430 		   (11,564)

Net income			   $	 9,068 	 $	 7,932 	 $	 6,922 	 $	 8,337 	 $	 32,259 

Earnings per share – basic (2)			   $	 0.18 	 $	 0.16 	 $	 0.14 	 $	 0.16 	 $	 0.64 

Earnings per share – diluted (2)	 		  $	 0.18 	 $	 0.16 	 $	 0.13 	 $	 0.16 	 $	 0.62

Cash dividends per share:

	 Class A and Class B Common Stock	 		  $	 – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 

Common stock quotations: (3)

	 Class A – High 			   $	 4.64 	 $	 7.00 	 $	 12.80 	 $	 10.14 	 $	 12.80 

	 Class A – Low 			   $	 3.40 	 $	 3.91 	 $	 5.87 	 $	 3.94 	 $	 3.40 

	 Class B – High 			   $	 6.00 	 $	 8.65 	 $	 18.38 	 $	 16.59 	 $	 18.38 

	 Class B – Low 			   $	 3.65 	 $	 4.60 	 $	 7.58 	 $	 8.29 	 $	 3.65 

			 

Table continued on page 90

Crawford & Company 
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Dividend Information and Common Stock Quotations



90 crawford & company

(in thousands, except per share amounts)		
						      Full 
2007		  First	 Second	 Third	 Fourth (5)	 Year

Revenues from services:

	 Revenues before reimbursements			   $	 243,608 	 $	 240,537 	 $	 245,774 	 $	 245,224	 $	 975,143 

	 Reimbursements				    18,984		  15,694		  20,196		  21,261		  76,135 

Total revenues	  			   262,592		   256,231 		  265,970 		  266,485 		  1,051,278 

Total cost of services				     201,691	  	 194,643		  205,729 		  207,464	  	  809,527 

Pretax income	  			   5,402	  	 9,495 		   2,510		  4,105 		  21,512 

U.S. Property & Casualty operating  
	 earnings (loss) (1)	  			   3,376 		   1,197 		  3,514	  	 (466)		   7,621

International operating earnings (1)				     3,964 		   4,566 		  6,280 		   9,850 	  	 24,660

Broadspire operating (loss)  earnings (1)			    (681) 		   2,779 		  1,431 		   (388)	  	 3,141 

Legal Settlement Administration operating earnings (1)	 	 2,636 		   3,033 	  	 2,126 		   2,932 		   10,727 

	 Unallocated corporate and shared costs, net			    (1,774) 	  	 (839)		   (4,434)		   (1,872)	  	 (8,919)

	 Net corporate interest expense				     (4,368)		   (4,232)	  	 (4,572)		   (4,154)		   (17,326)

	 Stock option expense				     (295)		   (346)		   (260)		   (290)		   (1,191)

	 Amortization of customer-relationship  
		  intangible assets				     (1,436)		   (1,507)	  	 (1,575)		   (1,507)		   (6,025)

	 Other gains				    3,980 		  4,844		   – 		  –		   8,824

	 Income (taxes) benefit				     (2,095)		   (3,443)		  943		   (801) 		   (5,396)

Net income			   $	  3,307 	 $	 6,052 	 $	  3,453 	 $	  3,304 	 $	  16,116

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (2)		  $	  0.07 	 $	  0.12 	 $	  0.07 	 $	 0.07 	 $	  0.32 

Cash dividends per share:

	 Class A and Class B Common Stock	 		  $	 – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 	 $	  – 

Common stock quotations: (3)

	 Class A – High 			   $	  6.10 	 $	 6.72 	 $	  6.42	 $	  5.99 	 $	  6.72 

	 Class A – Low 			   $	  5.13 	 $	  5.53 	 $	  5.09 	 $	  3.06 	 $	  3.06 

	 Class B – High 			   $	  7.37	 $	  7.03 	 $	  7.55	 $	  7.18 	 $	  7.55 

	 Class B – Low 			   $	 5.52 	 $	  5.67 	 $	  5.42 	 $	  3.28 	 $	  3.28

(1) �This is a non-GAAP financial measure representing earnings (loss) before net corporate interest expense, stock option expense, amortization of 
customer-relationship intangible assets, other gains and expense, and income taxes.

(2) �Due to the method used in calculating per share data as prescribed by SFAS 128, “Earnings Per Share,” the quarterly per share data may not total 
to the full year per share data.

(3) �The quotations listed in this table set forth the high and low closing prices per share of Crawford & Company Class A Common Stock and Class B 
Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

(4) �During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recognized pre-tax $3.3 million of restructuring charges. See Note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(5) �During the fourth quarter of 2007, approximately $1.5 million of accrued vacation earned during the first nine months of the year was forfeited 
and approximately $2.1 million of bonus accruals were reduced. These amounts were credited to pretax income.

	 The approximate number of record holders of the Company’s stock as of December 31, 2008: Class A – 2,556 and Class B – 599.

Crawford & Company 
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Dividend Information and Common Stock Quotations



For the years ended December 31,		  2008		  2007	 % Change

dollars in millions, except per share amounts

Revenues before Reimbursements		 $1,048.6 		  $975.1		  8%

Net Income	 	 $32.3 		  $16.1 		 100%

Cash Provided by Operating Activities	 	 $71.0 		  $23.3 		 205%

Earnings Per Share – Basic	 	 $0.64 		  $0.32 		 100%

Earnings Per Share – Diluted	 	 $0.62 		  $0.32 		  94%

Return on Average Shareholders’ Investment		  15.0%		  6.9%		 8.1%

Financial Highlights

Based in Atlanta, Georgia, Crawford & Company (www.crawfordandcompany.com) is the world’s largest 
independent provider of claims management and related solutions to the risk management and insurance 
industry as well as self-insured entities, with a global network of more than 700 locations in 63 countries. 
Major service lines include property and casualty claims management; warranty inspections; integrated 
claims and medical management for workers’ compensation; legal settlement administration, including 
class action and bankruptcy claims administration; and risk management information services. The  
Company’s shares are traded on the NYSE under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.
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on the cover, left to right:

Tran Thi Phuong Binh, Director, Property Division, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Simon Neil-Jones, U.K. Manager, repairNet, Croydon, England

Shandarese Garr, Vice President/Managing Director – Strategic Initiatives, Melville, New York

Michael Behan, Director, Business Development, Willis, Texas

Jaqueline Roy, Vice President, Administration, Toronto, Ontario

Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Inquiries
Individuals seeking financial  
data should contact: 

Investor Relations  
W. Bruce Swain, Jr.  
Chief Financial Officer 
404.300.1051

Form 10-K
A copy of the Company’s annual report 
on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission is available 
without charge upon request to:

Corporate Secretary 
Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1021

Our Form 10-K is also available  
online at either www.sec.gov or 
in the Investor Relations section  
at www.crawfordandcompany.com

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of shareholders will 
be held at 2:00 p.m. on May 5, 2009, at 
the corporate headquarters of

Crawford & Company 
1001 Summit Boulevard
Atlanta, Georgia 30319
404.300.1000

Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services, LLC 
P.O. Box 43078 
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3078 
1.800.568.3476

	 Years Ending December 31,

Company/Index (in dollars) 	 2003	 2004	 2005	 2006	 2007	 2008

Crawford & Company (Class B)	 100.00	 110.99	 88.15	 114.91	 65.32	 228.87

S&P 500 Index	 100.00	 110.88	 116.33	 134.70	 142.10	 89.53

S&P Property & Casualty Insurance Index	 100.00	 110.42	 127.11	 143.47	 123.44	 87.13

This total shareholders’ return model assumes reinvested dividends and is based on a $100 investment on December 31, 2002.  
We caution you not to draw any conclusions from the data in this performance graph, as past results do not necessarily indicate  
future performance.

The foregoing graph is not, and shall not be deemed to be, filed as part of the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K. Such a graph does not 
constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities 
Act of 1933, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference therein by the Company. 

Comparison of Cumulative 
Five-Year Total Return
The adjacent line graph compares the 
cumulative return on the Company’s Class B 
Common Stock against the cumulative 
total return on (i) the Standard & Poor’s 
Composite 500 Stock Index and (ii) the 
Standard & Poor’s Insurance – Property & 
Casualty Index for the five-year period 
commencing January 1, 2003 and ended 
December 31, 2008.
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Trading Information
Crawford & Company lists its common 
shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbols CRDA and CRDB.

Internet Address
www.crawfordandcompany.com

Certifications
In 2008, Crawford & Company’s chief 
executive officer (CEO) provided to the 
New York Stock Exchange the annual 
CEO certification regarding Crawford’s 
compliance with the New York Stock 
Exchange’s corporate governance listing 
standards. In addition, Crawford’s CEO 
and chief financial officer filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
all required certifications regarding the 
quality of Crawford’s public disclosures 
in its fiscal 2008 reports.
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Crawford & Company
1001 Summit Boulevard

Atlanta, GA 30319

www.crawfordandcompany.com

An equal opportunity employer

“We passionately execute and monitor each of our strategic initiatives.”

“Our comprehensive suite of claims management solutions is unmatched.”

“Clients know we will accomplish what we set out to do.”

the Crawford Difference
Crawford & Company 2008 Annual Report
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